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PART |

Iltem 1. Business

Introduction

Our Company

We are the largest recreational boat dealer itUthited States. Through 56 retail locations in Alala Arizona,
California, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Geordlansas, Maryland, Minnesota, Missouri, New Jersiw York,
North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, Tasee, and Texas, we sell new and used recreatioats,
including pleasure and fishing boats, with a foesngpremium brands in each segment. We also sategimarine
products, including engines, trailers, parts, acwkasories. In addition, we arrange related boanfiing, insurance,
and extended service contracts; provide repaimaaidtenance services; offer boat and yacht brokesagvices; anc
where available, offer slip and storage accommodati

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Ragt&oWhaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian recreatiboats
and yachts, all of which are manufactured by BruokWorporation, or Brunswick. Sales of new Brungwboats
accounted for approximately 41% of our revenuésicall 2010. Brunswick is the world’s largest marmtidiger of
marine products and marine engines. We believesales represented approximately 7% of all Brunswwiekine
sales, including approximately 46% of its Sea Ragtlsales, during our 2010 fiscal year. We areigmtt dealer
agreements with Brunswick covering Sea Ray prodaetsare the exclusive dealer of Sea Ray boatsiosa all of
our geographic markets. We also are the excluseded for Hatteras Yachts throughout the statdaida
(excluding the Florida panhandle) and the statdges? Jersey, New York, and Texas; the exclusivéetidar Cabo
Yachts throughout the states of Florida, New Jerargt New York; the exclusive dealer for Boston Wha many
of our markets, including our locations in the atadf New York, North Carolina, and portions of #hates of Florid:
California, and Texas; and the exclusive dealeMeridian Yachts in most of our geographic markktsaddition,
we are the exclusive dealer for Italy-based AzifBabetti Group for Azimut mega-yachts, yachts, atieto
recreational boats for the Northeast United Stintes Maryland to Maine and the state of Florida.

We commenced operations as a result of the MartB98 acquisition of five previously independent
recreational boat dealers. Since that time, we bageired 20 additional previously independenteational boat
dealers, two boat brokerage operations, and twWeséul/ice yacht repair operations. We capitalizarenexperience
and success of the acquired companies in ordestablesh a new national standard of customer se s
responsiveness in the highly fragmented retailihgahdustry. As a result of our emphasis on prembrand boats,
our average selling price for a new boat in fi@10 was approximately $145,000, an increase afoappately 9%
from fiscal 2009, compared with the industry averaglendar 2009 selling price of approximately §8@,based on
industry data published by the National Marine Macturers Association. Our stores, which operatedédaest
12 months, averaged approximately $8.8 millionrinwal sales in fiscal 2010. We consider a stoteetone or more
retail locations that are adjacent or operate asemity. Our same-store sales decreased 29%cal #9009 and 17%
in fiscal 2010.

We adopt the best practices developed by us andanguired companies as appropriate to enhancebdity o
attract more customers, foster an overall enjoybhbling experience, and offer boat manufacturtatdes and
professional retail distribution and a broad gepprapresence. We believe that our full range ofises, no hassle
sales approach, prime retail locations, premiungdpeb offerings, extensive facilities, strong marragat and team
members, and emphasis on customer service anthstitis before and after a boat sale are competétwantages
that enable us to be more responsive to the ndemddsting and prospective customers.

The U.S. recreational boating industry generatgni@pmately $30.8 billion in retail sales in calem@®009,
which is down from the peak of $39.5 billion in eatlar 2006. The retail sales include sales of melwaed boats;
marine products, such as engines, trailers, equipraed accessories; and related expenditures,asuftrel,
insurance, docking, storage, and repairs. Retiss& new and used boats, engines, trailers, eoesaories
accounted for approximately $22.4 billion of thesé¢es in 2009 based on industry data from the RakiMarine
Manufacturers Association. The highly fragmentaditdoating industry generally consists of smalakérs that
operate in a single market and provide varying eegof merchandising, professional managementgastdmer
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service. We believe that many small dealers awirfinit increasingly difficult to make the manage@nd capita
commitments necessary to achieve higher customecsdevels and upgrade systems and facilitieegsired by
boat manufacturers and demanded by customers. $t/dalieve that many dealers lack an exit strategtheir
owners. We believe these factors contribute tooportunity to gain competitive advantage in cutigmd future
markets, through market expansions and acquisitions

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as the natiteading recreational boat dealer. Key elementipbperatin
and growth strategy include the following:

« emphasizing customer satisfaction and loyalty ®ating an overall enjoyable boating experienceirivégg
with a hassle-free purchase process, customeirtgaisuperior customer service, company-led evestsd
Getaways!, and premier facilitie

« achieving efficiencies and synergies among ouratpers to enhance internal growth and profitakil
» promoting national brand name recognition and ttagiidMax connectior

« offering additional products and services, inclgdihose involving higher profit margin

« expanding our Internet marketir

 pursuing strategic acquisitions to capitalize ugfmnconsolidation opportunities in the highly fragmted
recreational boat dealer industry by acquiring tdidal dealers and related operations and improthieg
performance and profitability through the implenainn of our operating strategie

» opening additional retail facilities in our exigjiand new territories
« emphasizing employee recruitment, training, ancetigpment;

« emphasizing the “best practices” developeddpnd our acquired dealers as appropriate thraghuo
dealerships

» operating with a decentralized approach to theateral management of our dealerships;

« utilizing information technology throughouterations, which facilitates the interchange of infation
sharing and enhances cr-selling opportunities throughout our compa

Development of the Company; Expansion of Business

MarineMax was founded in January 1998. MarineMaglft however, conducted no operations until the
acquisition of five independent recreational bozdldrs on March 1, 1998, and we completed oualrptiblic
offering in June 1998. Since the initial acquisisdn March 1998, we have acquired 20 additionadeational boat
dealers, two boat brokerage operations, and tweséunliice yacht repair operations. Acquired deab@srate under
the MarineMax name.

We continually attempt to enhance our businessroyiging a full range of services, offering exteressand
high-quality product lines, maintaining prime rétacations, pursuing the MarineMax Value Pricedtadree sales
approach, and emphasizing the highest level oboust service and customer satisfaction.

We also evaluate opportunities to expand our omeraby acquiring recreational boat dealers to edpzur
geographic scope, expanding our product lines, ingarew retail locations within our existing teorites, and
offering new products and services for our cust@mer
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Acquisitions of additional recreational boat deslEpresent an important strategy in our goal taeoe ou
position as the nation’s leading retailer of reticraal boats. The following table sets forth infation regarding the
businesses that we have acquired and their gedgnaggions.

Acquired Companies

Bassett Boat Company of Flori
Louis Del[Homme Marint
Gulfwind USA, Inc.

Gulfwind South, Inc.

Harrison’s Boat Center, Inc. and Harrison’s Mar@enters of

Arizona, Inc.(1)

Stovall Marine, Inc.

Cochrar's Marine, Inc. and C & N Marine Corporati

Sea Ray of North Carolina, In

Brevard Boat Compan

Sea Ray of Las Veg:

Treasure Cove Marina, Inc

Woods & Oviatt, Inc.

Boating World

Merit Marine, Inc.

Suburban Boatworks, Inc

Hansen Marine, Inc

Duce Marine, Inc.(2

Clark’s Landing, Inc. (selected New Jersey locaiand
operations

Associated Marine Technologies, In

Gulfwind Marine Partners, Inc

Seaside Marine, Inc

Sundance Marine, Inc

Killinger Marine Center, Inc. and Killinger Marir@enter of
Alabama, Inc.

Emarine International, Inc. and Steven Myers, |

Imperial Marine

Port Jacksonville Marin

Port Arrowhead Marina, Inc

Great American Marina(:

Surfside— 3 Marina, Inc.

Acquisition Date

March 199¢€
March 199¢€
March 199¢€
March 199¢€

March 199¢
April 1998

July 1998

July 1998
September 199
September 199
September 199
October 199¢
February 199¢
March 199¢
April 1999
August 199¢
December 199

April 2000
January 200
April 2002
July 2002
June 200!

September 200
October 200
June 200
June 200
January 200!
February 200t
March 200€

Geographic Regior

Southeast Florid

Dallas and Houston, Tex
West Central Florid.
Southwest Florid:

Northern California and Arizon
Georgia

Minnesota

North and South Carolir
East Central Florid
Nevada

Northern Ohic
Southeast Florid

Dallas, Texa:

Southern New Jerse
Central New Jerse
Northeast Florid:

Utah

Northern New Jerse
Southeast Florid
West Floride
Southern Californii
Colorado

Northwest Florida and Alaban

Southeast Florid

Baltimore, Marylanc

Northeast Florid:

Missouri, Oklahom:

West Floride

Connecticut, Maryland, New York and Rhode Isli

(1) We subsequently closed the Northern California afp@ns of Harrison Boat Center, Ir
(2) We subsequently closed the operations of Duce Mahic.

(3) Joint venture

Apart from acquisitions, we have opened 28 newilreizations in existing territories, excluding g®opened c
a temporary basis for a specific purpose. We algpitor the performance of our retail locations atabe retail
locations that do not meet our expectations. Basetthese factors and the recent depressed ecorcomidions, we
have closed 47 retail locations since March 1998lueling those opened on a temporary basis foeaifp purpose,

including 26 in fiscal 2009.

As a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequertigage in discussions with various recreationat blealers
regarding their potential acquisition by us. In gection with these discussions, we and each patextguisition
candidate exchange confidential operational arahfiral information; conduct due diligence inquiriaed consider
the structure, terms, and conditions of the podatiquisition. In certain cases, the prospectoggisition candidate
agrees not to discuss a potential acquisition ity other party for a specific period of time, gsans an option to
purchase the prospective dealer for a designatee guring a specific time period, and agrees ke ta
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other actions designed to enhance the possibflitieoacquisition, such as preparing audited fifennformation
and converting its accounting system to the syseecified by us. Potential acquisition discussivaquently take
place over a long period of time and involve diffidousiness integration and other issues, inclydinrsome cases,
management succession and related matters. Aslagéthese and other factors, a number of paaéatiquisitions
that from time to time appear likely to occur dd result in binding legal agreements and are nnsemmated.

In addition to acquiring recreational boat dealerd opening new retail locations, we also add nexyct lines
to expand our operations. The following table $etth various current product lines that we havdeatito our
existing locations during the years indicated.

Product Line Fiscal Year Geographic Region

Boston Whale 1998 West Central Florida; Stuart, Florida; Dall
Texas

Hatteras Yacht 1999 Florida (excluding the Florida panhand

Boston Whale 2000 North Palm Beach, Floric

Meridian Yachts 2002 Florida, Georgia, North and South Carolina, M
Jersey, Ohio, Minnesota, Texas, and Delav

Grady White 2002 Houston, Texa

Hatteras Yacht 2002 Texas

Boston Whale 2004 North and South Carolir

Princecraft 2004 Minnesota

Boston Whale 2005 Houston and Dallas, Tex

Meridian Yachts 2005 Chattanooga, Tenness

Azimut 2006 Northeast United States from Maryland to Ma

Cabo 2006 West coast of Florid

Cabo 2007 East coast of Florid

Azimut 2008 Florida

Cabo 2008 New Jersey and New Yo

Hatteras Yacht 2008 New Jersey and New Yo

Meridian Yachts 2008 Arizona, and Colorad

Meridian Yachts 2009 Maryland and Delawatr

Boston Whale 2009 Southwest Floridi

Harris FloteBote 2010 Arizona, Missouri, Minnesota, New Jersey, i
Tennesse

Malibu 2010 Arizona

Axis 2010 Arizona

Nautique by Correct Cra 2010 Georgia and Minneso

Bayliner 2010 New York

Meridian Yachts 2010 California

As we add a brand, we believe we are offering aatign path for our existing customer base onfgla gap in
our product offerings. As a result, we do not hadi¢hat new product offerings will compete withcannibalize the
business generated from our other prominent braésalso discontinue offering product lines fromeito time,
primarily based upon customer preferences.

During the nine-year period from the commenceménto operations through our fiscal year ended
September 30, 2007, our revenue increased from $28an to $1.2 billion. Our revenue and net inceincreased
in seven of those nine years over the prior yeagmae and net income. This period was marked by@ease in




Table of Contents

retail locations from 41 on September 30, 19988®@®8 September 30, 2007, resulting from acquisitismd openin
new stores in existing territories.

Our growth was interrupted during the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2007, primarily as a resukhctbfs
related to the deteriorating housing market anceggreconomic conditions. Substantially deterioig@&conomic an
financial conditions, reduced consumer confidemmspending, increases in fuel prices, lower cradilability,
financial market declines, and asset value detaiao all contributed to substantially lower fingadgerformance in
the fiscal years ended September 30, 2008 andi2gQling significant losses, and a pre-tax losghmfiscal year
ended September 30, 2010.

We have taken a number of actions to address rewamtet and economic conditions, including defeyour
acquisition program, slowing our new store openimgducing our inventory purchases, engaging iefiery
reduction efforts, closing a number of our retaddtions, significantly reducing our headcount, amatlifying our
debt structure and credit agreement. We cannotqirin length or severity of the current recesargrenvironment
or the magnitude of the effects it will have on operating performance nor can we predict the gffesess of the
measures we have taken to address this environment.

Despite the foregoing actions, we are maintainimganre values of customer service and satisfaetiwhplan t
continue to pursue strategies that will enableouschieve long-term growth. As noted in the eathdle, we have
capitalized on several brand expansion opportumitighe markets in which we operate. We beliees¢hexpansions
will strengthen our same store sales growth wherirttlustry recovers. We also believe that we alépositioned
for long-term success and growth when economicitiond improve. Upon a return to more normal ecoitom
conditions, we plan to resume expanding our busitte®ugh acquisitions in new geographical teriemrand new
store openings in existing territories. In additiare plan to continue to expand other servicedudiag conducting
used boat sales; offering yacht and boat brokesaggces; offering our customers the ability tafice new or used
boats; offering extended service contracts; arrangisurance coverage, including boat propertydittiée, accident
disability, and casualty coverage; selling relateatine products, including engines, trailers, pantsl accessories;
providing maintenance and repair services at daildecations and at stand-alone service facdit@nd expanding
our ability to provide slip and storage accommamtai Our expansion plans will depend upon the metfinormal
economic conditions.

We maintain our executive offices at 18167 U.S.hdigy 19 North, Suite 300, Clearwater, Florida 336
our telephone number is (727) 531-1700. We wererpuarated in the state of Delaware in January 189#ss the
context otherwise requires, all references to “Mekax” mean MarineMax, Inc. prior to its acquisitiof five
previously independent recreational boat dealeMarch 1998 (including their related real estatmpanies) and all
references to the “Company,” “our company,” “weys;” and “our” mean, as a combined company, MariagMnc.
and the 20 recreational boat dealers, two boatdvagle operations, and two full-service yacht reppérations
acquired to date (the “acquired dealers,” and togrewith the brokerage and repair operations, ‘afirey
subsidiaries,” or the “acquired companies”).

Our website is located atww.MarineMax.com Through our website, we make available free afrga our
annual report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reportdorm 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K, auxy
statements, and any amendments to those repedsofilfurnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 186{dhe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. These reports are availabkoan as reasonably practicable after we electtinifile those
reports with the Securities and Exchange CommissinBEC. We also post on our website the chaadfeosir Audit,
Compensation, and Nominating/Corporate Governamgeriittees; our Corporate Governance Guidelinesg@dd
Business Conduct and Ethics, and Code of Ethich®CEO and Senior Financial Officers, and anyraineents or
waivers thereto; and any other corporate governaraterials contemplated by the SEC or the reguiatad the New
York Stock Exchange, or NYSE. These documentslameavailable in print to any stockholder requastincopy
from our corporate secretary at our principal exigewffices. Because our common stock is listedhenNY SE, our
Chief Executive Officer is required to make an aadraertification to the NYSE stating that he is aatare of any
violation by us of the corporate governance lisstgndards of the NYSE. Our Chief Executive Officexde his
annual certification to that effect to the NYSE-me 1, 2010.
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General

We are the largest recreational boat dealer itUthieed States. Through 56 retail locations in Alaba Arizona,
California, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Geordlansas, Maryland, Minnesota, Missouri, New Jersiw York,
North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, Tesee, and Texas, we sell new and used recreatioats,
including pleasure boats (such as sport boatst spgisers, sport yachts, and yachts), and fisbimags, with a focus
on premium brands in each segment. We also sateetimarine products, including engines, trailpasts, and
accessories. In addition, we arrange related b@hyacht financing, insurance, and extended seooo¢racts;
provide repair and maintenance services; offer hodtyacht brokerage services; and, where avajlalyeand
storage accommodations.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Rawgt@oWhaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian recreatiboats
and yachts, all of which are manufactured by Bruokworporation. Sales of new Brunswick boats aoted for
approximately 41% of our revenue in fiscal 201Quiawick is the world’s largest manufacturer of mamproducts
and marine engines. We believe our sales represaptaoximately 7% of all Brunswick marine sales|uding
approximately 46% of its Sea Ray boat sales, dwing?010 fiscal year. We are parties to dealeeagents with
Brunswick covering Sea Ray products and are thkisixe dealer of Sea Ray boats in almost all ofgrographic
markets. We also are the exclusive dealer for It achts throughout the state of Florida (exelgdhe Florida
panhandle) and the states of New Jersey, New ‘amidk Texas; the exclusive dealer for Cabo Yachtutjtrout the
states of Florida, New Jersey, and New York; theliesive dealer for Boston Whaler in many of our keds,
including our locations in the states of New Ydxrth Carolina, South Carolina, and portions ofdtetes of
Florida, California, and Texas; and the exclusigaldr for Meridian Yachts in most of our geograph@rkets. In
addition, we are the exclusive dealer for Italydshgzimut-Benetti Group for Azimut mega-yachts, yta¢ and other
recreational boats for the Northeast United Stiites Maryland to Maine and the state of Florida.

U.S. Recreational Boating Industry

The total U.S. recreational boating industry getegt@pproximately $30.8 billion in retail salescalendar 200¢
which is down from the peak of $39.5 billion ineatlar 2006. The retail sales include retail salew and used
recreational boats; marine products, such as esgiralers, parts, and accessories; and relatatingoexpenditures,
such as fuel, insurance, docking, storage, andreefiRetail sales of new and used boats, engiragkers, and
accessories accounted for approximately $22.4hilif such sales in 2009. Annual retail recreatiboating sales
were $17.9 billion in 1988, but declined to a lofa$&0.3 billion in 1992 based on industry data mh#d by the
National Marine Manufacturers Association. We badi¢his decline was attributable to several factonduding a
recession, the Gulf War, and the imposition thraugl 991 and 1992 of a luxury tax on boats solariaes in exces
of $100,000. The luxury tax was repealed in 1998, @tail boating sales increased each year thereafcept for
1998, 2003, 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010.

The recreational boat retail market remains higfdgmented with little consolidation having occutte date
and consists of numerous boat retailers, most aftwére small companies owned by individuals thprate in a
single market and provide varying degrees of merdising, professional management, and customeicgei/e
believe that many boat retailers are encounteringeased pressure from boat manufacturers to inegieir levels ¢
service and systems, increased competition frogetamational retailers in certain product linegj,an certain cases,
business succession issues.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as the natiterding recreational boat dealer. Key elementaiobperatin
and growth strategy include the following.

Emphasizing Customer Satisfaction and Loyaltye seek to achieve a high level of customerfsation and
establish long-term customer loyalty by creatingaerall enjoyable boating experience beginnindgnaihassle-free
purchase process. We further enhance and simpkfptirchase process by helping to arrange finarazidgnsuranc
at our retail locations with competitive terms atictamlined turnaround. We offer the customer eotingh in-water
orientation of boat operations where availableyall as ongoing boat safety, maintenance, and eséngars and
demonstrations for the customer’s entire family. &8 continue our customer service after the




Table of Contents

sale by leading and sponsoring MarineMax Getawgsalp boating trips to various destinations, rendes
gatherings, and on-the-water organized eventsaeigle our customers with pre-arranged opportunttieznjoy the
pleasures of the boating lifestyle. We also endetivprovide superior maintenance and repair sesyioften throug
mobile service at the customer’s wet slip and wittended service department hours and emergenageer
availability, that minimize the hassles of boat m@nance.

Achieving Operating Efficiencies and Synergid&/e strive to increase the operating efficienofand achieve
certain synergies among our dealerships in ordenbance internal growth and profitability. We calite various
aspects of certain administrative functions atawporate level, such as accounting, finance, arste coverage,
employee benefits, marketing, strategic planniegal support, purchasing and distribution, and mameent
information systems. Centralization of these fumtsireduces duplicative expenses and permits tierdips to
benefit from a level of scale and expertise thatil@therwise be unavailable to each dealershiwithgially. We
also seek to realize cost savings from reducecdhiiove carrying costs as a result of purchasing boantories on a
national level and directing boats to dealershgatimns that can more readily sell such boats; tdimancing costs
through our credit sources; and volume purchasmdigs and rebates for certain marine productgl®sy and
advertising. The ability of our retail locationsdffer the complementary services of our otherilrédaations, such as
offering customer excursion opportunities, provigginaintenance and repair services at the custoreatlocation,
and giving access to a larger inventory, incretisesompetitiveness of each retail location. Bytiadizing these
types of activities, our store managers have niore to focus on the customer and the developmetitedf teams.

Promoting Brand Name Recognition and the Marinel@axnection. We are promoting our brand name
recognition to take advantage of our status asalien’s only coast-to-coast marine retailer. Tirstegy also
recognizes that many existing and potential custswo reside in Northern markets and vacatiorsédostantial
periods in Southern markets will prefer to purchase service their boats from the same well-knoammgany. We
refer to this strategy as the “MarineMax Connectids a result, our signage emphasizes the Marineiane at
each of our locations, and we conduct national didueg in various print and other media.

Offering Additional Products and Services, Inclugdifhose Involving Higher Profit MarginsWe plan to
continue to offer additional product lines and s&s throughout our dealerships or, when appragriatselected
dealerships. We are offering throughout our dehlpssproduct lines that previously have been offerely at certain
of our locations. We also may obtain additionaldarct lines through the acquisition of distributiaghts directly
from manufacturers and the acquisition of deal@sshiith distribution rights. In either situatiomch expansion is
typically done through agreements that appointsuth@ exclusive dealer for a designated geograptritory. We
plan to continue to grow our financing and insugrEarts and accessories, service, and boat stbusigesses to
better serve our customers and thereby increasauevand improve profitability of these higher niatgusinesses.
We also are implementing aggressive programs tease substantially the sale over the Interneseéiiboats, parts,
accessories, and a wide range of boating suppiiggeducts.

Marketing over the Internet.Our web initiatives span across multiple websitesuding our core site,
www.MarineMax.com The websites provide customers with the abibtjearn more about our company and our
products. Our website generates direct sales anddas our stores with leads to potential custorfmraew and
used boats, brokerage services, finance and inseioducts, and repair and maintenance servicesldition, we
utilize various feeder websites and social netwagkiebsites to drive additional traffic and leadisdur various
product and service offerings. As mentioned abaxeealso maintain multiple online storefronts fosmmers to
purchase a wide variety of boating parts and aotiess

Pursuing Strategic AcquisitionsWe capitalize upon the significant consolidatigportunities available in the
highly fragmented recreational boat dealer indusynacquiring independent dealers and improving erformanci
and profitability through the implementation of mperating strategies. The primary acquisition oisuon well-
established, high-end recreational boat dealegeagraphic markets not currently served by usjquéatrly
geographic markets with strong boating demograpbiosh as areas within the coastal states andréegt Gakes
region. We also may seek to acquire boat dealatswhnile located in attractive geographic markkés,e not been
able to realize favorable market share or profiigtand that can benefit substantially from oustgyns and operatir
strategies. We may expand our range of producs liservice offerings, and market
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penetration by acquiring companies that distrivateeational boat product lines or boa-related services differe
from those we currently offer. As a result of oonsiderable industry experience and relationshigshelieve we ar
well positioned to identify and evaluate acquisit@andidates and assess their growth prospectqutiity of their
management teams, their local reputation with gusts, and the suitability of their locations. Wdidnee we are
regarded as an attractive acquirer by boat debé&srause of (1) the historical performance and xiperence and
reputation of our management team within the ingu¢2) our decentralized operating strategy, wigeherally
enables the managers of an acquired dealer toncentieir involvement in dealership operationsitfig) ability of
management and employees of an acquired dealarticipate in our growth and expansion through ptgd stock
ownership and career advancement opportunities(4rtie ability to offer liquidity to the owners$ acquired
dealers through the receipt of common stock or.dA&hhave entered into an agreement regarding sitiqus with
the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick. Under the agreetnacquisitions of Sea Ray dealers will be miusdreed
upon by us and Sea Ray with reasonable efforte tméde to include a balance of Sea Ray dealerbahatbeen
successful and those that have not been. The agregrovides that Sea Ray will not unreasonablyhatd its
consent to any proposed acquisition of a Sea Raledby us, subject to the conditions set fortthemmagreement, as
further described in “Business — Brunswick AgreetriRelating to Acquisitions.”

Opening New Facilities.We intend to continue to establish additionaitéacilities in our existing and new
markets when markets conditions improve. We belteae the demographics of our existing geograpgidtories
support the opening of additional facilities, anel mave opened 28 new retail facilities, excludimase opened on a
temporary basis for a specific purpose, since ounétion in January 1998. We also plan to reach eiestomers
through various innovative retail formats developgdis, such as mall stores and floating retailifes. We
continually monitor the performance of our retatdtions and close retail locations that do nottroaeexpectations
or that were opened for a specific purpose thabiknger relevant. Based on these factors sinaetME98, we
have closed 47 retail locations, excluding thosenepd on a temporary basis for a specific purpostyding 26 in
fiscal 2009.

Emphasizing Employee Recruiting, Training, and Digwaent. We devote substantial efforts to recruit
employees that we believe to be exceptionally wedlified for their position and to train our empées to
understand our core retail philosophies, which $oen making the purchase of a boat and its subségse as
hassle-free and enjoyable as possible. ThrougVarineMax University, or MMU, we teach our retallifpsophies
to existing and new employees at various locatamsonline, through MMU-online. MMU is a modularizand
instructor-led educational program that focuseswanretailing philosophies and provides instructionsuch matters
as the sales process, customer service, F&I, atiogyteadership, and human resources.

Emphasizing Best PracticesWe emphasize the “best practices” developed ndsour acquired dealers as
appropriate throughout our locations. As an exampéefollow a nohaggle sales approach at each of our dealers
Under the MarineMax Valu®rice approach, we sell our boats at posted priggserally representing a discount fi
the manufacturer’s suggested retail price, thesdioyinating the anxieties of price negotiationsttbecur in most
boat purchases. In addition, we adopt, where beiakfthe best practices developed by us and aywieed dealers in
terms of location, design, layout, product purckasgaintenance and repair services (including eledrservice
hours and mobile or dockside services), product emxployee training, and customer education andcsss.

Operating with Decentralized ManagemeriVe maintain a generally decentralized approatheaperational
management of our dealerships. The decentralizedgement approach takes advantage of the extemgdezience
of local managers, enabling them to implement pdiend make decisions, including the appropriedédyct mix,
based on the needs of the local market. Local nenagt authority also fosters responsive custonreicgeand
promotes long-term community and customer relatigpss In addition, the centralization of certaimadistrative
functions at the corporate level enhances thetplofilocal managers to focus their efforts on dayday dealership
operations and the customers.

Utilizing Technology Throughout OperationdVe believe that our management information systehnich
currently is being utilized by each of our dealgrstand was developed over a number of years throagperative
efforts with a common vendor, enhances our abiditintegrate successfully the operations of outetehips and
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future acquired dealers. The system facilitatesriteschange of information and enhances «-selling opportunitie:
throughout our company. The system integrates keaeh of operations on a company-wide basis, inoigd
purchasing, inventory, receivables, financial réipgr budgeting, and sales management. The sydtnpeovides
sales representatives with prospect and custorf@mation that aids them in tracking the statuthefr contacts wit
prospects, automatically generates follow-up c@wasdence to such prospects, facilitates the avkijabf boats
companywide, locates boats needed to satisfy particulatocuer requests, and monitors the maintenanceeamita
needs of customers’ boats. Our representativesutilsze the computer system to assist in arrangungtomer
financing and insurance packages. Our managera web-based tool to access essentially all finhacid
operational data from anywhere at any time.

Products and Services

We offer new and used recreational boats and celagrine products, including engines, trailerstgand
accessories. While we sell a broad range of newuaad boats, we focus on premium brand productddiition, we
assist in arranging related boat financing, insceaand extended service contracts; provide boattemance and
repair services; provide boat brokerage serviaed;odfer slip and storage accommodations.

New Boat Sales

We primarily sell recreational boats, includinggsere boats and fishing boats. The principal prtsdwe offer
are manufactured by Brunswick, the leading worldidanufacturer of recreational boats, including Saa
pleasure boats, Boston Whaler fishing boats, Cadxxhs, Hatteras Yachts, and Meridian Yachts. keafi2010, we
derived approximately 41% of our revenue from thie ®f new boats manufactured by Brunswick. Weelvelithat
we represented approximately 7% of all of Brunsveickarine product sales during that period. Certdiour
dealerships also sell luxury yachts, fishing boatsl pontoon boats provided by other manufactuirechyding Italy-
based Azimut. During fiscal 2010, new boat sale®anted for 54.4% of our revenue.

We offer recreational boats in most market segmdnitshave a particular focus on premium qualigagure
boats and yachts as reflected by our fiscal 20&0azme new boat sales price of approximately $145 80 increase
of approximately 9% from fiscal 2009, compared véthestimated industry average calendar 2009 gedliice of
approximately $37,000 based on industry data plubdidy the National Marine Manufacturers Associati®iven
our locations in some of the more affluent, offghboating areas in the United States and emphagigb levels of
customer service, we sell a relatively higher petage of large recreational boats, such as medatsgja@chts, and
sport cruisers. We believe that the product linesoffler are among the highest quality within theBpective market
segments, with well-established trade-name reciognitnd reputations for quality, performance, aytirg.

The following table is illustrative of the rangedaapproximate manufacturer suggested retail peoge of new
boats that we currently offer, but is not all irsiite.

Manufacturer Suggested

Product Line and Trade Name Overall Length Retail Price Range
Motor Yachts

Hatteras Motor Yacht 54 to 10C+ $3,000,000 to $10,000,00

Azimut 38 to 11€ + 790,000 to 12,000,00!
Convertibles

Hatteras Convertible 54 to 77+ 2,300,000 to 7,000,00!I

Cabo 32" to 57 475,000 to 2,000,00(
Pleasure Boats

Sea Ray 17 to 6T 21,000 to 2,500,0(

Meridian 34 to 5¢ 300,000 to 1,600,0(
Fishing Boats

Boston Whale 11 to 37 8,000 to 400,0C

Grady White 18 to 3¢ 40,000 to 500,0¢
Ski Boats

Malibu 20" to 2% 44,000 to 88,0C

AXis 20" to 27 35,000 to 38,0C

Nautique by Correct Cra 21 to 2% 57,000 to 105,0(C
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Motor Yachts Hatteras Yachts and Azimut are two of the w's premier yacht builders. The motor ya
product lines typically include state-of-the-arsiggms with live-aboard luxuries. Hatteras offeff/hridge with
extensive guest seating; covered aft deck, which lmeafully or partially enclosed, providing the beawith
additional living space; an elegant salon; and iplelistaterooms for accommodations. Azimut yachéskaown for
their Americanized open layout with Italian desayd powerful performance. The luxurious interiof#\pimut
yachts are accented by windows and multiple accoatimns that have been designed for com

Convertibles. Hatteras Yachts and Cabo Yachts are two of thddggoremier convertible yacht builders and
offer state-of-the-art designs with live-aboardurigs. Convertibles are primarily fishing vesselbjch are well
equipped to meet the needs of even the most senausament-class competitor. Hatteras featuresiors that offer
luxurious salon/galley arrangements, multiple stades with private heads, and a cockpit that inetud bait and
tackle center, fishbox, and freezer. Cabo is knfwrspacious cockpits and accessibility to esskntsaich as bait
chests, livewells, bait prep centers, and tackdkdos. Cabo interiors offer elegance, highlightgddak woodwork,
halogen lighting, and ample storage areas.

Pleasure Boats. Sea Ray and Meridian pleasure boats target betlukury and the family recreational boating
markets and come in a variety of configurationsui each customer’s particular recreational bgasiyle. Sea Ray
sport yachts and yachts serve the luxury segmethieafecreational boating market and include toghefline living
accommodations with a salon, a fully equipped gabed multiple staterooms. Sea Ray sport yactdsyanhts are
available in cabin, bridge cockpit, and cruiser gledSea Ray sport boat and sport cruiser modeldesigned for
performance and dependability to meet family retiveal needs and include many of the features and
accommodations of Sea Ray’s sport yacht and yaoleia. Meridian sport yachts and yachts are knawthieir
solid performance and thoughtful use of space @&@-degree views and spacious salon, galley, aterebm
accommodations. Meridian sport yachts and yacletsieailable in sedan, motoryacht, and pilothousdetso All See
Ray and Meridian pleasure boats feature customuim&ntation that may include an electronics packeaegous hull
deck, and cockpit designs that can include a swatiqgsm; bow pulpit and raised bridge; and variamsenities, such
as swivel bucket helm seats, lounge seats, sun patdars, built-in ice chests, and refreshmenters. Most Sea
Ray and Meridian pleasure boats feature MercutenCruiser engines.

Fishing Boats. The fishing boats we offer, such as Boston Whatet Grady White, range from entry level
models to advanced models designed for fishingveatdr sports in lakes, bays, and off-shore wateith, cabins
with limited live-aboard capability. The fishing &ts typically feature livewells, in-deck fishboxesdholders,
rigging stations, cockpit coaming pads, and frash saltwater washdowns.

Ski Boats. The ski boats we offer, such as Malibu, Axis, &faditique by Correct Craft, range from entry level
models to advanced models, all of which are desigo@chieve an ultimate wake for increased skier a
wakeboarder performance and safety. With a vagétiesigns and options, the ski boats we offer apibeal to the
competitor and recreational user alike.

Used Boat Sales

We sell used versions of the new makes and modelsffer and, to a lesser extent, used boats of otlages
and models generally taken as trade-ins. Durirgafi2010, used boat sales accounted for 24.0%rafeeenue, and
73.1% of the used boats we sold were Brunswick itsode

Our used boat sales depend on our ability to scausteply of high-quality used boats at attracgiviees. We
acquire substantially all of our used boats throaggtomer trade-ins. We intend to continue to iaseeour used boat
business as a result of the availability of qualiégd boats generated from our new boat salesfthe increasing
number of used boats that are well-maintained tjimaur service initiatives, including our Premiurertfied Pre-
Owned Program, our ability to market used boatsuphout our combined dealership network to matet tmat
demand, and the experience of our yacht brokerpgmtions. Additionally, substantially all of ousad boat
inventory is posted on our websiteyww.MarineMax.com which expands the awareness and availabilityuof o
products to a large audience of boating enthusiasts

To further enhance our used boat sales, we lauretrrdmium Certified Pr&wned Program, or PCPO, in fis
2008. Generally, PCPO boats are less than fousyddy have passed a 150- point inspection, ang eawne
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year warranty. Additionally, we offer the Sea Ragghcy warranty plan available for used Sea Raysteas than si
years old. The Legacy plan applies to each qualifyised Sea Ray boat, which has passe-point inspection, and
provides protection against failure of most mecbalparts for up to three years. We believe thesgrams enhance
our sales of used Sea Ray boats by motivating pgess of used Sea Ray boats to complete their @sgstthrough
our Sea Ray dealerships.

Marine Engines, Related Marine Equipment, and Boagj Accessories

We offer marine engines and propellers, substdytdil of which are manufactured by Mercury Mariiee,
division of Brunswick. We sell marine engines amdpellers primarily to retail customers as replaesta for their
existing engines or propellers. Mercury Marine imioduced various new engine models that redugeen
emissions to comply with current Environmental Betibn Agency requirements. See “Business — Enwviemtal
and Other Regulatory Issues.” An industry leaderafmost six decades, Mercury Marine specializes in
state-of-the-arnarine propulsion systems and accessories. Manyrafealerships have been recognized by Mel
Marine as “Premier Service Dealers.” This desigmais generally awarded based on meeting certaimdatds and
qualifications.

We also sell related marine parts and accessamigading oils, lubricants, steering and controdtgyns,
corrosion control products, engine care, mainte@aacd service products (primarily Mercury Marin@sicksilver
line); high-performance accessories (such as peygglnd instruments; and a complete line of bgaticcessories,
including life jackets, inflatables, and water dpa@quipment. We also offer novelty items, suckhags, caps, and
license plates bearing the manufacturer’s or dsdlego.

The sale of marine engines, related marine equipraed boating accessories accounted for 6.4% ofisal
2010 revenue.

Maintenance, Repair, and Storage Services

Providing customers with professional, prompt meiaince and repair services is critical to our safiests and
contributes to our success. We provide maintenandeepair services at most of our retail locatiovith extended
service hours at certain of our locations. In @ddijtin many of our markets, we provide mobile ni@mance and
repair services at the location of the customeoatbWe believe that this service commitment isapetitive
advantage in the markets in which we compete andtisal to our efforts to provide a trouble-freeating
experience. To further this commitment, in cer@imur markets, we have opened stand-alone maintenand
repair facilities in locations that are more corieanfor our customers and that increase the avisitiaof such
services. We also believe that our maintenanceguair services contribute to strong customerigxahips and that
our emphasis on preventative maintenance and gsalivice increases the potential supply of weliatzaned boats
for our used boat sales.

We perform both warranty and non-warranty repaivises, with the cost of warranty work reimburserctie
manufacturer in accordance with the manufactusggganty reimbursement program. For warranty workst
manufacturers, including Brunswick, reimburse apetage of the dealer’s posted service labor ratds the
percentage varying depending on the dealer’s custsatisfaction index rating and attendance aticetvaining
courses. We derive the majority of our warrantyeraye from Brunswick products, as Brunswick prodeotsprise
the majority of products sold. Certain other maotifeers reimburse warranty work at a fixed amowntrppair.
Because boat manufacturers permit warranty wobletperformed only at authorized dealerships, weivec
substantially all of the warranted maintenance rapéir work required for the new boats we sell. Ttied-party
extended warranty contracts we offer also resudtnirongoing demand for our maintenance and repaiices for the
duration of the term of the extended warranty auttr

Our maintenance and repair services are performedamufacturer-trained and certified service teciamis. In
charging for our mechanics’ labor, many of our destlips use a variable rate structure designeefiect the
difficulty and sophistication of different types @pairs. The percentage markups on parts aressiyndased on
manufacturer suggested prices and market conditardifferent parts.
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At many of our locations, we offer boat storagevees, including i-water slip storage and inside and outs
land storage. These storage services are offeramhgietitive market rates and include in-seasorvénter storage.

Maintenance, repair, and storage services accodotéd3% of our revenue during fiscal 2010. Tiisludes
warranty and non-warranty services.

F&I Products

At each of our retail locations, we offer our custrs the ability to finance new or used boat pwseband to
purchase extended service contracts and arrangeime coverage, including boat property, crefdit hnd accident,
disability, and casualty insurance coverage (ctillety, “F&I”).

We have relationships with various national magnaduct lenders under which the lenders purchédsd re
installment contracts evidencing retail sales aftb@nd other marine products that are originayeaskin accordance
with existing presale agreements between us and the lenders. Tineegeamnents permit us to receive a portion o
finance charges expected to be earned on the iregtdllment contract based on a variety of fagtorduding the
credit standing of the buyer, the annual percentatgeof the contract charged to the buyer, andethder’s then
current minimum required annual percentage rategeltbto the buyer on the contract. This particgrats subject to
repayment by us if the buyer prepays the contradetaults within a designated time period, usu@iiyjto 180 days.
To the extent required by applicable state law,dmalerships are licensed to originate and sdllriestallment
contracts financing the sale of boats and otheimaaroducts.

We also offer third-party extended service congagctder which, for a predetermined price, we preti
designated services pursuant to the service carguédelines during the contract term at no adddiacharge to the
customer above a deductible. While we sell all heats with the boat manufacturer’s standard huttady of
generally five years and standard engine warrahgjenerally one year, extended service contracteige additional
coverage beyond the time frame or scope of the faaturer’s warranty. Purchasers of used boats géipare able
to purchase an extended service contract, evée gelected boat is no longer covered by the maturkz’s
warranty. Generally, we receive a fee for arrangingextended service contract. Most required sesvimder the
contracts are provided by us and paid for by tivel4party contract holder.

We also are able to assist our customers with piperdunity to purchase credit life insurance, aenidand
disability insurance, and property and casualtyriasce. Credit life insurance policies provide rigpayment of the
boat financing contract if the purchaser dies wttike contract is outstanding. Accident and disghifisurance
policies provide for payment of the monthly contrabligation during any period in which the buysidisabled.
Property and casualty insurance covers loss or darntathe boat. We do not act as an insurance boskaegent or
issue insurance policies on behalf of insurers.ddehowever, provide marketing activities and otiedaited services
to insurance companies and brokers for which weiveamarketing fees. One of our strategies is teegge
increased marketing fees by offering more competitisurance products.

During fiscal 2010, fee income generated from F&dducts accounted for 2.7% of our revenue. We belthat
our customersability to obtain competitive financing quickly aedsily at our dealerships complements our ahib
sell new and used boats. We also believe ouryahdiprovide customer-tailored financing on a “satlag” basis
gives us an advantage over many of our competiparsicularly smaller competitors that lack theouges to arrang
boat financing at their dealerships or that dogeterate sufficient volume to attract the diversitfinancing source
that are available to us.

Brokerage Services

Through employees or subcontractors that are lestbsat or yacht brokers, we offer boat or yacbkérage
services at most of our retail locations. For a eussion, we offer for sale brokered boats or yadhsng them on
the “BUC” system, advising our other retail locations of tlaeiailability through our integrated computer gyst anc
posting them on our web siteyww.MarineMax.com The BUC system, which is similar to a real estatstiple
listing service, is a national boat or yacht ligtservice of approximately 900 brokers maintaing@bC
International. Often sales are co-brokered, withdbmmission split between the buying and sellirakérs. We
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believe that our access to potential used boabmests and methods of listing and advertising custe’ brokered
boats or yachts is more extensive than is typicadreg brokers. In addition to generating revenumflomokerage
commissions, our brokerage services also enaltie affer a broad array of used boats or yachtsawitlincreasing
related inventory costs. During fiscal 2010, brakgr services accounted for 2.7% of our revenue.

Our brokerage customers generally receive the $éghelevel of customer service as our new and bsed
customers. Our waterfront retail locations enablevater demonstrations of an on-site brokered hoat.
maintenance and repair services, including molgifeise, also are generally available to our brogereustomers.
The purchaser of a boat brokered through us alsdat@ advantage of MarineMax Getaways! weekenddagdrips
and other rendezvous gatherings and in-water evasitsell as boat operation and safety seminarsbélieve that
the array of services we offer are unique in thakbrage business.

Retail Locations

We sell our recreational boats and other marindymts and offer our related boat services througretil
locations in Alabama, Arizona, California, Colora@onnecticut, Florida, Georgia, Kansas, Marylavithnesota,
Missouri, New Jersey, New York, North Carolina, @klahoma, Rhode Island, Tennessee, and Texab.rEtail
location generally includes an indoor showrooml(iding some of the industry’largest indoor boat showrooms) i
an outside area for displaying boat inventoridsusiness office to assist customers in arrangimgnfiing and
insurance, and maintenance and repair facilities.

Many of our retail locations are waterfront propeston some of the nation’s most popular boatiegtions,
including the San Diego Bay in California; Norwaldiarbor in Connecticut; multiple locations on thé&dicoastal
Waterway, the Atlantic Ocean, Biscayne Bay, Boceg@iBay, Naples Bay, Tampa Bay, and the Caloodadmtc
River in Florida; Lake Lanier in Georgia; ChesapeBlay in Maryland; Leech Lake and the St. CroixeRiw
Minnesota; Lake of the Ozarks, and Table Rock Liakdissouri; Barnegat Bay, the Hudson River, LakepEtcong,
Little Egg Harbor, and the Manasquan River in Newsdy; Great Sound Bay, the Hudson River, and Hgtdn
Harbor in New York; the Intracoastal Waterway inrtfioCarolina; Lake Erie in Ohio; Grand Lake in Gidena;
Tennessee River in Tennessee; and Clear Lake, atelllewisville in Texas. Our waterfront retail Itioas, most of
which include marina-type facilities and docks &iieth we display our boats, are easily accessibieedoating
populace, serve as in-water showrooms, and enlableales force to give customers immediate in-water
demonstrations of various boat models. Most ofather locations are in close proximity to water.

Operations
Dealership Operations and Management

We have adopted a generally decentralized apprtoeitie operational management of our dealershigglew
certain administrative functions are centralizethatcorporate level, local management is primaggponsible for
the day-to-day operations of the retail locatidesch retail location is managed by a store managey,oversees the
day-to-day operations, personnel, and financidioperance of the individual store, subject to theedfion of a
regional manager, who generally has responsilfdityhe retail locations within a specified geodrapregion.
Typically, each retail location also has a staffigieting of an F&l manager, a parts manager, asghdace manager,
sales representatives, maintenance and repairitéhsy and various support personnel.

We attempt to attract and retain quality employegesur retail locations by providing them with oiggptraining
to enhance sales professionalism and product klgwlecareer advancement opportunities within eetacgmpany,
and favorable benefit packages. We maintain a fbtraming program, called MarineMax University MU,
which provides training for employees in all aspeaftour operations. Training sessions are hetdiavarious
regional locations covering a variety of topics. MMnline offers various modules over the Interh#ghly trained,
professional sales representatives are an impdeetatr to our successful sales efforts. Thesesgaleresentatives ¢
trained at MMU to recognize the importance of fasig an enjoyable sales process, to educate cussarmehe
operation and use of the boats, and to assistroastoin making technical and design decisions at parchases. Tl
overall focus of MMU is to teach our core retailimgues, which focus on customer service.
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Sales representatives receive compensation prim@aria commission basis. Each store manager isdest
employee with incentive bonuses based on the padioce of the managed dealership. Maintenance paif re
service managers receive compensation on a saaiy Wwith bonuses based on the performance ofdegirtments.
Our management information system provides eack stad department manager with daily financial eperationa
information, enabling them to monitor their perfamee on a daily, weekly, and monthly basis. We feaugiform,
fully integrated management information system isgreach of our dealerships.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales philosophy focuses on selling the plessof the boating lifestyle. We believe that th&aal element
of our sales philosophy include our appealing tétaations, no-hassle sales approach, highly ¢éhsales
representatives, high level of customer servicegteasis on educating the customer and the custerfaariily on boa
usage, and providing our customers with opportesitor boating. We strive to provide superior costoservice an
support before, during, and after the sale.

Each retail location offers the customer the opputy to evaluate a large variety of new and useatdin a
comfortable and convenient setting. Our full-seevietail locations facilitate a turn-key purchasprgcess that
includes attractive lender financing packages,rela¢d service agreements, and insurance. Many aetait
locations are located on waterfronts and marinas;twattract boating enthusiasts and enable custoto®@perate
various boats prior to making a purchase decision.

We sell our boats at posted MarineMax Value Pribasgenerally represent a discount from the mantufar’s
suggested retail price. Our sales approach foausesistomer service by minimizing customer anxésyociated
with price negotiation.

As a part of our sales and marketing efforts, vge ghrticipate in boat shows and in-the-water salests at
area boating locations, typically held in Januargt Bebruary and toward the end of the boating sea@s@ach of our
markets and in certain locations in close proxintyur markets. These shows and events are ngriveltl at
convention centers or marinas, with area dealerting space. Boat shows and other offsite prometeme an
important venue for generating sales orders. Tla $floows also generate a significant amount ofésten our
products resulting in boat sales after the show.

We emphasize customer education through one-oredneation by our sales representatives and, at some
locations, our delivery captains, before and atsale, and through in-house seminars for theeefaimily on boat
safety, the use and operation of boats, and pratkmbnstrations. Typically, one of our delivery teaps or the sales
representative delivers the customer’s boat tor@a boating location and thoroughly instructs thetemer about the
operation of the boat, including hands-on instardifor docking and trailering the boat. To enhamoecustomer
relationships after the sale, we lead and sponsuindMax Getaways! group boating trips to varioastohations,
rendezvous gatherings, and on-the-water organizedt® that promote the pleasures of the boatiegtife. Each
company-sponsored event, planned and led by a acongraployee, also provides a favorable medium for
acclimating new customers to boating, sharing egiboating destinations, creating friendships waither boaters,
and enabling us to promote actively new producaraifys to boating enthusiasts.

As a result of our relative size, we believe wedhavcompetitive advantage within the industry bingeble to
conduct an organized and systematic advertisingraartteting effort. Part of our marketing effort lides an
integrated prospect management system that traekstatus of each sales representative’s contétttavprospect,
automatically generates follow-up correspondereilifates company-wide availability of a partiaubwat or other
marine product desired by a customer, and tracksn@intenance and service needs for the custoineats

Suppliers and Inventory Management

We purchase substantially all of our new boat inegndirectly from manufacturers, which allocatewigoats tc
dealerships based on the amount of boats soldebgietalership. We also exchange new boats with dieders to
accommodate customer demand and to balance inyentor

We purchase new boats and other marine-relatedipt®ffom Brunswick, which is the world’s largest
manufacturer of marine products, including Sea Bagton Whaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian. Vge al
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purchase new boats and other marine related poéhach other manufacturers, including Azir-Benetti Group
Grady White, and Tracker Marine. In fiscal 2010esaf new Brunswick boats accounted for approxétyad 1% of
our revenue. No purchases of new boats and othenereelated products from any other manufactuceoanted for
more than 10% of our revenue in fiscal 2010. Wéelelour Sea Ray boat purchases represented apaiety 46%
of Sea Ray’s new boat sales and approximately 7&tl &runswick marine product sales during fisc@l @.

We have entered into agreements with Brunswick iiogeSea Ray products. The dealer agreements hétise
Ray division of Brunswick do not restrict our rigbtsell any Sea Ray product lines or competinglpets. The term
of each dealer agreement appoints a designatedaggogal territory for the dealer, which is excltesto the dealer
so long as the dealer is not in breach of the rizdteibligations and performance standards undeagneement and
Sea Ray’s then current material policies and progréollowing notice and the expiration of any apable cure
periods without cure.

Upon the completion of the Surfside-3 acquisitiotMarch 2006, we became the exclusive dealer famAt
Benetti Group’s Azimut product line in the Northebinited States. The Azimut dealer agreement pesval
geographic territory to promote the product lind &mnetwork with the appropriate clientele throwghious
independent locations designated for Azimut resaliés.

We typically deal with each of our manufactureittieo than the Sea Ray division of Brunswick, ureter
annually renewable, non-exclusive dealer agreenhgmufacturers generally establish prices on amahbasis, but
may change prices in their sole discretion. Mantufaes typically discount the cost of inventory after inventory
financing assistance during the manufacturers’ sleasons, generally October through March. To olibaver cost
of inventory, we strive to capitalize on these nfanturer incentives to take product delivery during
manufacturers’ slow seasons. This permits us to gacing advantages and better product availgtilitring the
selling season. Arrangements with certain otherufauturers may restrict our right to offer somedurct lines in
certain markets.

We transfer individual boats among our retail |gmad to fill customer orders that otherwise migike
substantially longer to fill from the manufacturghis reduces delays in delivery, helps us maxiririgzentory
turnover, and assists in minimizing potential ot@ek or out-of-stock situations. We actively monitar inventory
levels to maintain levels appropriate to meet auramticipated market demands. We are not bournmbhfractual
agreements governing the amount of inventory theatmst purchase in any year from any manufactbrgrthe
failure to purchase at agreed upon levels may tr@sthe loss of certain manufacturer incentive pérticipate in
numerous end-of-summaranufacturer boat shows, which manufacturers spdossell off their remaining invento
at reduced costs before the introduction of newehgdar products, typically beginning in July.

Inventory Financing

Marine manufacturers customarily provide interesistance programs to retailers. The interesttassis varies
by manufacturer and may include periods of frearfizing or reduced interest rate programs. Thedstessistance
may be paid directly to the retailer or the finahanstitution depending on the arrangements theufaeturer has
established. We believe that our financing arraregggmwith manufacturers are standard within thesiy.

We account for consideration received from our wegdnh accordance with FASB Accounting Standards
Codification 605-50, “Revenue Recognition, Custofayments and Incentives” (“ASC 605-50"), previgusl
referred to as Emerging Issues Task Force Issu@Xa&6, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Riesgfor
Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor.” AR5-50 requires us to classify interest assistamoeived from
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costratated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstasse against ol
interest expense incurred with our lenders. PuitsiaeASC 605-50, amounts received by us under oo
assistance programs from our manufacturers arechatiainst related advertising expenses.

We are party to an Inventory Financing Agreemenh WdE Commercial Distribution Finance Company, or
GECDF. The credit facility provides a floor plandincing commitment of $100 million and allows usequest a
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$50 million increase to this commitment under acoagdion feature, subject to GECDF approval. Thelitfacility
matures on June 24, 2013 and is subject to extefsidwo one-year periods, subject to GECDF apakov

The interest rate for amounts outstanding undectééit facility is 378 basis points above the oneath
London Inter-Bank Offering Rate. There is an unugeslfee of ten basis points on the unused poxicthe line.

The credit facility has certain financial covenaritse covenants include provisions that our levenagio not
exceed 2.75 to 1.0 and that our current ratio rhegjreater than 1.2 to 1.0. At September 30, 20&Q0yere in
compliance with all the covenants under the crieditity.

The initial advance under the credit facility waed to pay off our prior credit facility. Subsequadvances wil
be initiated by the acquisition of eligible new amgkd inventory or will be re-advances againsildignew and used
inventory that has been partially paid-off. Advamioca new inventory will mature 1,081 days from éhigiinal
invoice date. Advances on used inventory will matd81 days from the date we acquire the used inwerEach
advance is subject to a curtailment schedule, wigghires that we pay down the balance of eachradvan a
periodic basis starting after six months. The ¢umiant schedule varies based on the type of invgrand the value
of the inventory.

The collateral for the credit facility is all of bpersonal property with certain limited exceptioNsne of our
real estate has been pledged for collateral foctedit facility.

At September 30, 2010, we owed an aggregate o8%88lion under our credit facility and were in cpliance
with all of the credit facility covenants. Advanoasder the facility accrued interest at a rate.0%¢ as of
September 30, 2010, and the credit facility progide with an additional net borrowing availabilitfyapproximately
$4.2 million. All indebtedness associated with meal estate holdings were repaid during the figeal ended
September 30, 2009.

On October 7, 2010, we entered into an Inventonai¢ing Agreement (the “CGlI Facility”) with CGI Eince,
Inc. The CGI Facility provides a floor plan finangicommitment of $30 million and is designed tovymie financing
for our Azimut inventory needs. The CGI Facilitysteoneyear term, which is typical in the industry for din floor
plan facilities; however, each advance under thé 2@ility can remain outstanding for 18 monthseTihterest rate
for amounts outstanding under the CGI Facility38 ®asis points above the one month London IntekE2ffering
Rate.

Advances under the CGI Facility will be initiated the acquisition of eligible new and used inventor will be
re-advances against eligible new and used invetibatyhas been partially paid-off. Advances on ivexentory will
mature 550 days from the original invoice date. &uhes on used inventory will mature 366 days froendate we
acquire the used inventory. Each advance is sutgexturtailment schedule, which requires thapasw down the
balance of each advance on a periodic basis gatiar six months for used inventory and one yeanew
inventory. The curtailment schedule varies basethertype of inventory.

The collateral for the CGI Facility is our entirgifut inventory financed by the CGI Facility witkrtain
limited exceptions. None of our real estate has ipdedged for collateral for the CGI Facility. Weush maintain
compliance with various covenants, including batéasieeet related covenants of current and leverdgesy as
defined in the CGI Facility. The CGI Facility contplates that other lenders may be added by usande other
inventory not financed under the CGI Facility, deded.

Management Information System

We believe that our management information systenich currently is being utilized by each of ouatgships
and was developed over a number of years througpecative efforts with a common vendor, enhancesbility to
integrate successfully the operations of our dshlps and future acquisitions, facilitates therichange of
information, and enhances cross-selling opporesitiroughout our company. The system integrates leael of
operations on a company-wide basis, including pstty, inventory, receivables, financial reportibgdgeting, and
sales management. The system enables us to meaihbrdealership’s operations in order to identifickly areas
requiring additional focus and to manage inventdtye system also provides sales representativésprospect and
customer information that aids them in trackingdtetus of their contacts with
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prospects, automatically generafollow-up correspondence to such prospects, facilitatesuthiaaility of a
particular boat company-wide, locates boats negaledtisfy a particular customer request, and mosihe
maintenance and service needs of customers’ Hoatspany representatives also utilize the systeass$ist in
arranging financing and insurance packages.

Brunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitions

We and the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick are pariiean agreement extending through December 2G5 t
provides a process for the acquisition of additi@ea Ray boat dealers that desire to be acquyres.bUnder the
agreement, acquisitions of Sea Ray dealers withbtially agreed upon by us and Sea Ray with reddemrdforts to
be made to include a balance of Sea Ray dealdrhdkia been successful and those that have not Bleen
agreement provides that Sea Ray will not unreadgnethhold its consent to any proposed acquisitibia Sea Ray
dealer by us, subject to the conditions set fartthe agreement. Among other things, the agreeprertides for us t
provide Sea Ray with a business plan for each megpacquisition, including historical financial dinte-year
projected financial information regarding the asifion candidate; marketing and advertising plaesyice
capabilities and managerial and staff personnédyimation regarding the ability of the candidatethieve
performance standards within designated periodsjreormation regarding the success of our preveguisitions
of Sea Ray dealers. The agreement also contem@@ateRay reaching a good faith determination whettee
acquisition would be in its best interest basedwndedication and focus of resources on the SgadbRend and Sea
Ray’s consideration of any adverse effects thaafiroval would have on the resulting territory faguration of
adjacent or other dealers and the absence of atatien of applicable laws or rights granted by B&gy to others.

Dealer Agreements with Brunswick

Brunswick, through its Sea Ray division, and weotigh our dealerships, are parties to Sales andc8er
Agreements relating to Sea Ray products extendiraygh December 2015. Each of these dealer agréemen
appoints one of our dealerships as a dealer foretfadl sale, display, and servicing of design&ed Ray products,
parts, and accessories currently or in the futale Isy Sea Ray. Each dealer agreement designatesignated
geographical territory for the dealer, which islesose to the dealer as long as the dealer ismbteach of the
material obligations and performance standards uth@éeagreement and Sea Ray’s then current maperiigies and
programs following notice and the expiration of applicable cure periods without cure. Each desdeeement also
specifies retail locations, which the dealer mayalose, change, or add to without the prior wnittensent of Sea
Ray, provided that Sea Ray may not unreasonabhhwitl its consent. Each dealer agreement alsaatsstie deale
from selling, advertising (other than in recognized! established marine publications), solicitingdale, or offering
for resale any Sea Ray products outside its teyritgthout the prior written consent of Sea Rayag) as similar
restrictions also apply to all domestic Sea Rayatsaelling comparable Sea Ray products. In audigach dealer
agreement provides for the lowest product pricesgdd by Sea Ray from time to time to other dorneé&tia Ray
dealers, subject to the dealer meeting all theireouents and conditions of Sea Ray’s applicablgmms and the
right of Sea Ray in good faith to charge lessargwito other dealers to meet existing competitiseumstances, for
unusual and non-ordinary business circumstancdsy timited duration promotional programs.

Among other things, each dealer agreement reqthieedealer to

« devote its best efforts to promote, displayeatise, and sell Sea Ray products at each odtigdl locations in
accordance with the agreement and applicable |

« display and utilize at each of its retail Iboas signs, graphics, and image elements withR&ses
identification that positively reflect the Sea Remyage and promote the retail sale of Sea Ray pter

« purchase and maintain at all times sufficient inegnof current Sea Ray products to meet the restde
demand of customers at each of its locations amdetet Sea Ray’s applicable minimum inventory
requirements
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* maintain at each retail location, or at anotheeptaible location, a service department that isgngstaffed
and equipped to service Sea Ray products promptypeofessionally and to maintain parts and suppbe
service Sea Ray products properly on a timely b

« perform all necessary product rigging, instiidin, and inspection services prior to deliverptwchasers in
accordance with Sea Ray’s standards and perfortrsptesservices of all Sea Ray products sold byldader
and brought to the dealer for servi

« provide or arrange for warranty and servicelwfor Sea Ray products regardless of the selleget or
condition of sale

« exercise reasonable efforts to address cirtamoss in which another dealer has made a sateddginal
retail purchaser who permanently resides withindbaler’s territory where such sale is contrartheoselling
deale’s Sales and Service Agreeme

* provide appropriate instructions to purchasersm to obtain warranty and service work from theleie:

« furnish product purchasers with Sea ’s limited warranty on new products and with infotima and training
as to the safe and proper operation and mainterafribe products

« assist Sea Ray in performing any product defectracall campaigns

* achieve sales performance in accordance with faliraasonable standards and sales levels estabbghee:
Ray in consultation with the dealer based on facsoich as population, sales potential, market share
percentage of Sea Ray products sold in the teyrdiompared with competitive products sold in threitiary,
local economic conditions, competition, past saistory, number of retail locations, and other $plec
circumstances that may affect the sale of Sea Rajupts or the dealer, in each case consistentstatidards
established for all domestic Sea Ray dealers getiimparable product

 provide designated financial information that arehtful and accurate

¢ conduct its business in a manner that preseamd enhances the reputation and goodwill of BethRay and
the dealer for providing quality products and sezsi

« maintain the financial ability to purchase and neiimon hand and display Sea I's current product model
* maintain customer service ratings in compliancé\8éa Ra’s criteria;

« comply with those dealer’s obligations thatynb@ imposed or established by Sea Ray applicaldd t
domestic Sea Ray deale

« maintain a financial condition that is adequatsatisfy and perform its obligations under the agrest;

« achieve within designated time periods or rrzammotor dealer status (which is Sea Ray’s highes
performance status) or other applicable certiftoatequirements as established from time to tim8déy Ray
applicable to all domestic Sea Ray deal

« notify Sea Ray of the addition or deletion of astail locations

« sell Sea Ray products only on the basis of Seis published applicable limited warranty and maketter
warranty or representations concerning the limitedranty, expressed or implied, either verballynowriting;

* provide timely warranty service on all Sea Ray piaid presented to the dealer by purchasers in @acoe
with Sea Ray’s then current warranty program applie to all domestic Sea Ray dealers selling coaigpar
Sea Ray products; al

» provide Sea Ray with access to the dealerdk®and records and such other information as Sgaiay
reasonably request to verify the accuracy of theamy claims submitted to Sea Ray by the dealdr reigart
to such warranty claim:
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Sea Ray has agreed to indemnify each of our deadgtisst any losses to third parties resulting f&ea Ray’s
negligent acts or omissions involving the desigmanufacture of any of its products or any breacht bf the
agreement. Each of our dealers has agreed to infieBea Ray against any losses to third partiegltiag from the
dealer’s negligent acts or omissions involvingdiealer’'s application, use, or repair of Sea Raylpets, statements
or representation not specifically authorized bg Bay, the installation of any after market compas®r any other
modification or alteration of Sea Ray products, ang breach by the dealer of the agreement.

Each dealer agreement may be terminated

« by Sea Ray, upon 60 days prior written notiiclhie dealer fails or refuses to place a minimatotking order
of the next model year’s products in accordancé vatjuirements applicable to all Sea Ray dealensrgdly
or fails to meet its financial obligations as thmcome due to Sea Ray or to the d¢'s lenders

* by Sea Ray or the dealer, upon 60 days writterc@dti the other, in the event of a breach or defauthe
other with any of the of the material obligatiopsrformance standards, covenants, representatiansanties
or duties imposed by the agreement or the Sea Rayahthat has not been cured within 60 days ofthiee
of the claimed deficiency or within a reasonabléqaewhen the cure cannot be completed within a
60-day period, or at the end of the 60-g@yiod without the opportunity to cure when thessaaonstitutes bi
faith;

* by Sea Ray or the dealer if the other makieawaulent misrepresentation that is material ®oareement or
the other engages in an incurable act of bad t

» by Sea Ray or the dealer in the event of the irsaly, bankruptcy, or receivership of the otl

« by Sea Ray in the event of the assignmerti@Bgreement by the dealer without the prior writtensent of
Sea Ray

« by Sea Ray upon at least 15 dgy#or written notice in the event of the failuregay any sums due and ow
to Sea Ray that are not disputed in good faith;

« upon the mutual consent of Sea Ray and the de

Employees

As of September 30, 2010, we had 1,158 employe#81 bf whom were in store-level operations andb7
whom were in corporate administration and managéniée are not a party to any collective bargairaggeements.
We consider our relations with our employees texeellent.

Trademarks and Service Marks

We have registered trade names and trademarkgheit.S. Patent and Trademark Office for variounes
including “MarineMax,” “MarineMax Getaways,” “MargMax Care,” “Delivering the Dream,” “MarineMax
Delivering the Boating Dream,” “Newcoast Financgarvices,” “MarineMax Boating Gear Center,” and “iven on
Water.” We have registered the name “MarineMaxthia European Community. We have trade name andrrack
applications pending in Canada for various namrmesyding “MarineMax,” “Delivering the Dream,” and’'the Water
Gene.” There can be no assurance that any of #pgsieations will be granted.

Seasonality and Weather Conditions

Our business, as well as the entire recreatioratifgindustry, is highly seasonal, with seasopalitrying in
different geographic markets. Over the three-yeaiop ended September 30, 2010, the average reVentree
guarters ended December 31, March 31, June 3G eapittmber 30 represented approximately 21%, 25%, a8d
26%, respectively, of our average annual revenivih the exception of Florida, we generally realsgnificantly
lower sales and higher levels of inventories atated short-term borrowings, in the quarterly pesi@nding
December 31 and March 31. The onset of the publit &nd recreation shows in January stimulatesdades and
typically allows us to reduce our inventory levets related short-term borrowings throughout tmeaieder of the
fiscal year.
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Our business is also subject to weather patternshsmay adversely affect our results of operatidits
example, drought conditions (or merely reducedfadlitevels) or excessive rain, may close areaibgdbcations or
render boating dangerous or inconvenient, therebtaiing customer demand for our products. In dddj
unseasonably cool weather and prolonged winteritiond may lead to a shorter selling season iregefocations.
Hurricanes and other storms could result in disomgstof our operations or damage to our boat iroréed and
facilities, as has been the case when Florida #met onarkets were affected by hurricanes. Althoogthgeographic
diversity is likely to reduce the overall impactus of adverse weather conditions in any one manlest, these
conditions will continue to represent potential temial adverse risks to us and our future finang@aformance.

Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues

Our operations are subject to extensive regulatiopervision, and licensing under various fedetalte, and
local statutes, ordinances, and regulations. Widdelieve that we maintain all requisite licenaed permits and a
in compliance with all applicable federal, stated éocal regulations, there can be no assurant¢evihavill be able to
maintain all requisite licenses and permits. Tlileifa to satisfy those and other regulatory requiats could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finar@atlition, and results of operations. The adoptibadditional laws
rules, and regulations could also have a matediatise effect on our business. Various federate stand local
regulatory agencies, including the Occupationaéfadind Health Administration, or OSHA, the Unitethtes
Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, and simiéaleral and local agencies, have jurisdictionrdkie operatiol
of our dealerships, repair facilities, and otheerapions with respect to matters such as consurogeqgtion, workers’
safety, and laws regarding protection of the emritent, including air, water, and soil.

The EPA has various air emissions regulations fitb@ard marine engines that impose more strictgans
standards for two-cycle, gasoline outboard marimgres. The majority of the outboard marine engimesell are
manufactured by Mercury Marine. Mercury Marine’sguct line of low-emission engines, including thgti®ax,
Verado, and other four-stroke outboards, have aehli¢he EPA’s mandated 2006 emission levels. Angeimsed
costs of producing engines resulting from EPA saadsl, or the inability of our manufacturers to cynpith EPA
requirements, could have a material adverse effectur business.

Certain of our facilities own and operate undergobatorage tanks, or USTSs, for the storage of uario
petroleum products. The USTs are generally subjefetderal, state, and local laws and regulatibas tequire testir
and upgrading of USTs and remediation of contarethabils and groundwater resulting from leaking 8.9
addition, if leakage from company-owned or operdi&I's migrates onto the property of others, we begubject
to civil liability to third parties for remediationosts or other damages. Based on historical expez| we believe th
our liabilities associated with UST testing, upgradand remediation are unlikely to have a matadakrse effect on
our financial condition or operating results.

As with boat dealerships generally, and parts @&ndice operations in particular, our business imgslthe use,
handling, storage, and contracting for recyclinglisposal of hazardous or toxic substances or waisteluding
environmentally sensitive materials, such as moilpwaste motor oil and filters, transmission fluantifreeze, freo
waste paint and lacquer thinner, batteries, sodydubricants, degreasing agents, gasoline, arsldieels.

Accordingly, we are subject to regulation by fediestate, and local authorities establishing rezmients for the
use, management, handling, and disposal of thetsriala and health and environmental quality stesislaand
liability related thereto, and providing penaltfes violations of those standards. We are alsoestlip laws,
ordinances, and regulations governing investigagiot remediation of contamination at facilities eperate to whic
we send hazardous or toxic substances or wastée&iment, recycling, or disposal.

We do not believe we have any material environméiatailities or that compliance with environmentaivs,
ordinances, and regulations will, individually arthe aggregate, have a material adverse effestiohusiness,
financial condition, or results of operations. Hoee soil and groundwater contamination has beenvkirto exist at
certain properties owned or leased by us. We hiseebeen required and may in the future be requobedmove
aboveground and underground storage tanks congalivdimardous substances or wastes. As to certaiarof
properties, specific releases of petroleum have beare in the process of being remedied in acoue with state
and federal guidelines. We are monitoring the aod groundwater as required by applicable statdfedetal
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guidelines. In addition, the shareholders of thguged dealers have indemnified us for specificiemmental issue
identified on environmental site assessments paddrby us as part of the acquisitions. We mairitesarance for
pollutant cleanup and removal. The coverage payshtoexpenses to extract pollutants from land atewat the
insured property, if the discharge, dispersal, agepmigration, release, or escape of the pollsiisntaused by or
results from a covered cause of loss. We also hdu#@ional storage tank liability insurance and p8rfund”
coverage where applicable. In addition, certainwfretail locations are located on waterways #natsubject to
federal or state laws regulating navigable wated(ding oil pollution prevention), fish and wilt#, and other
matters.

Two of the properties we own were historically ussdyasoline service stations. Remedial action reibect to
prior historical site activities on these propesti@s been completed in accordance with federastate law. Also,
one of our properties is within the boundaries tSaperfund” site, although neither property hasrbaeor is
expected to be identified as a contributor to thret@mination in the area. We, however, do not belibat these
environmental issues will result in any materiabllities to us.

Additionally, certain states have required or aresidering requiring a license in order to opeeatecreational
boat. While such licensing requirements are noeetgrl to be unduly restrictive, regulations magaisage
potential first-time buyers, thereby limiting fueusales, which could adversely affect our busirf@smcial
condition, and results of operations.

Product Liability

The products we sell or service may expose us teengial liabilities for personal injury or propertiamage
claims relating to the use of those products. Hisadly, the resolution of product liability clainteas not materially
affected our business. Our manufacturers genaraiyntain product liability insurance, and we maimthird-party
product liability insurance, which we believe tod@equate. However, we may experience legal clairazcess of
our insurance coverage, and those claims may nobwered by insurance. Furthermore, any significkaims
against us could adversely affect our businesantiial condition, and results of operations andltés negative
publicity. Excessive insurance claims also couklitein increased insurance premiums.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environmentaditition to facing competition generally from restien
businesses seeking to attract consumers’ leismedind discretionary spending dollars, the reaeatiboat industry
itself is highly fragmented, resulting in intensampetition for customers, quality products, boaivglspace, and
suitable retail locations. We rely to a certainegitton boat shows to generate sales. Our inabdliparticipate in boat
shows in our existing or targeted markets coulcehewmaterial adverse effect on our business, finhoondition,
and results of operations.

We compete primarily with singliecation boat dealers and, with respect to salesasfne equipment, parts, a
accessories, with national specialty marine stara@syog retailers, sporting goods stores, and masshants. Dealer
competition continues to increase based on thetguxdlavailable products, the price and valueh# products, and
attention to customer service. There is significarhpetition both within markets we currently seavel in new
markets that we may enter. We compete in eachofmaukets with retailers of brands of boats andregywe do nc
sell in that market. In addition, several of oumgetitors, especially those selling boating acagssoare large
national or regional chains that have substarnitialnicial, marketing, and other resources. Howewerbelieve that
our integrated corporate infrastructure and mankesind sales capabilities, our cost structure camchationwide
presence enable us to compete effectively agdiesetcompanies. Private sales of used boats repeesadditional
significant source of competition.
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Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information concerieach of our executive officers:

Name Age Position

William H. McGill Jr. 66 Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Execu
Officer, and Directo

Michael H. McLamb 45  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary, and Directt

Edward A. Russe 5C Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Off

Kurt M. Frahn 42 Vice President of Finance and Treast

Jack P. Ezze 4C Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer, and Cofier

Paulee C. Da 41 Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant &gy

William H. McGill Jr. has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Mavlag since January 23, 1998 and as the
Chairman of the Board and as a director of our amygsince March 6, 1998. Mr. McGill served as thesRlent of
our company from January 23, 1988 until Septemb2080 and ressumed the position on July 1, 2002. Mr. Mc
was the principal owner and president of Gulfwin8AJ Inc., one of our operating subsidiaries, frod73 until its
merger with us.

Michael H. McLambhas served as Executive Vice President of our cagnpace October 2002, as Chief
Financial Officer since January 23, 1998, as Sagyetince April 5, 1998, and as a director sinceéober 1, 2003.
Mr. McLamb served as Vice President and Treasureuncompany from January 23, 1998 until Octolizr2002.
Mr. McLamb, a certified public accountant, was eoyeld by Arthur Andersen LLP from December 1987 to
December 1997, serving most recently as a senioagd.

Edward A. Russellas served as Executive Vice President and Chiefadipg Officer of our company since
February 2010. Mr. Russell served as Executive Piesident of Operations and Sales of our compamy f
February 2008 until February 2010. Mr. Russell sdras Vice President of Operations of our compemy f
March 2006 until February 2008, and as a Vice Heggiof our company from October 22, 2002 until 8/e2006.
Mr. Russell served as the Regional Manager of tanida operations from August 1, 2002 until OctoB2r 2002 an
as the District President for our Central and Wistida operations from March 1998 until Augus2@02.

Mr. Russell was an owner and General Sales Marad@ulfwind USA Inc., one of our operating subsitka, now
called MarineMax of Central Florida, from 1984 liits merger with our company in March 1998.

Kurt M. Frahnhas served as Vice President of Finance and Trerasiour company since October 22, 2002.
Mr. Frahn served as Director of Taxes and Acquisgiof our company from May 15, 1998 until Octob2r 2002.
Mr. Frahn was employed by Arthur Andersen LLP fr8eptember 3, 1991 until May 15, 1998, serving mestntly
as a tax consulting manager.

Jack P. Ezzelas served as Vice President and Chief Accountiifiged of our company since October 22, 2!
and as Corporate Controller of our company since Iy 1999. Mr. Ezzell served as Assistant Comrdibm
January 13, 1998 until June 1, 1999. Mr. Ezzetewified public accountant, was employed by ArtAndersen LLF
from August 1996 until January 1998, serving mesently as a senior auditor.

Paulee C. Dayas served as Vice President of our company siabeuiry 2009 and as General Counsel and
Assistant Secretary since January 2003. Ms. Dagicive member of the Florida Bar, was employed/aygxim
Medical from May 1999 to November 2002, serving/a= President, General Counsel, and Secretargr Rrithat
time, Ms. Day was Corporate Attorney at Eckerd @aation from June 1997 through May 1999 and a aaiteo
attorney at the law firm Trenam, Kemker, Scharfikgda Frye, O’Neill and Mullis, P.A. from Januan®d5 through
June 1997.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

General economic conditions and consumer spendirdgt@rns can negatively impact our operating resuliéd
the severe recession that began in late 2007 haseeskly affected the boating industry and our compa

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating results
Unfavorable local, regional, national, or globabeemic developments or uncertainties regarding-éuéconomic
prospects could reduce consumer spending in thkatsave serve and adversely affect our businesmdguic
conditions in areas in which we operate dealersipiadicularly Florida in which we generated 43%%4 and 54%
of our revenue during fiscal 2008, 2009, and 2@Kpectively, can have a major impact on our op@ratiLocal
influences, such as corporate downsizing, militsage closings, and inclement weather, also coudradly affect
our operations in certain markets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionaryigjpey levels generally decline, at times resulfimg
disproportionately large reductions in the saltugfiry goods. Consumer spending on luxury goods rday decline
as a result of lower consumer confidence levelsnef/prevailing economic conditions are favoral®i#hough we
have expanded our operations during periods ohatatgor modestly declining industry trends, thelicat nature of
the recreational boating industry or the lack afuistry growth could adversely affect our businésgncial
condition, or results of operations in the futukay period of adverse economic conditions or lowmsiamer
confidence has a negative effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factorstaely
affected our business in fiscal 2007 and continuedkness in consumer spending resulting from sntiata
weakness in the financial markets and deterioraganomic conditions had a very substantial negatffect on our
business in fiscal 2008, 2009, and 2010. Our rezelacreased from $1.2 billion in fiscal 2007, t8%$& million in
fiscal 2008, to $588.6 million in fiscal 2009, atwd$450.3 million in fiscal 2010. Our earnings desed from a net
income of $20.1 million in fiscal 2007 to a netdasf $134.3 million in fiscal 2008 (including a $L.2 million
goodwill impairment charge), a net loss of $76.8iari in fiscal 2009, and a net income of $2.5 ioitlin fiscal 201!
(including a $19.2 million tax refund). These sualngially deteriorating economic and financial cdiwdis have had a
greater impact on many other participants in thetibg industry, with certain manufacturers and eieateasing
business operations or filing for bankruptcy. Whhie reduction in boating industry participants migave a long-
term positive impact on our company’s competitiesiion, we are facing and expect to continue ¢t fshort-term
competitive pressure resulting from decreasedmggefirices as a result of forced sales and otheidiédions of excess
inventory.

These conditions caused us to defer our acquigitiogram, delay new store openings, reduce ountove
purchases, engage in inventory reduction effoltssecsome of our retail locations, reduce our heaxt; and amend
our credit facility. While we believe the steps have taken to date will enable us to emerge fragrcthrrent
economic environment as a stronger and more pbiditzompany, we cannot predict the length or sgvefithese
unfavorable economic or financial conditions or éx¢ent to which they will adversely affect our ogaéng results nc
can we predict the effectiveness of the measurdsawe taken to address this environment or whettiditional
measures will be necessary. A continuation of degae@ economic factors could have additional negatifects on
our company, including interfering with our supplfycertain brands by manufacturers, reduced maretnd other
support by manufacturers, decreased revenue, additpressures on margins, and our failure tofgatsvenants
under our credit agreement.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds canvadsely affect our ability to obtain adequate baaventory
and the ability and willingness of our customersfioance boat purchases.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds caweasely affect our ability to obtain and maintagtequate boz
inventory and the holding costs of that inventosygell as the ability and willingness of our cusesmto finance bo
purchases. As of September 30, 2010, we had neteongdebt. We rely on our credit facility to puasie and
maintain our inventory of boats. Our ability to mw under our credit facility depends on our apitit continue to
satisfy our covenants and other obligations undeicoedit facility. The aging of our inventory litaiour borrowing
capacity as defined provisions in our credit fagiteduce the allowable advance rate as our
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inventory ages. Our access to funds under ourtdigdlity also depends upon the ability of ourden, GECDF, tc
meet its funding commitments, particularly if itpetiences shortages of capital or experiences sixeegolumes of
borrowing requests from others during a short geoibtime. A continuation of depressed economiaditions, weak
consumer spending, turmoil in the credit markats, lender difficulties could interfere with our ityi to maintain
compliance with our debt covenants and to utiliae aredit facility to fund our operations. Accorgly, it may be
necessary for us to close additional stores, furduce our expense structure, or modify the camtnwith our
lender. Any inability to utilize our credit faciitor the acceleration of amounts owed, resultiogifa covenant
violation, insufficient collateral, or lender ditfilties, could require us to seek other sourcdarafing to repay
amounts outstanding under our credit facility glaee or supplement our credit facility, which nreot be possible
all or under commercially reasonable terms.

Our credit facility provides a floor plan financiegmmitment of $100 million and allows us to regues
$50 million increase to this commitment under acoadion feature, subject to GECDF approval. Théatetal for
our credit facility is all of our personal propertyth certain limited exceptions. None of our reatate has been
pledged as collateral under our credit facility@dsSeptember 30, 2010, we were in compliance witbfahe credit
facility covenants and our additional availablerbarings under our credit facility were approximgt&#.2 million.

Similarly, decreases in the availability of creglitd increases in the cost of credit adversely affecability of
our customers to purchase boats from us and themhsrsely affects our ability to sell our produatsl impacts the
profitability of our finance and insurance actiggi Tight credit conditions during fiscal 2008¢c&62009, and fiscal
2010 adversely affected the ability of customerfrtance boat purchases, which had a negativetadfeour
operating results.

Our strategies to enhance our performance may netduccessful.

We are increasing our efforts to grow our financimgl insurance, parts and accessory, service,@aidtorage
businesses to better serve our customers and thiex@kease revenue and improve profitability tosth@igher margi
businesses. In addition, we are implementing aggreprograms to substantially increase the sade the Internet
of used boats, parts, accessories, and a wide cdrigmating supplies and products. These effortsngrams are
designed to increase our revenue and reduce oendepce on the sale of new boats. These busirigatvas will
require us to add personnel, enter businessesighwie do not have extensive experience, and ertepgnbstantial
competition. As a result, our strategies to enhaneeyerformance may not be successful and we magase our
expenses.

Our success depends to a significant extent onwredl being, as well as the continued popularity areputation
for quality of the boating products, of our manufaurers, particularly Brunswick’s Sea Ray, Boston \dler,
Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian boat lines and AzimBenetti Group’s Azimut products.

Approximately 41% of our revenue in fiscal 2010ule=d from sales of new boats manufactured by Briois
including approximately 27% from Brunswick’s SeayRlwvision and approximately 14% from Brunswickther
divisions. The remainder of our fiscal 2010 revefroen new boat sales resulted from sales of pradirtom a limitec
number of other manufacturers, none of which actalifor more than 10% of our revenue.

We depend on our manufacturers to provide us witkycts that compare favorably with competing prislin
terms of quality, performance, safety, and advarfieatiires, including the latest advances in propuland
navigation systems. Any adverse change in the ptamuefficiency, product development efforts, teclogical
advancement, marketplace acceptance, marketingititipa, and financial condition of our manufacits,
particularly Brunswick given our reliance on Segy RBoston Whaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Meridian, ldbave a
substantial adverse impact on our business. Arigdifies encountered by any of our manufacturgesticularly
Brunswick, resulting from economic, financial, dher factors could adversely affect the quality antbunt of
products that they are able to supply to us andé¢neces and support they provide to us.

The interruption or discontinuance of the operatiohBrunswick or other manufacturers could cais®u
experience shortfalls, disruptions, or delays wétbpect to needed inventory. Although we beliewat #ilequate
alternate sources would be available that coulthoepany manufacturer other than Brunswick as duysrtosource,

24




Table of Contents

those alternate sources may not be available aintteeof any interruption, and alternative produoisy not be
available at comparable quality and prices.

We maintain dealer agreements with Brunswick canpB8ea Ray products. Each dealer agreement hakia mu
year term and provides for the lowest product gridearged by the Sea Ray division of Brunswick ftomre to time
to other domestic Sea Ray dealers. These ternsibject to

« the dealer meeting all the requirements and camditof Sea R¢'s applicable programs; al

« the right of Brunswick in good faith to charge lesprices to other deale

» to meet existing competitive circumstanc
« for unusual and nc-ordinary business circumstances

« for limited duration promotional prograr

Each dealer agreement designates a specific gdogaaferritory for the dealer, which is exclusiwethe dealer
so long as the dealer is not in breach of the ri@teligations and performance standards undeagfneement and
Sea Ray’s then current material policies and progréollowing notice and the expiration of any apable cure
periods without cure.

We also maintain dealer agreements with Hatterasrowy Hatteras products. Each agreement allowtekat tc
revise prices at any time, and such new pricesswillersede previous prices. Pursuant to the agregnvee must
bear any losses we incur as a result of such phiaages and may not recover from Hatteras for asgek. In
addition, certain of our dealerships may not repmesnanufacturers or product lines that competctir with
Hatteras without its prior written consent.

Upon the completion of the Surfside-3 acquisitiotMarch 2006, we became the exclusive dealer famAt
Benetti Group’s Azimut product line for the Nortse&nited States. In September 2008, our geograplritory was
expanded to include Florida. The Azimut dealer egrent provides a geographic territory to promogepioduct line
and to network with the appropriate clientele tlylowarious independent locations designated fomiriretail sales

As is typical in the industry, we generally deathwinanufacturers, other than the Sea Ray divisid@ranswick,
under renewable annual dealer agreements. Thesenagnts do not contain any contractual provisiameerning
product pricing or required purchasing levels. iAgds generally established on a model year basisis subject to
change in the manufacturer’s sole discretion. Amgngie or termination of these arrangements fore@agon could
adversely affect product availability and cost and financial performance.

Boat manufacturers exercise substantial control ovair business.

We depend on our dealer agreements. Through degleements, boat manufacturers, including Brunswick
exercise significant control over their dealerstniet them to specified locations, and retain appf rights over
changes in management and ownership, among oihgstiThe continuation of our dealer agreementl mibst
manufacturers, including Brunswick, depends upamrag other things, our achieving stated goals fistamer
satisfaction ratings and market share penetratidthe market served by the applicable dealerslajpuife to meet the
customer satisfaction, market share goals, and otivalitions set forth in any dealer agreementatdalve various
consequences, including the following:

« the termination of the dealer agreem:

« the imposition of additional conditions in subsenfudealer agreement

« limitations on boat inventory allocatior

« reductions in reimbursement rates for warranty wagiormed by the deale
* loss of certain manufacturer to dealer incentioe:

« denial of approval of future acquisitior
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Our dealer agreements with certain manufactunectjding Brunswick, do not give us the exclusightito sell
those manufacturers’ products within a given geplgical area. Accordingly, a manufacturer, includBrginswick,
could authorize another dealer to start a new d&gfein proximity to one or more of our locations,an existing
dealer could move a dealership to a location ttmtlvbe directly competitive with us. These evemsld have a
material adverse effect on our competitive positiad financial performance.

The failure to receive rebates and other dealeréntives on inventory purchases or retail sales abul
substantially reduce our margins.

We rely on manufacturergrograms that provide incentives for dealers telpase and sell particular boat me
and models or for consumers to buy particular boates or models. Any eliminations, reductions, tatidns, or
other changes relating to rebate or incentive @nogrthat have the effect of reducing the beneftseateive, whethe
relating to the ability of manufacturers to payoar ability to qualify for such incentive progranesuld increase the
effective cost of our boat purchases, reduce ougimaand competitive position, and have a matewiakrse effect
on our financial performance.

Fuel prices and supply may affect our business.

All of the recreational boats we sell are powergdliesel or gasoline engines. Consequently, amrirgéon in
the supply, or a significant increase in the pdcéax on the sale of fuel on a regional or natidy@sis could have a
material adverse effect on our sales and operagisigits. Increases in fuel prices (such as thasgeottturred during
fiscal 2008) negatively impact boat sales. At vasitimes in the past, diesel or gasoline fuel lenifficult to
obtain. The supply of fuels may be interruptedprahg may be imposed, or the price of or tax oglgumay
significantly increase in the future, adversely &ofing our business.

The availability of boat insurance is critical touy success.

The ability of our customers to secure reasonatbty@dable boat insurance that is satisfactory twérs that
finance our customers’ purchases is critical tosuacess. Historically, affordable boat insuraree leen available.
With the hurricanes that have impacted the statdarfda and other markets over the past sevematyénsurance
rates have escalated and insurance coverage haméecore difficult to obtain. In addition, as a se/storm
approaches land, insurance providers cease untdiegwintil the storm has passed. This loss of iasce prohibits
lenders from lending. As a result, sales of boatshe temporarily halted making our revenue diffitw predict and
potentially causing sales to be cancelled. Anyialiffy of customers to obtain affordable boat irswre could impec
boat sales and adversely affect our business.

Other recreational activities and poor industry pgmption can adversely affect the levels of boatghases.

Other recreational activities and poor industrycpetion can adversely affect the levels of boatipases. As a
seller of high-end consumer products, we must coenfoe discretionary spending with a wide variefyother
recreational activities and consumer purchaseaddition, perceived hassles of boat ownership afadively poor
customer service and customer education througheuttail boat industry represent impedimentsoat ipurchases.
Our customer-centric strategy is intended to ovyaesthese perceptions.

Adverse federal tax policies can have a negatiieefon us.

Changes in federal and state tax laws, such ampwsition of luxury taxes on new boat purchaseggimses in
prevailing tax rates, and weak stock market peréoree also influence consumers’ decisions to puechesducts we
offer and could have a negative effect on our sélesexample, during 1991 and 1992, the federaégonent
imposed a luxury tax on new recreational boats gatles prices in excess of $100,000, which coimcidiéh a sharp
decline in boating industry sales from a high ofrentthan $17.9 billion in 1988 to a low of $10.3ibih in 1992. Any
increase in tax rates, including those on cap##igiand dividends, particularly those on high-medaxpayers,
could adversely affect our boat sales.
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Our success depends, in part, on our ability to tiane to make successful acquisitions and to intatg the
operations of acquired dealers and each dealer wequare in the future.

Since March 1, 1998, we have acquired 20 recredtlomat dealers, two boat brokerage operationshaodull-
service yacht repair facilities. Each acquired deaperated independently prior to its acquisitigrus. Our success
depends, in part, on our ability to continue to maliccessful acquisitions and to integrate theatipers of acquired
dealers, including centralizing certain functioasthieve cost savings and pursuing programs amskpses that
promote cooperation and the sharing of opportunaied resources among our dealerships. We mayeratilb to
oversee the combined entity efficiently or to immpent effectively our growth and operating strategiko the extent
that we successfully pursue our acquisition stsategr resulting growth will place significant atldhnal demands on
our management and infrastructure. Our failureuspe successfully our acquisition strategies erate effectively
the combined entity could have a material adveiffeeteon our rate of growth and operating perforoean

Unforeseen expenses, difficulties, and delays fregtly encountered in connection with rapid expansio
through acquisitions could inhibit our growth and egatively impact our profitability.

Our growth strategy of acquiring additional reciaail boat dealers involves significant risks. Tétigtegy
entails reviewing and potentially reorganizing aced business operations, corporate infrastrucuacesystems, and
financial controls. Unforeseen expenses, diffieglitiand delays frequently encountered in conneutitinrapid
expansion through acquisitions could inhibit ousvgth and negatively impact our profitability. We yriae unable to
identify suitable acquisition candidates or to céetgthe acquisitions of candidates that we idgnlifcreased
competition for acquisition candidates or increaasking prices by acquisition candidates may irsggaurchase
prices for acquisitions to levels beyond our finiahcapability or to levels that would not resultthe returns require
by our acquisition criteria. Acquisitions also magcome more difficult in the future as we acqui@enof the most
attractive dealers. In addition, we may encounifficdlties in integrating the operations of acqdrdealers with our
own operations or managing acquired dealers phfitaithout substantial costs, delays, or otherrafienal or
financial problems.

We may issue common or preferred stock and indostantial indebtedness in making future acquisitidrne
size, timing, and integration of any future acgiosis may cause substantial fluctuations in opegatésults from
quarter to quarter. Consequently, operating regoiitany quarter may not be indicative of the restiiat may be
achieved for any subsequent quarter or for a gkl year. These fluctuations could adverselycafiiee market price
of our common stock.

Our ability to continue to grow through the acqtidsi of additional dealers will depend upon varidastors,
including the following:

« the availability of suitable acquisition candidag¢sattractive purchase price

« the ability to compete effectively for availablegaésition opportunities

« the availability of borrowed funds or common stedkh a sufficient market price to complete the @sijions;
« the ability to obtain any requisite manufacturegovernmental approval

« the ability to obtain approval of our lender undear current credit agreement; &

« the absence of one or more manufacturers attemjatimypose unsatisfactory restrictions on us inngmtion
with their approval of acquisition

As a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequestigage in discussions with various recreationat blealers
regarding their potential acquisition by us. In gection with these discussions, we and each patextguisition
candidate exchange confidential operational arahfifal information, conduct due diligence inquiriasd consider
the structure, terms, and conditions of the paadatiquisition. In certain cases, the prospectoepisition candidate
agrees not to discuss a potential acquisition ity other party for a specific period of time, gsans an option to
purchase the prospective dealer for a designated guring a specific time, and agrees
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to take other actions designed to enhance thelplitysof the acquisition, such as preparing audlifi|ancial
information and converting its accounting systerth®system specified by us. Potential acquisidiscussions
frequently take place over a long period of timd arvolve difficult business integration and otlgsues, including
in some cases, management succession and relatedanAs a result of these and other factors,ralrar of
potential acquisitions that from time to time appldeely to occur do not result in binding legalragments and are
not consummated.

We may be required to obtain the consent of Brunskvand various other manufacturers prior to the agigition
of other dealers.

In determining whether to approve acquisitions, afacturers may consider many factors, including our
financial condition and ownership structure. Mamtifigers also may impose conditions on granting tyeprovals fc
acquisitions, including a limitation on the numioétheir dealers that we may acquire. Our abilityrteet
manufacturers’ requirements for approving futurguasitions will have a direct bearing on our alilib complete
acquisitions and effect our growth strategy. Thene be no assurance that a manufacturer will motinate its deale
agreement, refuse to renew its dealer agreemduseréo approve future acquisitions, or take odwtion that could
have a material adverse effect on our acquisitrog@m.

We and the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick have aeagent extending through June 2015 that provides a
process for the acquisition of additional Sea Ragtloealers that desire to be acquired by us. Uthéesgreement,
acquisitions of Sea Ray dealers will be mutuallseag upon by us and Sea Ray with reasonable effolts made to
include a balance of Sea Ray dealers that havesemessful and those that have not been. Theragreagrovides
that Sea Ray will not unreasonably withhold itssemt to any proposed acquisition of a Sea Ray dbglas, subject
to the conditions set forth in the agreement. Amotingr things, the agreement requires us to pradsefeRay with a
business plan for each proposed acquisition, imegubistorical financial and five-year projecteddncial
information regarding the acquisition candidaterkating and advertising plans; service capabilitied managerial
and staff personnel; information regarding theigbdf the candidate to achieve performance statglathin
designated periods; and information regarding tleeess of our previous acquisitions of Sea Rayedealhe
agreement also contemplates Sea Ray reaching afgittodetermination whether the acquisition woloddin its best
interest based on our dedication and focus of reegwn the Sea Ray brand and Sea Ray’s cons@erdtany
adverse effects that the approval would have omebelting territory configuration and adjacenbtiner dealers salt
and the absence of any violation of applicable lamsghts granted by Sea Ray to others.

Our growth strategy also entails expanding our pebtines and geographic scope by obtaining additio
distribution rights from our existing and new maamitirers. We may not be able to secure additiasailzlition
rights or obtain suitable alternative sources @ipdy if we are unable to obtain such distributigghts. The inability
to expand our product lines and geographic scopabbgining additional distribution rights could leea material
adverse effect on the growth and profitability of dbusiness.

Our growth strategy may require us to secure sigedgint additional capital, the amount of which wilepend
upon the size, timing, and structure of future adgitions and our working capital and general corpate needs.

If we finance future acquisitions in whole or inrpiarough the issuance of common stock or seegriti
convertible into or exercisable for common stocisng stockholders will experience dilution iretloting power ¢
their common stock and earnings per share couliebatively impacted. The extent to which we willdide and
willing to use our common stock for acquisitionslhwdepend on the market value of our common stouktae
willingness of potential sellers to accept our cosnmstock as full or partial consideration. Our iitigbto use our
common stock as consideration, to generate caghdperations, or to obtain additional funding thgbwebt or
equity financings in order to pursue our acquisifiwogram could materially limit our growth.

Any borrowings made to finance future acquisitiongor operations could make us more vulnerabie to
downturn in our operating results, a downturn iaremmic conditions, or increases in interest ratebarrowings that
are subject to interest rate fluctuations. If castcflow from operations is insufficient to meet debt service
requirements, we could be required to sell addiii@uuity securities, refinance our obligationsgdispose of assets
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in order to meet our debt service requirementsdidition, our credit arrangement contains financislenants an
other restrictions with which we must comply, irditug limitations on the incurrence of additionad@btedness.
Adequate financing may not be available if and wiverneed it or may not be available on terms aetépto us.
The failure to obtain sufficient financing on faabte terms and conditions could have a materia¢sgveffect on o
growth prospects and our business, financial camdiand results of operations.

Our internal growth and operating strategies of agiag new locations and offering new products invelvisk.

In addition to pursuing growth by acquiring boaalkées, we intend to continue to pursue a stratégyawth
through opening new retail locations and offeriegvrproducts in our existing and new territoriescémplishing
these goals for expansion will depend upon a nurabfectors, including the following:

< our ability to identify new markets in whickevean obtain distribution rights to sell our exigtior additional
product lines

« our ability to lease or construct suitable faaltiat a reasonable cost in existing or new mar
« our ability to hire, train, and retain qualifiedrpennel;
« the timely integration of new retail locations irewisting operations

 our ability to achieve adequate market petietrat favorable operating margins without thewasitjon of
existing dealers; an

» our financial resource

Our dealer agreements with Brunswick require Bruok\s consent to open, close, or change retail locatioat
sell Sea Ray products, and other dealer agreergenggally contain similar provisions. We may notlée to open
and operate new retail locations or introduce nevdpct lines on a timely or profitable basis. More the costs
associated with opening new retail locations aoiticing new product lines may adversely affectpofitability.

As a result of these growth strategies, we exmeekpend significant time and effort in opening aeduiring
new retail locations and introducing new produ€sr systems, procedures, controls, and financ&luees may not
be adequate to support expanding operations. Himlity to manage our growth effectively could havenaterial
adverse effect on our business, financial conditam results of operations.

Our planned growth also will impose significant addesponsibilities on members of senior managearaht
require us to identify, recruit, and integrate &iddial senior level managers. We may not be abidemntify, hire, or
train suitable additions to management.

Our business, as well as the entire recreationabling industry, is highly seasonal, with seasonglitarying in
different geographic markets. In addition, weathand environmental conditions may adversely impaat o
business.

During the three-year period ended September 3),20e average revenue for the quarterly periodea@
December 31, March 31, June 30, and Septembemd@sented 21%, 25%, 28%, and 26%, respectivelyuof
average annual revenue. With the exception of ééonve generally realize significantly lower saesl higher level
of inventories and related short-term borrowingthie quarterly periods ending December 31 and MaticiThe
onset of the public boat and recreation showsmudgy stimulates boat sales and allows us to reduceventory
levels and related short-term borrowings throughloetremainder of the fiscal year. Our businessdcbecome
substantially more seasonal as we acquire dedlar®perate in colder regions of the United States.

Weather and environmental conditions may advelisghact our operating results. For example, drought
conditions, reduced rainfall levels, excessive mid environmental conditions, such as the BPpililis the Gulf of
Mexico, may force boating areas to close or rehdating dangerous or inconvenient, thereby cunigitiustomer
demand for our products. While we traditionally ntain a full range of insurance coverage for arghsevents, thei
can be no assurance that such insurance coveradedsate to cover losses that we sustain as k& resu
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of such disasters. In addition, unseasonably ceaithier and prolonged winter conditions may leaghturter selling
seasons in certain locations. Many of our dealpssbell boats to customers for use on reservhieseby subjecting
our business to the continued viability of thessereoirs for boating use. Although our geograplvesity and any
future geographic expansion will reduce the ovenafiact on us of adverse weather and environmentaditions in
any one market area, weather and environmentalittmmsiwill continue to represent potential mateadverse risks
to us and our future operating performance. Assalt®f the foregoing and other factors, our opegatesults in
some future quarters could be below the expectwtidistock market analysts and investors.

In addition, hurricanes and other storms couldltésuhe disruption of our operations or damageuo boat
inventories and facilities as has been the case \Wwl@ida and other markets has been affected hychnes. While
we traditionally maintain property and casualtyuirsice coverage for damage caused by hurricanesthedstorms
there can be no assurance that such insuranceagevisradequate to cover losses that we may sasamesult of
hurricanes and other storms.

We face intense competition.

We operate in a highly competitive environmentadidition to facing competition generally from nooaling
recreation businesses seeking to attract discagyspending dollars, the recreational boat inguself is highly
fragmented and involves intense competition fotauers, product distribution rights, and suitalgiai locations,
particularly on or near waterways. Competition @ases during periods of stagnant industry growthirg the
recent recession, we have also faced competit@n franks liquidating repossessed boats.

We compete primarily with single-location boat agaland, with respect to sales of marine partgssories,
and equipment, with national specialty marine pant3 accessories stores, catalog retailers, sgaytinds stores, a
mass merchants. Competition among boat dealeessidoon the quality of available products, theepaind value of
the products, and attention to customer servicerd s significant competition both within markets currently
serve and in new markets that we may enter. We etsrip each of our markets with retailers of brasfdsoats and
engines we do not sell in that market. In additeeveral of our competitors, especially thosersglfharine
equipment and accessories, are large nationab@mal chains that have substantial financial, rating, and other
resources. Private sales of used boats represeutditional source of competition.

Due to various matters, including environmentalaans, permitting and zoning requirements, and &titign
for waterfront real estate, some markets in thaddnStates have experienced an increased waisihfptimarina and
storage availability. In general, the markets irichtwe currently operate are not experiencing anysual
difficulties. However, marine retail activity coulse adversely effected in markets that do not Isa¥icient marine
and storage availability to satisfy demand.

We depend on income from financing, insurance, aegtended service contracts.

A portion of our income results from referral feksived from the placement or marketing of variinance an
insurance, or F&I, products, consisting of custofireancing, insurance products, and extended secantracts, the
most significant component of which is the parttipn and other fees resulting from our sale ofausr financing
contracts. During fiscal 2010, F&I products acceahtor 2.7% of our revenue.

The availability of financing for our boat purcheseand the level of participation and other feegeaeive in
connection with such financing depend on the paldicagreement between us and the lender and trentuate
environment. Lenders may impose terms in their inahcing arrangements with us that may be unfablerto us ¢
our customers, resulting in reduced demand forcagtomer financing programs and lower participadod other
fees. Customer financing became more difficultdouse during fiscal 2008, which continued in fis2@09 and fisce
2010.

The reduction of profit margins on sales of F&I gwots or the lack of demand for or the unavailgbiif these
products could have a material adverse effect oroperating margins.
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We depend on key personn

Our success depends, in large part, upon the congrefforts and abilities of our executive offiseAlthough
we have employment agreements with certain of recetive officers, we cannot assure that thesdtmrexecutive
personnel will remain with us. Expanding our opera may require us to add additional executivesqenel in the
future. As a result of our decentralized operatitigtegy, we also rely on the management teamsradezlerships.
addition, we likely will depend on the senior maaamgnt of any significant businesses we acquirberfuture. The
loss of the services of one or more of these keyleyees before we are able to attract and retaatifopd
replacement personnel could adversely affect osinlegs.

The products we sell or service may expose us temg@l liability for personal injury or property dmage claims
relating to the use of those products.

Manufacturers of the products we sell generallyntaain product liability insurance. We also maintiird-party
product liability insurance that we believe to ldequate. We may experience claims that are notreduzy or that
are in excess of our insurance coverage. Thedtistit of any significant claims against us coulbjsat us to
damages, result in higher insurance costs, and barrhusiness reputation with potential customers.

Environmental and other regulatory issues may impacr operations.

Our operations are subject to extensive regulatiopervision, and licensing under various fedetalte, and
local statutes, ordinances, and regulations. Theréato satisfy those and other regulatory requiats could have a
material adverse effect on our business, finar@atlition, and results of operations.

Various federal, state, and local regulatory ages)dncluding the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration, or OSHA, the United States Enviramtal Protection Agency, or EPA, and similar fetlaral local
agencies, have jurisdiction over the operationwfdealerships, repair facilities, and other openat, with respect to
matters such as consumer protection, workers’sadied laws regarding protection of the environmerdiuding air,
water, and soil. The EPA promulgated emissionslegigms for outboard marine engines that imposetstr
emissions standards for two-cycle, gasoline outbaaarine engines. The majority of the outboard neengines we
sell are manufactured by Mercury Marine. Mercuryrid@’s product line of low-emission engines, inchgithe
OptiMax, Verado, and other four-stroke outboard@siehachieved the EPA’s mandated 2006 emissiondesaly
increased costs of producing engines resulting M standards or the inability of our manufactsitercomply
with EPA requirements, could have a material adveffect on our business.

Certain of our facilities own and operate undergobatorage tanks, or USTSs, for the storage of uario
petroleum products. USTs are generally subjectderfal, state, and local laws and regulationsréwatire testing ar
upgrading of USTs and remediation of contaminatéid and groundwater resulting from leaking USTsatldition,
we may be subject to civil liability to third paeti for remediation costs or other damages if lealiegm our owned
or operated USTs migrates onto the property ofrsthe

Our business involves the use, handling, storawgcantracting for recycling or disposal of hazarslor toxic
substances or wastes, including environmentallgitiea materials, such as motor oil, waste motband filters,
transmission fluid, antifreeze, freon, waste paimd lacquer thinner, batteries, solvents, lubrsagégreasing agents,
gasoline, and diesel fuels. Accordingly, we argextito regulation by federal, state, and locahatities establishing
investigation and health and environmental qualigndards, and liability related thereto, and ptioyg penalties for
violations of those standards.

We also are subject to laws, ordinances, and régatagoverning investigation and remediation of
contamination at facilities we operate or to whiedr send hazardous or toxic substances or wastée&timent,
recycling, or disposal. In particular, the Compiediee Environmental Response, Compensation andlityaésct, or
CERCLA or “Superfund,” imposes joint, strict, areleral liability on

» owners or operators of facilities at, from, or tbigh a release of hazardous substances has occ
« parties that generated hazardous substances thateleased at such facilities; e

* parties that transported or arranged for the tramnapon of hazardous substances to such facil
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A majority of states have adopted Superfund statcdenparable to and, in some cases, more stritigamt
CERCLA. If we were to be found to be a responsalgy under CERCLA or a similar state statute, weld be held
liable for all investigative and remedial costsaasated with addressing such contamination. Intaafdiclaims
alleging personal injury or property damage maptmight against us as a result of alleged expdsurazardous
substances resulting from our operations. In agldittertain of our retail locations are locatedvaterways that are
subject to federal or state laws regulating navgakaters (including oil pollution prevention), fignd wildlife, and
other matters.

Soil and groundwater contamination has been knaovexist at certain properties owned or leased by\es
have also been required and may in the future dpgined to remove aboveground and underground stdeatks
containing hazardous substances or wastes. Astircef our properties, specific releases of detrm have been or
are in the process of being remediated in accosdauith state and federal guidelines. We are manigathe soil and
groundwater as required by applicable state aneréduidelines. We also may have additional sttagk liability
insurance and Superfund coverage where applicBhléronmental laws and regulations are complexsarject to
frequent change. Compliance with amended, new,averstringent laws or regulations, more strictriptetations of
existing laws, or the future discovery of enviromts conditions may require additional expenditlrgsis, and suc
expenditures may be material.

Two of the properties we own were historically ussdyasoline service stations. Remedial action regpect to
prior historical site activities on these propestieas been completed in accordance with federastatel law. Also,
one of our properties is within the boundaries Superfund site, although neither property has lidemtified as a
contributor to the contamination in the area.

Additionally, certain states have required or amesidering requiring a license in order to opeeatecreational
boat. These regulations could discourage potelntigbrs, thereby limiting future sales and adveraéfigcting our
business, financial condition, and results of opena.

The market price of our common stock could be sudtj® wide fluctuations as a result of many factors

Factors that could affect the trading price of coimmon stock include the following:

* variations in our operating resul

« the thin trading volume and relatively small publ@at of our common stocl
 our ability to continue to secure adequate levefnancing;

* variations in sarr-store sales

« general economic, political, and market conditic

« changes in earnings estimates published by ana

« the level and success of our acquisition progradhreaw store opening
« the success of dealership integrati

« relationships with manufacturel

« seasonality and weather conditio

» governmental policies and regulatio

« the performance of the recreational boat industryaneral; an

« factors relating to suppliers and competiti

In addition, market demand for small-capitalizat&tacks, and price and volume fluctuations in tioelsmarket
unrelated to our performance could result in sigaiift fluctuations in the market price of our conmstock.
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The performance of our common stock could adveratct our ability to raise equity in the publi@arkets anc
adversely affect our acquisition program.

The issuance of additional capital stock in the fug, including shares that we may issue pursuantstockbasec
grants, including stock option grants, and futurecquisitions, may result in dilution in the net tarigle book
value per share of our common stock.

Our board of directors has the legal power andaitthto determine the terms of an offering of s%aof our
capital stock, or securities convertible into ocleangeable for these shares, to the extent ofhaues of authorized
and unissued capital stock. The issuance of additicommon stock in the future, including shares the may issue
pursuant to stock-based grants, including stoclongrants, and future acquisitions, may resudiiation in the net
tangible book value per share of our common stdbk. issuance of additional capital stock in therfetincluding
shares that we may issue pursuant to stock-basetisgincluding stock option grants, and futureuggitjons, may
result in dilution in the net tangible book valuer ghare of our common stock.

A substantial number of shares are eligible for fue sale.

As of September 30, 2010, there were outstandint?82038 shares of our common stock. Substantdliyf
these shares are freely tradable without restriatiofurther registration under the securities lamdess held by an
“affiliate” of our company, as that term is definedRule 144 under the securities laws. SharesInekffiliates of
our company, which generally include our directofficers, and certain principal stockholders, subject to the
resale limitations of Rule 144 described below.stariding shares of common stock issued in conneetith the
acquisition of any acquired dealers are availabedsale beginning six months after the respectates of the
acquisitions, subject to compliance with the primns of Rule 144 under the securities laws.

As of September 30, 2010, we had issued optiopsitchase approximately 3,523,097 shares of comitoch s
and 830,317 restricted stock awards under our theestock plan, and we issued 348,319 sharesrofraan stock
under our employee stock purchase plan. We haam dilregistration statement under the securities ta register
the common stock to be issued under these plana.résult, shares issued under these plans wiitkledy tradable
without restriction unless acquired by affiliatdsoar company, who will be subject to the volumel ather
limitations of Rule 144.

We may issue additional shares of common stockefeped stock under the securities laws as paahgf
acquisition we may complete in the future. If istpeirsuant to an effective registration statemtbiese shares
generally will be freely tradable after their issua by persons not affiliated with us or the acegiicompanies.

We do not pay cash dividends.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commark sto

Our stockholders’ rights plan may adversely affeptisting stockholders.

Our Stockholders’ Rights Plan may have the effécteterring, delaying, or preventing a change intod that
might otherwise be in the best interests of oucldtolders. Under the Rights Plan, we issued a diddof one
Preferred Share Purchase Right for each sharerafomimon stock held by stockholders of record abefclose of
business on September 7, 2001.

In general, subject to certain limited exceptidhs, stock purchase rights become exercisable wipensan or
group acquires 15% or more of our common stocktender offer or exchange offer for 15% or morewf common
stock is announced or commenced. After any suchtegar other stockholders may purchase additishates of our
common stock at 50% of the then-current markegpridie rights will cause substantial dilution tpeason or group
that attempts to acquire us on terms not approyeslibboard of directors. The rights may be redebmeus at
$0.01 per stock purchase right at any time befoyepeerson or group acquires 15% or more of ourtanting
common stock. The rights should not interfere \aitly merger or other business combination approyeslibboard
of directors. The rights expire on August 28, 2011.
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Certain provisions of our restated certificate afdorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may maketeange
in the control of our company more difficult to coptete, even if a change in control were in the dtbolders’
interest or might result in a premium over the magkprice for the shares held by the stockholders.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws divioler board of directors into three classes of dinexcélected for
staggered three-year terms. The certificate ofrpm@tion also provides that the board of directoey authorize the
issuance of one or more series of preferred stack fime to time and may determine the rights, gnesices,
privileges, and restrictions and fix the numbesladires of any such series of preferred stock, withny vote or
action by our stockholders. The board of directnay authorize the issuance of preferred stock witing or
conversion rights that could adversely affect tbéng power or other rights of the holders of conmnstock. The
certificate of incorporation also allows our boafdlirectors to fix the number of directors andiliovacancies on th
board of directors.

We also are subject to the anti-takeover provisafrSection 203 of the Delaware General Corpordaltiaww,
which prohibits us from engaging in a “business bration” with an “interested stockholder” for arjoel of three
years after the date of the transaction in whiehpérson became “interested stockholder,” unless the business
combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

Certain of our dealer agreements could also madiffiitult for a third party to attempt to acquiaesignificant
ownership position in our company. In addition, sheckholders’ agreement and governance agreenikhiawe the
effect of increasing the control of our directasecutive officers, and persons associated witinthe

Our sales of Azimut-Benetti Group products may kivarsely affected by fluctuations in currency exaige
rates between the U.S. dollar and the euro.

Products purchased from Italy-based Azimut-Ber@&ttiup are subject to fluctuations in the euro t8.Ulollar
exchange rate, which ultimately may impact theilrptéice at which we can sell such products. Assuit,
fluctuations in the value of the euro compared i U.S. dollar may impact the price points atalhive can sell
profitably Azimut-Benetti Group products, and symfte points may not be competitive with other pradines in
the United States. Accordingly, such fluctuatiomgxchange rates ultimately may impact the amofirgv@nue, cos
of goods sold, cash flows, and earnings we recedioizthe Azimut-Benetti Group product lines. Thgact of these
currency fluctuations could increase, particuldriyur revenue from the Azimubenetti Group products increase ¢
percentage of our total revenue. We also couldritegses from hedging transactions designed toceedur risk to
fluctuation in exchange rates. We cannot predietaffiects of exchange rate fluctuations or curreaty hedges on
our operating results. Therefore, in certain casesmnay, from time to time, enter into foreign @mcy cash flow
hedges to reduce the variability of cash flows eisded with firm commitments to purchase boats yaxhts from
Azimut-Benetti Group. We cannot assure that owtsgies will adequately protect our operating rtssabm the
effects of exchange rate fluctuations.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen

Not applicable.

Iltem 2. Properties

We lease our corporate offices in Clearwater, BiriVe also lease 29 of our retail locations utekses, many
of which contain multi-year renewal options and sashwhich grant us a first right of refusal to plase the
property at fair value. In most cases, we pay edisent at negotiated rates. In substantiallyfathe leased locations,
we are responsible for taxes, utilities, insura@eel routine repairs and maintenance. We own thyegpty associated
with 26 other retail locations we operate and aiet jventure as noted below. Additionally, we owotretail
locations that are currently closed and one r&tadtion that is closed and available for sale.
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The following table reflects the status, approxiensize, and facilities of the various retail looas we operate
of the date of this report.

Square Operated

Location Location Type Footage(1) Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront

Alabama

Gulf Shores Company owne 4,00( Retail and servic 199¢ —

Arizona

Tempe Company owne 34,00( Retail and servic 199z —

California

San Diego (Shelter Island) Third-party leas 93C Retail and service; 20 wet 200t  San Diego Bay
slips

Colorado

Grand Junctiol Third-party leas 9,30( Retail, service, and stora 198¢ —

Connecticut

Norwalk Third-party leas 7,00¢ Retail and servic 1994  Norwalk Harbor

Florida

Cape Haz¢ Company owne 18,00( Retail, 8 wet slip: 197z  Intracoastal Waterwa

Clearwater Company owne 42,00( Retail and service; 20 wet 197  Tampa Bay
slips

Cocoa Company owne 15,00( Retail and servic 1966 —

Coconut Grove Third-party leas 2,00(¢ Retail only; 24 wet slip 200z  Biscayne Bay

Dania Company owne 32,00( Repair and service; 16 wet 1991  Port Everglades
slips

Destin Third-party leas 2,00( Retail only 201 —

Fort Myers Third-party leas 8,00( Retail and service; 18 wet 198z  Caloosahatchee River
slips

Jacksonville Company owne 15,00( Retail and servic 2004 —

Jacksonville Third-party leas 1,00 Retail only; 7 wet slip: 199t St Johns Rive

Key Largo Third-party leas 8,90( Retail and service; 6 wet 200z  Card Sound
slips

Miami Company owne 7,20( Retail and service; 15 wet 198C Little River
slips

Miami Company owne 5,00( Service only; 11 wet slip 200t  Little River

Naples Company owne 19,60( Retail and service; 14 wet 1997 Naples Bay
slips

Pensacol Third-party leas 24,30( Retail and servic 1974  —

Pompano Beach Company owne 23,00( Retail and service; 16 wet 199C Intracoastal Waterway
slips

Pompano Beach Company owne 5,40( Retail and service; 24 wet 200t  Intracoastal Waterway
slips

Sarasota Third-party leas 26,50( Retail, service, and storage; 197z  Sarasota Bay
15 wet slips

St. Petersburg(: Joint venture 15,00( Yacht service, 20 wet slif 200€ Boca Ciega Ba'

Stuart Company owne 29,10( Retail and service; 66 wet 200z Intracoastal Waterway
slips

Tampa Company owne 13,10( Retail and servic 1998 —

Venice Company owne 62,00( Retail, service, and storage; 1972 Intracoastal Waterway
90 wet slips

Georgia

Buford (Atlanta) Company owne 13,50( Retail and servic 2001 —

Cumming (Atlanta) Third-party leas 13,00( Retail and service; 50 wet 1981 Lake Lanier
slips

Maryland

Baltimore Third-party leas 7,60( Retail and service; 17 wet 200t Baltimore Inner Harbor
slips

Joppa Company owne 28,40( Retail, service, and storage; 196€  Gunpowder River
294 wet slips

White Marsh Company owne 19,80( Retail and servic 195¢ —

Minnesota

Bayport Third-party leas 45C Retail only; 10 wet slip 199¢€ St Croix River

Rogers Company owne 70,00( Retail, service, and stora 1991 —

Walker Company owne 76,40( Retail, service, and stora 198¢ —

Walker Company owne 6,80( Retail and service; 93 wet 1977 Leech Lake

slips
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Location

Missouri
Lake Ozark

Kimberling City
New Jersey
Brant Beach

Brick
Lake Hopatcong

Ship Bottom
Somers Point

New York
Copiague
Huntington

Lindenhurst (Delivery Center)
Lindenhurst (Marina)

Manhattar

New Rochelle
North Carolina
Southpori
Wrightsville Beact
Ohio

Port Clinton

Oklahoma
Afton

Rhode Island
Wakefield
Tennesset
Chattanoogi
Texas

Lewisville (Dallas)
Seabrook

Square Operated
Location Type Footage(1) Facilities at Property Since(2)

Company owne 60,30( Retail and service; 300 wet 1987
slips

Third-party leas 50C Retail only; 7 wet slip: 200C

Third-party leas 3,80( Retail and service; 36 wet 196&
slips

Company owne 20,00( Retail and service; 225 we: 1977
slips

Third-party leas 4,60( Retail and service; 80 wet 199¢
slips

Third-party leas 19,30( Retail and servic 1972

Third-party leas 31,00( Retail, service and storage 1987
33 wet slips

Third-party leas 15,00( Retail only 199:

Third-party leas 1,20¢ Retail and service 199t

Third-party leas 54,00( Retail, service, and dry 196¢
storage

Third-party leas 14,60( Marina and service; 370 wet 196¢
slips

Third-party leas 1,20¢ Retail only; 75 wet slip 199¢

Third-party leas 4,65( Retail and servic 200¢

Third-party leas 1,60( Retail only 200¢

Third-party leas 34,50( Retail, service, and stora 199¢

Company owne 80,00( Retail, service and storage 1997
wet slips

Third-party leas 3,50( Retail and service; 23 wet 2002
slips

Third-party leas 1,80( Retail only; 3 wet slip: 200¢€

Third-party leas 3,00(¢ Retail only; 12 wet slip 200t

Company owne 22,00( Retail and servic 200z

Company owne 32,00( Retail and service; 30 wet 200z

slips

Waterfront

Lake of the Ozarks
Table Rock Lak
Barnegat Bay
Manasquan River

Lake Hopatcong

Little Egg Harbor Bay

Huntington Harbor and Long
Island Sounc

Neguntatogue Creek to Gre
South Bay

Neguntatogue Creek to Gre
South Bay

Hudson Rivel

Long Island Soun

Cape Fear Rive
Intracoastal Waterwa

Lake Erie

Grand Lake

Narragansett Ba

Tennessee Rive

Clear Lake

(1) Square footage is approximate and does not in@utkide sales space or dock or marina facili
(2) Operated since date is the date the facility washeg by us or opened prior to its acquisition hy
(3) Joint venture entered into with Brunswick to acguirarina and service facilit
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Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

We are party to various legal actions arising mdhdinary course of business. While it is not ifgasto
determine the actual outcome of these actions &gpfember 30, 2010, we do not believe that thegters will hav
a material adverse effect on our consolidated firrrondition, results of operations, or cash B8ow

Item 4. Removed and Reservi

PART II

ltem 5. Market for the Registrar’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, asduer Purchases ¢
Equity Securities

Our common stock has been traded on the New YargkSEtxchange under the symbol HZO since our initial
public offering on June 3, 1998 at $12.50 per shbne following table sets forth high and low spiees of the
common stock for each calendar quarter indicateé@mrted on the New York Stock Exchange.

High Low

2008
First quartel $16.1¢  $10.3¢
Second quarte $13.82 $ 6.9¢
Third quarte! $ 9.6 $ 4.92
Fourth quarte $ 748 $ 1.2¢

2009
First quarte! $ 361 $1.1¢
Second quarte $ 6.1 $ 1.84
Third quartel $ 852 $3.01
Fourth quarte $94€ $6.44

2010
First quarte! $11.9¢ $ 8.6
Second quarte $12.7¢ $ 6.91
Third quarte! $ 851 $6.17
Fourth guarter (through November 30, 20 $ 827 $ 6.8

On November 30, 2010, the closing sale price ofammmmon stock was $7.63 per share. On Novembe2(B(),
there were approximately 100 record holders andoeqapately 5,000 beneficial owners of our commarckt

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooca@umon stock. We currently plan to retain anyesys to
finance the growth of our business rather tharetpoqash dividends. Payments of any cash dividentigei future wil
depend on our financial condition, results of ofierss, and capital requirements as well as otheofa deemed
relevant by our board of directors.
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Performance Graph

The following line graph compares cumulative tatalckholder returns for the five years ended SepéziR0,
2010 for (i) our common stock, (ii) the Russell 20Adex, and (iii) the Nasdaq Retail Trade Indetxe Graph
assumes an investment of $100 on September 30, ZB@Xalculations of cumulative stockholder retomthe
Russell 2000 Index and the Nasdaq Retail Tradexiimt#gude reinvestment of dividends. The calculatid
cumulative stockholder return on our common stomsdnot include reinvestment of dividends becaueséid not
pay any dividends during the measurement period.hi$torical performance shown is not necessardycative of
future performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among MarineMax, Inc., the Russell 2000 Index
and the NASDAQ Retail Trade Index
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120 4
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—8— MarineMax, Ine. — & — Ruossell 2006} ===8-=-- WASIAL Retall Trade

* $100 invested on 9/30/05 in stock or index, inahgdieinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year endingt&aber 30

The performance graph above shall not be deemled*fior purposes of Section 18 of the Securitigstange
Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act, or otlseraubject to the liability of that section. Therformance grap
above will not be deemed incorporated by referémizeany filing of our company under the Exchangg ér the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The following table contains certain financial agerating data and is qualified by the more dedaile
consolidated financial statements and notes thémetoded elsewhere in this report. The balancetshed statement
of operations data were derived from the consaididihancial statements and notes thereto that bege audited by
Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered dedipublic accounting firm. The financial data shmolpelow
should be read in conjunction with the consoliddieancial statements and the related notes tharedo
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan@ahdition and Results of Operatioristluded elsewhere in tt
report.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
(Amounts in thousands except share, per share, andtail location data)

Statement of Operations

Data:
Revenue $ 1,213,654, $ 1,255,998 $ 885407 $ 588588 $ 450,34
Cost of sale: 906,78: 956,25. 679,16 499,92! 339,53¢
Gross profil 306,76( 299,73: 206,24 88,66( 110,80
Selling, general, and administrati

expense: 222,80¢ 245,22: 217,42¢ 159,99¢ 123,97:
Goodwill and intangible asset

impairment charg — — 122,09: — —
Income (loss) from operatiol 83,95¢ 54,51( (133,279 (71,33%) (13,165
Interest expense, n 18,61¢ 26,95¢ 20,16¢ 14,06« 3,92¢
Income (loss) before income t

provision (benefit 65,33¢ 27,55¢ (153,439 (85,407 (17,09)
Income tax provision (benefi 25,95¢ 7,48¢ (19,16)) (8,630) (19,589
Net income (loss $ 39,38 $ 20,06¢ $ (13427) $ (76,779 $ 2,497
Net income (loss) per shal

Diluted $ 2.0t $ 1.04 $ (7.30) $ (4.1) $ 0.11
Weighted average number of shal

Diluted 18,928,73  19,289,23 18,391,48 18,685,42 22,597,95
Other Data (as of yea-end):
Number of retail locations(? 87 88 80 b5 56
Sales per store(2)(: $ 17,06c0 $ 1524¢ $ 12,49 $ 11,28 $ 8,77¢
Same-store sales growth(3)(: 7% ()% (28)% (29)% 17%

September 30
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $153,46! $170,38¢ $134,45¢ $ 97,17¢ $104,51¢
Total asset 801,56: 825,87¢ 661,320 393,64« 336,76(
Long-term debt (including current portion)( 37,18¢ 30,83t — — —
Total stockholder’ equity 349,88 373,65¢ 248,580 197,75t 202,03(

(1) Includes only those retail locations open at peend.
(2) Includes only those stores open for the entireqatieg12-monthperiod.
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(3) New and acquired stores are included in the conppalzase at the end of the s’s thirteenth month of
operations

(4) A store is one or more retail locations that afj@aeeht or operate as one entity. Sales per statresam-store
sales growth is intended only as supplemental inébion and is not a substitute for revenue or metme
presented in accordance with generally accepteguatiog principles

(5) Amount excludes our sh-term borrowings for working capital and inventonyancing.

Iltem 7. Managemen’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation

The following should be read in conjunction withrfAaincluding the matters set forth in the “Ris&ctors”
section of this report, and our Consolidated Figrgtatements and notes thereto included elsewhehés report.

Overview

We are the largest recreational boat retailer énUhited States with fiscal 2010 revenue in excéss
$450 million. Through our current 56 retail locai$oin 19 states, we sell new and used recreatimab and related
marine products, including engines, trailers, pantsl accessories. We also arrange related beetciimg, insurance,
and extended warranty contracts; provide boat regal maintenance services; and offer yacht anttiyokerage
services, and, where available, offer slip andegteraccommodations.

MarineMax was incorporated in January 1998. We cengad operations with the acquisition of five
independent recreational boat dealers on Marc®48.1Since the initial acquisitions in March 19@&, have
acquired 20 recreational boat dealers, two bodtdreme operations, and two full-service yacht nefaailities. As a
part of our acquisition strategy, we frequently @gg in discussions with various recreational beatets regarding
their potential acquisition by us. Potential acgiga discussions frequently take place over a Ipagod of time and
involve difficult business integration and othesuss, including, in some cases, management suocessi related
matters. As a result of these and other factonsinaber of potential acquisitions that from timetitoe appear likely
to occur do not result in binding legal agreememd are not consummated. We did not complete gmyfisiant
acquisitions during the fiscal years ended Septerd®e2008, 2009, and 2010.

General economic conditions and consumer spendgitigrps can negatively impact our operating results
Unfavorable local, regional, national, or globabeomic developments or uncertainties regardingréuiconomic
prospects could reduce consumer spending in thkatsawve serve and adversely affect our businesmdguic
conditions in areas in which we operate dealersipiagicularly Florida in which we generated 43%%} and 54%
of our revenue during fiscal 2008, 2009, and 20&8pectively, can have a major impact on our ofmerst Local
influences, such as corporate downsizing, militsage closings, inclement weather, and environmeotaditions,
such as the BP oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico,@lsould adversely affect our operations in certaarkets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionarndimg levels generally decline, at times resulting
disproportionately large reductions in the salugfiry goods. Consumer spending on luxury goods iday decline
as a result of lower consumer confidence levelenéf/prevailing economic conditions are favorati#hough we
have expanded our operations during periods ohatstgor modestly declining industry trends, thelicat nature of
the recreational boating industry or the lack afuistry growth could adversely affect our businésgncial
condition, or results of operations in the futukay period of adverse economic conditions or lowmsiamer
confidence has a negative effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factore ey
affected our business in fiscal 2007, and continuedkness in consumer spending resulting from anbat
weakness in the financial markets and deteriorazanomic conditions had a very substantial negatffect on our
business in fiscal 2008, 2009, and 2010. Theseitionsl caused us to defer our acquisition progréaay new store
openings, reduce our inventory purchases, engaigeemtory reduction efforts, close a significantfon of our
retail locations, reduce our headcount, and amaddeplace our credit facility. We cannot predie tength or
severity of these unfavorable economic or financ@additions or the extent to which they will continto adversely
affect our operating results nor can we predictetfiectiveness of the measures we have taken t@sslthis
environment or whether additional measures wilhbeessary.
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Although economic conditions have adversely affécter operating results, we have capitalized oncove
strengths to substantially outperform the indugtegulting in market share gains. Our ability todwce such market
share supports the alignment of our retailing strigs with the desires of consumers. We believatiyes we have
taken to address weak market conditions may yieltherease in future revenue. As general economicls
improve, we expect our core strengths and retafiingtegies will position us to capitalize on grbwpportunities as
they occur and will allow us to emerge from thigl#nging economic environment with greater earsipgtential.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the policies below as criti@abur business operations and the understandingraesults ¢
operations. The impact and risks related to thefieies on our business operations is discussedigfirout
Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiahdition and Results of Operations when such pedieiffect
our reported and expected financial results.

In the ordinary course of business, we make a nuwifoestimates and assumptions relating to thertigygoof
results of operations and financial condition ia tireparation of our financial statements in camftyr with
accounting principles generally accepted in thetdéthStates. We base our estimates on historicarexe and on
various other assumptions that we believe are redde under the circumstances. The results fornbaises for
making judgments about the carrying values of asmed liabilities that are not readily apparentrfrother sources.
Actual results could differ significantly from thegstimates under different assumptions and conditiWe believe
that the following discussion addresses our mastaraccounting policies, which are those that mnost important
to the portrayal of our financial condition anduks of operations and require our most difficaltbjective, and
complex judgments, often as a result of the needake estimates about the effect of matters tleainderently
uncertain.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, and traédes, and parts and service operations at thethienkeoat,
motor, trailer, or part is delivered to or accepbydhe customer or service is completed. We reizegeferred
revenue from service operations and slip and séosagvices on a straight-line basis over the tdrtheocontact or
when service is completed. We recognize commisstansed from a brokerage sale at the time theecklatokerage
transaction closes. We recognize commissions edmyed for placing notes with financial institut®im connection
with customer boat financing when we recognizerdiated boat sales. We also recognize marketirggdamed on
credit life, accident and disability, and hull ingnce products sold by third-party insurance corgsaat the later of
customer acceptance of the insurance product dsmaéd by contract execution or when the related $ale is
recognized. We also recognize commissions earnext@mded warranty service contracts sold on betfialfird-
party insurance companies at the later of cust@oeeptance of the service contract terms as evédelnyg contract
execution or recognition of the related boat sale.

Certain finance and extended warranty commissiodshearketing fees on insurance products may begelar
back if a customer terminates or defaults on thiedging contract within a specified period of tinBased upon our
experience of repayments and defaults, we maiataimargeback allowance that was not material tdinancial
statements taken as a whole as of September 39,&2@D10. Should results differ materially fronr distorical
experiences, we would need to modify our estiméfatare chargebacks, which could have a matedatese effect
on our operating margins.

Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received from our wegdn accordance with FASB Accounting Standards
Coadification 605-50, “Revenue Recognition, Custofayments and Incentives” (“ASC 605-50"), previgusl
referred to as Emerging Issues Task Force Issu@Xa6, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Riesgfor
Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor.” AR5-50 requires us to classify interest assistamoeived from
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costraftated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstasse
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against our interest expense incurred with ourdendPursuant tASC 60550, amounts received by us under ou-
op assistance programs from our manufacturersedtechagainst related advertising expenses.

Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paid to aegthie inventory, net of vendor consideration antpase
discounts, the cost of equipment added, reconditipaosts, and transportation costs relating tagitg inventory
for sale. We state new boat, motor, and traileeimuries at the lower of cost, determined on aifipedentification
basis, or market. We state used boat, motor, aildrtinventories, including trade-ins, at the lowécost,
determined on a specifidentification basis, or market. We state parts acwkssories at the lower of cost, detern
on an average cost basis, or market. We utilizeh@torical experience, the aging of the inventrand our
consideration of current market trends as the Hasidetermining lower of cost or market valuatafowance. As of
September 30, 2009 and 2010, our lower of costarket valuation allowance was $17.7 million and3%willion,
respectively. If events occur and market conditicoimsnge, causing the fair value to fall below cagyalue, the
lower of cost or market valuation allowance couldrease.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We account for goodwill and identifiable intangilslesets in accordance with FASB Accounting Starsdard
Cadification 350, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Oth¢fASC 350”), previously referred to as StatemehFinancial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Othgahgible Assets.” Under this standard, we as$ess t
impairment of goodwill and identifiable intangitdssets at least annually and whenever events ngekan
circumstances indicate that the carrying value mahbe recoverable. The first step in the assessinéme
estimation of fair value. If step one indicatest filh@pairment potentially exists, we perform thew®t step to
measure the amount of impairment, if any. Goodarilll identifiable intangible asset impairment exigten the
estimated fair value is less than its carrying galu

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, werxqzed a significant decline in market valuatioiven
primarily by weakness in the marine retail industnd an overall soft economy, which hindered auatiicial
performance. Accordingly, we completed a step oradyais (as noted above) and estimated the fairevad the
reporting unit as prescribed by ASC 350, whichdatied potential impairment. As a result, we congalet fair value
analysis of indefinite lived intangible assets argtep two goodwill impairment analysis, as requlig ASC 350.
We determined that indefinite lived intangible assd goodwill were impaired and recorded a nahcharge of
$121.1 million based on our assessment. We wereegoaired to make any current or future cash exipered as a
result of this impairment charge.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

FASB Accounting Standards Codification 360-10-4@rdperty, Plant, and Equipment, Impairment or Déstpho
of Long-Lived Assets” (*“ASC 360-10-40"), previoudigferred to as Statement of Financial Accountiten8ards
No. 144 “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-LidéAssets,” requires that long-lived assets, such as
property and equipment and purchased intangiblejgsuto amortization, be reviewed for impairmefenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate teatalrying amount of an asset may not be recowerabl
Recoverability of the asset is measured by compaidd its carrying amount to undiscounted futureaash flows
the asset is expected to generate. If such asseteasidered to be impaired, the impairment togsegnized is
measured as the amount by which the carrying amafithe asset exceeds its fair market value. Estisnaf expecte
future cash flows represent our best estimate basedirrently available information and reasonatrid supportable
assumptions. Any impairment recognized in accordavith ASC 360-10-40 is permanent and may not biored.
As of September 30, 2010, we had not recognizedrapgirment of long-lived assets in connection with
ASC 360-10-40 based on our reviews.

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, weried a significant decline in market valuatioiven
primarily by weakness in the marine retail industnd an overall soft economy, which adversely affgour
financial performance. As a result of this weaknessrealized a goodwill and intangible asset impait charge,
see Note 6 — “Other Long-Term Assets” of Notes tméblidated Financial Statements. Based on themggwe
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reviewed the valuation of our investment in Gulfdaraccordance with ASC 323 and recoverabilityhef asset
contained within the joint venture. ASC 323 regsiitiee recognition of a loss in value of an investinerhich is othe
than a temporary decline. We reviewed our investraad assets contained within the Gulfport jointtuee, which
consists of land, buildings, equipment, and goddw# a result, we determined that our investmerthe joint
venture was impaired and recorded a non-cash clodu$fe0 million based on our assessment. We wetreeguired
to make any current or future cash expendituresrasult of this impairment charge.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for our share-based compensation ptdliosving the provisions of FASB Accounting Standard
Codification 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensdt{dASC 718"), previously referred to as Statemeht
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Shareefld®ayment.” In accordance with ASC 718, we usdthek-
Scholes valuation model for valuing all stock-baserhpensation and shares granted under our Emp&ipe&
Purchase Plan. We measure compensation for restistbck awards and restricted stock units awtdire on the
grant date based on the number of shares expectedt and the quoted market price of our commaockstWe
recognize compensation cost for all awards in egsjinet of estimated forfeitures, on a straighg-basis over the
requisite service period for each separately vggiortion of the award.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FASBounting Standards Codification 740, “Income
Taxes” (“ASC 740"), previously referred to as Staént of Financial Accounting Standards No. 108;counting fol
Income Taxes,” and Financial Accounting StandardrBdnterpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncentiiin
Income Taxes.” Under ASC 740, we recognize defaiagdssets and liabilities for the future tax @npgences
attributable to temporary differences between thernfcial statement carrying amounts of existingtssand liabilitie
and their respective tax basis. We measure deftarealssets and liabilities using enacted tax rexpscted to apply
to taxable income in the years in which we explecsé temporary differences to be recovered oreskeftiVe record
valuation allowances to reduce our deferred tagtass the amount expected to be realized by ceriniglall
available positive and negative evidence.

Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posdivé negative evidence regarding the realizaticheéérred
tax assets, including past operating results anadisources of taxable income. Under the provssimm
ASC 740-10, we determined that our net deferrechtmet needed to be fully reserved given recentrepgr and
industry trends.

The Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistactef 2009 (the “Act”)was signed into law in Novemt
2009. The Act allowed us to carryback the 2009petating loss, which had a valuation allowancended against
the entire amount and which we were not able to/back under the prior tax law. The additional ghack
generated a tax refund of $19.2 million. The tdumd was recorded as income tax benefit duringgouarter ended
December 31, 2009, the period the Act was enatedfiled a carryback claim with the Internal Rever&ervice,
and we received a $19.2 million refund in the gereended March 31, 2010.

For a more comprehensive list of our accountingcps, including those which involve varying deged
judgment, see Note— “Significant Accounting Policies” of Notes to Canlidated Financial Statements.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth certain financiatalas a percentage of revenue for the periodsatetic

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2008 2009 2010
(Amounts in thousands)
Revenue $ 885,400 100.(% $588,58! 10(% $450,34( 10(%
Cost of sale: 679,16« 76.7% 499,92! 84.9% 339,53{ 75.4%
Gross profil 206,24 23.2%  88,66( 15.1% 110,80 24.€%
Selling, general, and administrative exper 217,42t 24.€% 159,99¢ 27.2% 123,97 27.5%
Goodwill and intangible asset impairment che 122,09. 13.&% — 0% — 0%
Loss from operation (133,279) (15.)% (71,339 (12.)% (13,16 (2.9%
Interest expens 20,16¢ 2.3% 14,06¢ 2.4% 3,92¢ 0.9%
Loss before income tax bene (153,43 (17.9% (85,407 (14.5% (17,09) (3.8%
Income tax benef 19,16 2.2% 8,63( 1.5%  19,58¢ 4.4%
Net income (loss $(134,27) (15.2% $(76,77) (13.0% $ 2,497 0.6%

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2010 Compared Wwitital Year Ended September 30, 2009

Revenue. Revenue decreased $138.3 million, or 23.5%, & Rtmillion for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2010 from $588.6 million for thedisgear ended September 30, 2009. Of this decr&88e) million
was attributable to a decline in comparable-statessand $49.3 million was attributable to stonesned or closed
that were not eligible for inclusion in the comgaeastore base for the 12 months ended Septembh&030. The
decline in our comparable-store sales was dueetonigoing economic pressure on our industry calbigede widely
reported recession, a difficult retail financing/Banment, and the impact of the BP oil spill iret&ulf of Mexico on
customer’s purchasing decisions, all of which hageersely impacted our retail sales.

Gross Profit. Gross profit increased $22.1 million, or 25.0%$1.10.8 million for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2010 from $88.7 million for the flseg=ar ended September 30, 2009. Gross profitEs@entage of
revenue increased to 24.6% for the fiscal year é/®#ptember 30, 2010 from 15.1% for the fiscal wrated
September 30, 2009. The increase in gross proéit@ecentage of revenue was a result of the actienhave taken
to dramatically reduce inventory levels and imprdseaging. This has resulted in a reduction inghmunt of
discounting required on new and used boat sales<Grofit has also been positively impacted byoapct mix shif
from boat sales to our higher margin brokerageisesy finance and insurance products, and semar¢s and
accessories products.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenselling, general, and administrative expensesedsed
$36.0 million, or 22.5%, to $124.0 million for tffiscal year ended September 30, 2010 from $160l@®mfor the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2009. The ovesatedse in selling, general, and administrativeeeses resulted
from the strategic store reductions that we enattemighout our 2009 fiscal year. Additionally,dbigh reductions
in workforce, we reduced personnel costs, commissiand manager bonuses along with reductions iketiag,
travel, and entertainment expenses. The fiscal geded September 30, 2010 included the reversgmioximately
$3.9 million of stock compensation expense, resgifiom the performance criteria of certain restdcstock units n
longer being probable. The fiscal year ended Seipei30, 2009 included approximately $6.2 milliorstore closing
costs. Additionally, the fiscal year ended Septen®@ 2010 included approximately $1.2 million tore closing
costs and $1.0 million of debt extinguishment coslated to our previous credit facility. Excluditiese items wou
result in an increase of selling, general, and adiative expenses as a percentage of revenygpobdmately 1.89
from 26.1% for the fiscal year ended Septembe2809 to 27.9% for the fiscal year ended Septembe2@10. This
increase in selling, general, and administrativeeeses (with such adjustments) as a percentagevefiue, was
primarily attributable to the reported same-st@ies decline, which resulted in a reduction in ahifity to leverage
our expense structure.
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Interest Expens¢ Interest expense decreased $10.2 million, or982td $3.9 million for the fiscal year end
September 30, 2010 from $14.1 million for the flsegzar ended September 30, 2009. The decreasenmzariy a
result of decreased borrowings under our credilifipcnterest expense as a percentage of revelegesased to 0.9
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010 fret#eZor the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008use of the
reductions in average borrowings on our creditlitsci

Income Tax Benefit.Our income tax benefit for the fiscal year en&egitember 30, 2010 was $19.6 million
compared with $8.6 million for the fiscal year eddgeptember 30, 2009. The increase in our tax hemvas$
primarily due to the enactment of the Worker, Homeership, and Business Assistance Act of 2009“@lat’),
which was signed into law in November 2009. The @tdwed us to carryback our 2009 net operating, lagich
had a valuation allowance recorded against theeeathount and which we were not able to carrybacleuthe prior
tax law. The additional carryback generated a ¢fomd of $19.2 million. The tax refund was recordsdncome tax
benefit during the quarter ended December 31, 2B@9%eriod the Act was enacted. We filed a caekhmdaim with
the Internal Revenue Service, and we received @2$t8lion refund in the quarter ended March 31120

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2009 Compared Wwitital Year Ended September 30, 2008

Revenue. Revenue decreased $296.8 million, or 33.5%, 88¥bmillion for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2009 from $885.4 million for thedisgear ended September 30, 2008. Of this decrease,
$234.4 million was attributable to a decline in garable-store sales and $62.5 million was attritletéo 26 stores
closed in fiscal 2009 that were not eligible foclirsion in the comparable-store base for the 12thsoended
September 30, 2009. The decline in our comparablke-sales was due to the widely reported weaka@o
conditions and tighter retail lending environmemltich have adversely impacted our retail sales.

Gross Profit. Gross profit decreased $117.5 million, or 57.08488.7 million for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2009 from $206.2 million for thedisgear ended September 30, 2008. Gross profipp@scentage of
revenue decreased to 15.1% for fiscal 2009 fror8%Jor fiscal 2008. The decrease in gross profitade reflected
the combination of the significant reduction ineaue because of the soft economic environmentlenddcreases
gross profit percentage. The decrease in grosg psé percentage of revenue was due to marggspre arising
from the difficult retail environment and the agssi®e pricing strategy that we deployed to drivggaificant
reduction to our inventory levels. Additionally, rihg fiscal 2009, we incurred losses and increasesdrves for
expected losses associated with market declinbsaimds we no longer carry by approximately $12 oni Lastly,
we strategically decided to forego certain manufiastpurchase incentives and ordered substantéstyboats in
fiscal 2009 than in fiscal 2008.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenselling, general, and administrative expensesedsed
$57.4 million, or 26.4%, to $160.0 million for tffiscal year ended September 30, 2009 from $217lli{bmfor the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. Selling,r@kreend administrative expenses as a percentagvehue
increased to 27.2% for the year ended Septemb&08®, from 24.6% for the year ended September @08.2The
fiscal year ended September 30, 2009 included $@l®n in charges associated with store closufés fiscal year
ended September 30, 2008 included $3.0 milliorharges associated with store closures, partialsebby
$1.0 million in gains recorded as an expense offdated to proceeds from business interruptioorersce claims ar
the favorable settlement of certain interest rateps. Excluding these items would result in a caaiple selling,
general, and administrative expense reduction 6fi$illion, or 29.8%, and selling, general, anthadstrative
expenses as a percent of revenue increased to 26r@be year ended September 30, 2009 from 240f%hé year
ended September 30, 2008. This increase in seliieggral, and administrative expenses as a pegeenfaevenue
was primarily attributable to the reported sameesgales decline, which resulted in a reductioounability to
leverage our expense structure. The reductioneirddilar level of selling, general, and administ&expenses was
due to the significant reductions we have madesiisgnnel, retail locations, and most other expeasegories.

Goodwill and intangible asset impairmenDuring the fiscal year ended September 30, 2@@3yere required
to write-off our goodwill and indefinite lived intangible sets as a result of the decline in our market taoand th
continuation of the difficult retail environmens prescribed by ASC 350.
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Interest Expens¢ Interest expense decreased $6.1 million, or 30t8%14.1 million for the fiscal year end
September 30, 2009 from $20.2 million for the flsear ended September 30, 2008. Interest expenagarcentac
of revenue increased to 2.4% for fiscal 2009 froB%2for fiscal 2008. The decrease in interest egpevas primaril
a result of the decline in average borrowings thhmut fiscal 2009.

Income Tax Benefit.Our income tax benefit decreased $10.5 millioa teenefit of $8.6 million for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2009 from an income teefibef $19.2 million for the fiscal year endedpB=mber 30
2008, primarily as a result of limitations on theryback of our pretax loss and recording a vaduadillowance on
the carryforward pretax loss. The effective tae fat the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008reiff from
previous periods primarily as a result of the rdouy of a non-cash valuation allowance that offtfsésmajority of
income tax benefit that would have arisen fromgbedwill and intangible asset impairment charge.

Quarterly Data and Seasonality

Our business, as well as the entire recreatioratitg industry, is highly seasonal, with seasopalrying in
different geographic markets. With the exceptiofriofrida, we generally realize significantly lonsales and higher
levels of inventories, and related short-term bemgs, in the quarterly periods ending Decembea®d March 31.
The onset of the public boat and recreation showlahuary stimulates boat sales and typically alog/to reduce
our inventory levels and related shtm borrowings throughout the remainder of thedigear. Our business cot
become substantially more seasonal if we acquiatéedethat operate in colder regions of the Un8&ates or close
retail locations in warm climates.

Our business is also subject to weather patternshamay adversely affect our results of operatidits
example, drought conditions (or merely reducedfadlitevels) or excessive rain, may close areaibgdbcations or
render boating dangerous or inconvenient, therebiaiting customer demand for our products. In &ddj
unseasonably cool weather and prolonged winteriiond may lead to a shorter selling season ire@etbcations.
Hurricanes and other storms could result in disomgstof our operations or damage to our boat irveeg and
facilities, as has been the case when Florida #met onarkets were affected by hurricanes. Althooghgeographic
diversity is likely to reduce the overall impactus of adverse weather conditions in any one males, these
conditions will continue to represent potential temel adverse risks to us and our future finangeformance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash needs are primarily for working capitate@port operations, including new and used boadtelated
parts inventories, off-season liquidity, and growttough acquisitions and new store openings. Walagly monitor
the aging of our inventories and current marketdeeto evaluate our current and future inventosdseWe also use
this evaluation in conjunction with our review afracurrent and expected operating performance gpeloted
business levels to determine the adequacy of nanéiing needs. These cash needs have historiealy fimanced
with cash generated from operations and borrowimgker our credit facility. Our ability to utilizeuo credit facility
to fund operations depends upon the collateraldested compliance with the covenants of the crieditity. Turmoil
in the credit markets and weakness in the retaiketa may interfere with our ability to remain ionapliance with
the covenants of the credit facility and therefatiéze the credit facility to fund operations. September 30, 2010,
we were in compliance with all of the credit fagilcovenants. We currently depend upon dividendsadher
payments from our dealerships and our credit tsditi fund our current operations and meet our cesus.
Currently, no agreements exist that restrict thuiss fof funds from our dealerships.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2009 @@, 2ash provided by operating activities apprated
$209.1 million and $40.2 million, respectively. Rbe fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, cashinsperating
activities was approximately $8.8 million. For tiecal year ended September 30, 2008, cash usmgkirating
activities was due primarily to our net loss, ardase in accounts payable because of reductigngahases from
our manufacturers, and a decrease in customer ittiegag to a reduction in pending sales. These atsovere
primarily offset by noncash charges, includingithpairment of goodwill, stock-based compensation a
depreciation and amortization expense. The caghinsgperating activities was further offset by uetions
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in inventories and accounts receivables due todtiaction in sales trends. For the fiscal year drigkeptember 3(
2009, cash provided by operating activities wasmhiraarily to the significant reduction of inveniges. For the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2010, cash provided batiomge activities was primarily related to a dese
inventories due to our reduction in purchasing amdcomparable-store sales, a decrease in acomagivable from
our manufacturers, and a decrease in income taivadde, partially offset by a decrease in our aote payable.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2008,,20@P2010, cash used in investing activities was
approximately $7.9 million, $1.9 million, and $2r@llion, respectively. For the fiscal year endegt®enber 30,
2008, cash used in investing activities was primaised to purchase property and equipment asgalcveith openin
new retail facilities or improving and relocatingiging retail facilities. For the fiscal year emndSeptember 30, 20C
cash used in investing activities was primarilydusepurchase property and equipment associatddinvjiroving
and relocating existing retail facilities. For tiecal year ended September 30, 2010, cash udedeasting activities
was primarily used to purchase property and equiprassociated with improving existing retail fatds.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2009 @@, 2ash used in financing activities was apprexéty
$212.0 million and $47.2 million, respectively. Rbe fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, castidech by
financing activities was approximately $16.5 mitlid-or the fiscal year ended September 30, 20@8) peovided by
financing activities was primarily attributabledamet increase in short-term borrowings, partiaffget by
repayments of long-term debt. For the fiscal yeateel September 30, 2009, cash used by financingtest was
primarily attributable to the repayments of shiertm borrowings, partially offset by proceeds fronr common stoc
sale. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2@Eb, used by financing activities was primarilyibtitable to net
payments on our short-term borrowings as a re$uleoreased inventory levels.

In June 2010, we entered into an Inventory Finanéigreement (the “Credit Facility”) with GE Commaéic
Distribution Finance Company (“GECDF”"). The Crefgécility provides a floor plan financing commitmenit
$100 million and allows us to request a $50 milliocrease to this commitment under an accordiotufeasubject t
GECDF approval. The Credit Facility matures in JAQ&3 and is subject to extension for two one-peaiods,
subject to GECDF approval.

The Credit Facility has certain financial covenaagsspecified in the agreement. The covenantsdeclu
provisions that our leverage ratio not exceed 27B0 and that our current ratio must be gredan t1.2 to 1.0. At
September 30, 2010, we were in compliance witbfate covenants under the Credit Facility. Theriest rate for
amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility i8 Badsis points above the one-month London InterkBaifiering
Rate. There is an unused line fee of ten basigpoimthe unused portion of the Credit Facility.

Advances under the Credit Facility will be initidtby the acquisition of eligible new and used irteey or will
be re-advances against eligible new and used iopetitat have been partially paid-off. Advancesiew inventory
will mature 1,081 days from the original invoicaelaAdvances on used inventory will mature 361 days the dat:
we acquire the used inventory. Each advance igsuty) a curtailment schedule, which requires Wepay down th
balance of each advance on a periodic basis gatiar six months. The curtailment schedule varaesed on the
type and value of the inventory. The collateraltfer Credit Facility is all of our personal propertith certain
limited exceptions. None of our real estate has ipdedged for collateral for the Credit Facility.

On October 7, 2010, we entered into an Inventonaikting Agreement (the “CGlI Facility”) with CGI Eince,
Inc. The CGI Facility provides a floor plan finangicommitment of $30 million and is designed tovyiie financing
for our Azimut inventory needs. The CGI Facilitysteoneyear term, which is typical in the industry for dan floor
plan facilities; however, each advance under thé 2@ility can remain outstanding for 18 monthseTihterest rate
for amounts outstanding under the CGI Facility38 ®asis points above the one month London IntekE2ffering
Rate.

Advances under the CGI Facility will be initiated the acquisition of eligible new and used inveptor will be
re-advances against eligible new and used invetibatyhas been partially paid-off. Advances on ivexentory will
mature 550 days from the original invoice date. &uhes on used inventory will mature 366 days froendate
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we acquire the used inventory. Each advance igsutg a curtailment schedule, which requires Weapay down th
balance of each advance on a periodic basis giatiar six months for used inventory and one yeanew
inventory. The curtailment schedule varies basethertype of inventory.

The collateral for the CGI Facility is our entiregifut inventory financed by the CGI Facility witkrtain
limited exceptions. None of our real estate has ipdedged for collateral for the CGI Facility. Weush maintain
compliance with various covenants, including batéasiceet related covenants of current and leveedgesy as
defined in the CGI Facility. The CGI Facility complates that other lenders may be added by usande other
inventory not financed under the CGI Facility, deded.

The Credit Facility and CGI Facility replace ouirgpr$180 million credit facility that provided far line of credi
with asset-based borrowing availability. The pdoedit facility had certain financial covenantssagcified in the
agreement. The interest rate for amounts outstgndider the prior credit facility was 490 basism®iabove the one-
month LIBOR. During the quarter ended June 30, 2@&)accelerated the amortization of the prior icriadtility
loan costs of approximately $1.0 million.

As of September 30, 2009 and 2010, our indebtedresxiated with financing our inventory and wogkin
capital needs totaled approximately $142.0 milko $93.8 million, respectively, and we were in piamce with
all of the credit facility covenants. At SeptemBe€r 2009 and 2010, the interest rate on the owtstgrshort-term
borrowings was 5.2% and 4.0%. At September 30, 20d0additional available borrowings under ourditré&acility
were approximately $4.2 million.

Except as specified in this “Management’s Discussiod Analysis of Financial Condition, and Resafts
Operations” and in our consolidated financial steats, we have no material commitments for cafitathe next
12 months. We believe that our existing capitaboeses will be sufficient to finance our operatidosat least the
next 12 months, except for possible significantésitions.

Contractual Commitments and Commercial Commitments

The following table sets forth a summary of our ena@t contractual obligations and commercial commeitts a:
of September 30, 2010:

Year Ending Short-Term Other Long-Term Operating
September 3C Borrowings(1) Liabilities(2) Leases(3 Total
(Amounts in thousands)

2011 $ 9384« % — % 6,46¢ $100,31:
2012 — 3,74¢ 5,141 8,88¢
2013 — — 3,75¢ 3,75t
2014 — — 2,58: 2,582
2015 — — 2,40z 2,40z
Thereaftel — — 3,72 3,72
Total $ 9384 $ 3,746 $24,07¢  $121,66!

(1) Estimates of future interest payments for s-term borrowings have been excluded in the tabuksgntation
Amounts due are contingent upon the outstandingnigals and the variable interest rates. As of Sdpes0,
2010, the interest rate on our sl-term borrowings was 4.09

(2) The amounts included in other Ic-term liabilities consist primarily of our estimatgability for claims on certai
workers’ compensation insurance policies. Whileeggmate the amount to be paid in excess of 12 msoitte
ultimate timing of the payments is subject to dertariability. Accordingly, we have classified alinounts as
due in the following year for the purposes of thisle.

(3) Amounts for operating lease commitments do nouitkelcertain operating expenses such as maintenance,
insurance, and real estate taxes. These amoumsiaaematerial component of operating exper
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any transactions, arrangementgher celationships with unconsolidated entities Hra
reasonably likely to affect our financial conditjdiguidity, or capital resources. We have no splgurpose or
limited purpose entities that provide off-balanbeet financing, liquidity, or market or credit riskpport; we do not
engage in leasing, hedging, or research and dewelopservices; and we do not have other relatipsdhiat expose
us to liability that is not reflected in the findalcstatements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

At September 30, 2010, all of our short-term debtlinterest at a variable rate, tied to LIBOR asfarence
rate. Changes in the underlying LIBOR interest matthe spread charged under our performance grigiid on our
short-term debt could affect our earnings. For epara hypothetical 100 basis point increase inniterest rate on
our short-term debt would result in an increasepgroximately $900,000 in annual pre-tax interepease. This
estimated increase is based upon the outstandiagdsaof our shorterm debt as of September 30, 2010 and ass
no mitigating changes by us to reduce the outstandalances, no additional interest assistancecthdt! be receive
from vendors due to the interest rate increase nanthanges in the base LIBOR rate.

Products purchased from Italian-based manufactarersubject to fluctuations in the euro to U.Slado
exchange rate, which ultimately may impact theikrptéce at which we can sell such products. Acaogty,
fluctuations in the value of the euro as comparél the U.S. dollar may impact the price pointsvaich we can
profitably sell Italian products, and such pricénp® may not be competitive with other product éirile the United
States. Accordingly, such fluctuations in excharages ultimately may impact the amount of reverost of goods
sold, cash flows, and earnings we recognize fdimhigproduct lines. We cannot predict the effedtexchange rate
fluctuations on our operating results. In certanses, we may enter into foreign currency cash Redges to reduce
the variability of cash flows associated with fasted purchases of boats and yachts from Italiaaeba
manufacturers. We are not currently engaged irdgoreurrency exchange hedging transactions to menagforeigi
currency exposure. If and when we do engage ingoreurrency exchange hedging transactions, weatassure
that our strategies will adequately protect ourrapeg results from the effects of exchange ratetélations.

Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary D¢
Reference is made to the financial statementqjaokes thereto, and the report thereon, commengeing o
page F-1 of this report, which financial statemewotes, and report are incorporated herein by eafas.

Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcédunting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedure

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that material informagguired to
be disclosed by us in Securities Exchange Act tepsirecorded, processed, summarized and repeitieih the time
periods specified in the Securities and Exchangar@igsion’s rules and forms, and that such infororais
accumulated and communicated to our managemenigding the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finaic
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisioegarding required disclosure.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial io#fr have evaluated the effectiveness of the design
operation of our disclosure controls and proced(asglefined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) utheSecurities
Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the permgeoed by this report. Based on such evaluatiorh) sificers hav:
concluded that, as of the end of the period covbyeithis report, our disclosure controls and proces were
effective.
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Changes in Internal Controls

During the quarter ended September 30, 2010, there no changes in our internal controls over fafgn
reporting that materially affected, or were reasiynéikely to materially affect, our internal cootrover financial
reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, does not expect tha
disclosure controls and internal controls will pgatall errors and all fraud. A control system matter how well
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonabtebsolute, assurance that the objectiveseofdimtrol system
are met. Further, the design of a control systerstmaflect the fact that there are resource coimssreand the
benefits of controls must be considered relativih&ir costs. Because of the inherent limitationall control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide las@ssurance that all control issues and inssaot&aud, if any,
within the company have been detected. These inhkngitations include the realities that judgmeimsiecision-
making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can doecause of simple error or mistake. Additionatlyntrols can b
circumvented by the individual acts of some persbgsollusion of two or more people, or by managahoverride
of the control. The design of any system of costedso is based in part upon certain assumptiomstdbe likelihooc
of future events, and there can be no assurantartlgadesign will succeed in achieving its statedlg under all
potential future conditions; over time, a contradyrbecome inadequate because of changes in corgjitiothe
degree of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate. Because of the inherent linoitetin a cost-
effective control system, misstatements due torenréraud may occur and not be detected.

CEO and CFO Cetrtifications

Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 are the Certifications & @hief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Oéfic
respectively. The Certifications are required inadance with Section 302 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002 (the
“Section 302 Certifications”). This Item of thisp@rt, which you are currently reading is the infation concerning
the Evaluation referred to in the Section 302 @edtiions and this information should be read injoaction with the
Section 302 Certifications for a more complete ust@mding of the topics presented.

Management’'s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over financiglaging, as
such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Sitiasr Exchange Act of 1934. Under the supervisiod with the
participation of the Company’s management, inclgdia principal executive officer and principaldimcial officer,
the Company conducted an evaluation of the effengs of the Company'’s internal control over finameporting
as of September 30, 2010 as required by the SiesuEikchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-15(c). In maltimg
assessment, the Company used the criteria settfpriie Committee of Sponsoring Organizations eftheadway
Commission (“COSQ”) irnternal Control — Integrated FrameworRased on its evaluation, management
concluded that its internal control over financiggporting was effective as of September 30, 2010.

Our internal control over financial reporting asSEptember 30, 2010 has been audited by Ernst andgvLLP,
an independent registered public accounting firsrstated in their report which appears below.
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public &Acounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
of MarineMax, Inc.

We have audited MarineMax, Inc.’s internal contreér financial reporting as of September 30, 2@H3ed on
criteria established in Internal Control trtegrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizatior
of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”afheMax, Inc.’s management is responsible for ha&iimg
effective internal control over financial reportjrand for its assessment of the effectivenesstefrial control over
financial reporting included in the accompanyingiagement’s report on internal control over finah@@orting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on@wnpany’s internal control over financial reportingsed on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightiBoa
(United States). Those standards require that s ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financiaporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control digancial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and tipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabgessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considezeédssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provide:
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablessssu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipless A company’s internal control over finanadiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1pjreto the maintenance of records that, in redslerdetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2)iderweasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngcasgarmit preparation of financial statementadcordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andrietipts and expenditures of the company are beaxdge only in
accordance with authorizations of management amdtdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdarance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use or disposition of the compsuassets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, MarineMax, Inc. maintained, in albterial respects, effective internal control dineancial
reporting as of September 30, 2010, based on tH&QCEOiteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated balance sheadadheMax, Inc. as of September 30, 2010 and 2808 the
related consolidated statements of operations, oeimgmsive income, stockholders’ equity and cashdlfor each of
the three years in the period ended Septemberdd®, @ MarineMax, Inc. and our report dated Decem2)010
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Erst & Young LLP

Certified Public Accountants
Tampa, Florida
December 2, 2010

51




Table of Contents

PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Govence

The information required by this Item relating tar @irectors is incorporated herein by referencéhéodefinitive
Proxy Statement (particularly under the captionrfimate Governance”) to be filed pursuant to Retgpial 4A of
the Exchange Act for our 2011 Annual Meeting ofcRtwlders. The information required by this Iterfatiag to our
executive officers is included in “Business — Extagz Officers.”

We have adopted a code of ethics that appliesttprincipal executive officer, principal financiefficer, and
other senior accounting personnel. The “Code ofcEtfor the CEO and Senior Financial Officers”dsated on our
website atvwww.MarineMax.conm the Investor Relations section under Corporategénance.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementeurittm 5.05(c) of Form 8-K regarding any amendntenor
waiver from, a provision of this code of ethicspmsting such information on our website, at therassland location
specified above.

Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is incorp@@herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stent
(particularly under the caption “Executive Compeiwse) to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A oétBxchange
Act for our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ainagement and Related Stockholder Mattt

The information required by this Item is incorp@cherein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stant
(particularly under the caption “Security OwnersbfgPrincipal Stockholders, Directors, and Officgts be filed
pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Actoiar 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abtector Independenct

The information required by this Item is incorp@cherein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stant
(particularly under the caption “Certain Relatioipshand Related Transactions”) to be filed purstant
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2011 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servici

The information required by this Item is incorp@@herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stent
(particularly under the caption “ratification of Apintment of Independent Auditor”) to be filled puant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2011 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Scheduls
(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schetks
(1) Financial Statements are listed in the Inde€omsolidated Financial Statements on page F-hisféport.

(2) No financial statement schedules are includszhbse such schedules are not applicable, areaquited, or
because required information is included in thesotidated financial statements or notes thereto.
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(b) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Exhibit
31 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist, including all amendments to date

3.1(a) Certificate of Amendment of Restricted Certificafdncorporation of the Registrant(
3.2 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Redfi6):
3.3 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapating Preferred Stock(.
4.1 Specimen of Common Stock Certificate
4.2 Rights Agreement, dated August 28, 2001 betweerisRagt and American Stock Transfer
Trust Company, as Rights Agent
1C.3(h) Employment Agreement between Registrant and WillkanMicGill Jr.(5)
1C.3()) Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadcLamb(5)
1C.3() Employment Agreement between Registrant and EdwaRlussell(5)
1C.3()T Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of March 30, @29@6g MarineMax of New York, Inc.; Surfs-
3 Marina, Inc.; Matthew Barbara, Paul Barbara, Bieeney, and Angela Chianese; and certain
affiliates of Surfsid-3 Marina, Inc.(6
1C4 1998 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended through Bep&y, 2001(7
1C.5 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plai
10.18t Hatteras Sales and Service Agreement, effectiveudtud, 2006 among the Registrant, MarineMax
Motor Yachts, LLC, and Hatteras Yachts DivisiorBstinswick Corporation(7
1C.20 Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regmdteend Brunswick Corporation, dated Decemb
2005(10)
1C.20(a) Sea Ray Sales and Service Agreement
1C.21 Second Amended and Restated Credit and Securityefxggnt dated June 19, 2006 among the
Registrant and its subsidiaries, as Borrowers,Bartk of America, N.A., KeyBank, N.A., General
Electric Commercial Distribution Finance Corporati®achovia Bank, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.
National City Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., and BcdnBanking and Trust company, as Lenders
1C.21(a) First Amendment to Second Amended and Restatedt@madl Security Agreement executed on Jur
2007 effective as of May 31, 2007 among the Remistand its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Bank of
America, N.A., KeyBank, N.A., General Electric Comruial Distribution Finance Corporation, Bral
Banking and Trust Company, as Lenders|
1C.21(b) Third Amendment to Second Amended and RestateditGued Security Agreement executed on
March 7, 2008, among MarineMax, Inc. and its sulbsiels, as Borrowers, and Bank of America, N.A.,
Keybank, N.A., General Electric Commercial Disttibn Finance Corporation, Wachovia Bank, N.A.,
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., Branch Reag and Trust Company, and Bank of the West,
as Lenders.(12
10.21(c)1 Fourth Amendment to Second Amended and Restatatit@red Security Agreement executed
December 15, 2008, by and among MarineMax, Inc.i@mglbsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Bank of
America, N.A., Keybank, N.A., GE Commercial Distition Finance Corporation, Wachovia Bank,
N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., BdnBanking & Trust Company, and Bank of-
West, as Lenders.(1.
1C.21(d)1 Fifth Amendment to Second Amended and RestateditGred Security Agreement executed on Jur
2009, by and among MarineMax, Inc. and its subsebaas Borrowers, and Bank of America, N.A.,
Keybank, N.A., GE Commercial Distribution Financer@oration, Wachovia Bank, N.A., Wells Fargo
Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., Branch Banking & Triddmpany, and Bank of the West, as Lenders.
(15)
10.21(e)1 Sixth Amendment to Second Amended and RestatedtGrred Security Agreement executed on
September 10, 2009, by and among MarineMax, Ing.itarsubsidiaries, as Borrowers, and Bank of
America, N.A., Keybank, N.A., GE Commercial Distition Finance Corporation, Wachovia Bank,
N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., U.S. Bank, N.A., BdnBanking & Trust Company, and Bank of"
West, as Lenders.(1
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit

1C.21(f)t Inventory Financing Agreement executed on Jun€@40, among MarineMax, Inc. and
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and GE Commercial Digion Finance Corporation, as Lender.(

10.21(g)1 Program Terms Letter executed on June 24, 2010n@Mi@rineMax, Inc. and its subsidiaries, as
Borrowers, and GE Commercial Distribution Finangepdration, as Lender.(1

1C.22 MarineMax, Inc. 2007 Incentive Compensation Plah

1C.23 Form Stock Option Agreement for 2007 Incentive Cengation Plan(1¢

1C.24 Form Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for 2083entive Compensation Plan(]

1C.25 Director Fee Share Purchase Program

10.261 Floor Plan Loan Agreement executed on October I028y and among MarineMax, Inc. and its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and CGI Finance, bxLender

1C.27t  Floor Plan Credit Loan Note executed on Octob@070, by MarineMax, Inc. and its subsidiaries, as
Borrowers, payable to CGI Finance, Inc., as Len

1C.28 Pledge and Security Agreement executed on Octql#810, by and among MarineMax, Inc. anc
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and CGI Finance, bxLender

21 List of Subsidiarie:

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as aete

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ast

321 Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, @spéed pursuant to Section 906 of the Sark-
Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-
Oxley Act of 2002

t Certain information in this exhibit has been omtitsend filed separately with the Securities and Brge
Commission. Confidential treatment has been reqdesith respect to the omitted portio

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registration Stateraertorm 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2891
filed on December 20, 200

(2) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed February 19, 201

(3) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed on November 26, 20C
(4) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed on September 5, 20(
(5) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed on June 13, 200

(6) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1fQhe quarter ended March 31, 2006, as filed/iay 10,
2006.

(7) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1(-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 208filed
on February 14, 200:

(8) Incorporated by reference to Registration Stateromriform S-1 (Registration 333-47873) as filed cardh 12,
1998.

(9) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1(-Q/A for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2007 jlad
on September 23, 200

(20) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K as filed on December 9, 20(

(11) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1fQhe quarterly period ended June 30, 2006iled én
August 4, 2006

(12) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K as filed on June 11, 200
(13) Incorporated by reference to Regist’sform &K as filed on March 12, 200
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(14) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1f@Qhe quarterly period ended December 31, 2@868iled
on February 9, 200!

(15) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1(-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2009,led &in
August 6, 2009

(16) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 1fdkthe year ended September 30, 2009, as filed on
December 14, 200!

(17) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1(-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2010,led &n
August 9, 2010

(18) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form ¢-K as filed on March 6, 200
(19) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form £-8 (File No. 33:-141657)as filed March 29, 200°

(c) Financial Statements Schedule
(1) See Item 15(a) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas

duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: December 2, 2010

MARINEMAX, INC.

/s/ William H. McGill Jr.

William H. McGill Jr.

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act9#4] the following persons on behalf of the registrand in
the capacities and on the date indicated have g@itinig report below.

Signature

/s/ William H. McGill Jr.

William H. McGill Jr.

/s/ Michael H. McLamt

Michael H. McLamb

/s/ Hilliard M. Eure I

Hilliard M. Eure 11l

/s/ John B. Furma

John B. Furmai

/s/ Robert S. Kar

Robert S. Kan

/s/ Russell J. Knitte

Russell J. Knitte

/sl Joseph A. Watte

Joseph A. Wattet

/s/ Dean S. Woodme

Dean S. Woodma
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Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Chairman of the Board, President, and December 2, 201
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

December 2, 201

December 2, 201

December 2, 201

December 2, 201

December 2, 201

December 2, 201

December 2, 201
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public &Acounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
of MarineMax, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the related d¢data statements of operations, comprehensiveriaco
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each ofttiree years in the period ended September 30,. Z0E3e
financial statements are the responsibility of @menpany’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighago
(United States). Those standards require that e ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢@sabasis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurtifinancial statements. An audit also includeessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfisancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referre@dlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated
financial position of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidkgrat September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the cdassdi results
their operations and their cash flows for eacthefthree years in the period ended September 30, &0 conformity
with U.S generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statemént2008 the Company changed its method for acaogifior
income tax uncertainties.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), MarineMax, Inc.’s internal contowkr financial reporting as of September 30, 2@H3ed on
criteria established in Internal Control ttegrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSping Organizatior
of the Treadway Commission and our report dateceBiser 2, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinioretirer

/sl Ermst & Young LLP

Certified Public Accountants
Tampa, Florida
December 2, 2010
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 3C  September 3C
2009 2010
(Amounts in thousands except
share and per share data)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel $ 25506 $ 16,53¢
Accounts receivable, n 35,49] 22,77¢
Income tax receivabl 9,98: —
Inventories, ne 205,93« 188,72:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 12,31« 7,464
Total current asse 289,23¢ 235,50:
Property and equipment, r 102,31¢ 99,70¢
Other lon¢-term asset 2,092 1,554
Total asset $ 393,64: $ 336,76(

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payabl $ 15847 $ 7,00z
Customer deposit 4,882 5,417
Accrued expense 29,32¢ 24,724
Shor-term borrowings 142,00( 93,84«
Total current liabilities 192,05 130,98:

Other lon¢-term liabilities 3,831 3,74¢
Total liabilities 195,88t 134,73(

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 1,000,000 starg®rized, none issued
outstanding at September 30, 2009 and ? — —
Common stock, $.001 par value; 24,000,000 and 40000 shares authorized,
22,496,659 and 22,938,938 shares issued and 215808&nd 22,148,038 shares

outstanding at September 30, 2009 and 2010, regelksc 22 22
Additional paic-in capital 204,77. 206,54¢
Retained earning 8,772 11,26¢
Treasury stock, at cost, 790,900 shares held dae®éer 30, 2009 and 20 (15,810 (15,810

Total stockholder equity 197,75¢ 202,03(
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 393,64« $ 336,76(

See accompanying notes to consolidated financstents.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended September 30,
2008 2009 2010
(Amounts in thousands except share
and per share data)

Revenue $ 88540° $ 588,588 $ 450,34(
Cost of sale: 679,16 499,92! 339,53:

Gross profit 206,24 88,66( 110,80°
Selling, general, and administrative exper 217,42¢ 159,99¢ 123,97:
Goodwill and intangible asset impairment che 122,09: — —

Loss from operation (133,279 (71,339 (13,16%)
Interest expens 20,16¢ 14,06¢ 3,92¢
Loss before income tax bene (153,439 (85,402) (17,09)
Income tax benef 19,16! 8,63( 19,58¢
Net income (loss $ (134,27) $ (76,77 $ 2,49i
Basic net income (loss) per common sk $ (730 $ (4.1 $ 0.11
Diluted net income (loss) per common sh $ (7.30 $ (4.1 $ 0.11

Weighted average number of common shares usedrnipwting nef
income (loss) per common sha

Basic 18,391,48 18,685,42 21,998,74
Diluted 18,391,48 18,685,42  22,597,95

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ@#tstents.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Year Ended September 30,

2008 2009 2010
(Amounts in thousands)

Net income (loss $(134,27) $(76,772) $2,491
Other comprehensive income (los
Change in fair market value of derivative instrunsenet of tax benefit of $228 fi

the year ended September 30, 2 (365) — —
Reclassification adjustment for gains includedénInss, net of tax of $211 for the

year ended September 30, 2( 337 — —
Comprehensive income (los $(134,30Y) $(76,775) $2,49i

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ@&stents.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated

Additional Other Total
Common Stock Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders’
Shares Amount  Capital Earnings Income Stock Equity
(Amounts in thousands except share date

BALANCE, September 30, 20(C 18,379,86 $ 18 $167,91. $ 220,37 $ 28 $(14,777) $ 373,55¢
Net loss — — — (134,27) — —  (134,27)
Purchase of treasury sto (71,300 — — — — (1,039 (1,03%)
Shares issued pursuant to employee stock

purchase pla 105,39( — 1,207 — — — 1,207
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 102,35: — 1,02¢ — — — 1,02¢
Stocl-based compensatic 8,181 — 8,46¢ — — — 8,46¢
Tax benefits of options exercis 22¢ — — — 22¢
Cumulative effect of adoption of FIN ¢ — — — (559 — — (554)
Conversion of restricted stock awards to restri

stock units (200,000) — — — — — —
Change in fair market value of derivative

instruments, net of ta — — — — (28) — (28)
BALANCE, September 30, 20(C 18,424,48 19 178,83( 85,54+ — (15,81() 248,58
Net loss — — — (76,779 — — (76,777)
Shares issued pursuant to employee stock

purchase pla 198,29¢ — 63C — — — 63C
Shares issued upon vesting of equity aw: 45,40 — 74 — — — 74
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 20,55¢ — 62 — — — 62
Issuance of common sto 2,990,001 3 19,61 — — — 19,61«
Stocl-based compensatic 27,01 — 5,56¢ — — — 5,56¢
BALANCE, September 30, 20C 21,705,75 22 204,77. 8,77: — (15,810  197,75¢
Net income — — — 2,497 — — 2,497
Shares issued pursuant to employee stock

purchase pla 172,37: — 48¢ — — — 48¢
Shares issued upon vesting of equity aw: 61,62« — 77 — — — 77
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opi 185,83« — 92: — — — 92:
Stocl-based compensatic 22,45( — 52¢ — — — 52¢
Tax benefits of options exercis — — 19 — — — 19
BALANCE, September 30, 201 22,148,03 $ 22 $206,54¢ $ 11,26¢ $ — $(15,810 $ 202,03(

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ@&stents.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to @ehcprovided by (used i
operating activities
Goodwill and intangible asset impairme
Depreciation and amortizatic
Deferred income tax provision (bene
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipn
Stoclk-based compensation expense,
Loss on extinguishment and modification of debt ahdr-term borrowings
Tax benefits from options exercis
Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic
(Increase) decrease—
Accounts receivable, n
Income tax receivabl
Inventories, ne
Prepaid expenses and other as
(Decrease) increase —
Accounts payabl
Customer deposi
Accrued expense
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipm
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn
Net cash used in investing activiti
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayments of lor-term debt
Net (repayments) borrowings on st-term borrowings
Purchases of treasury stc
Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic
Debt modification cost
Net proceeds from issuance of common s
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock undeniive compensation a
employee purchase pla
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informat
Cash paid for
Interest
Income taxe:

For the Year Ended September 30,
2008 2009 2010
(Amounts in thousands)

$(134,27) $ (76,779 $ 2,497

122,00 — —
11,09C  10,96¢ 7,357
(6,309  1,51¢ —

25¢ (64) 357
8,46¢ 5,56¢ 52¢
16C 49z 1,02
223 — 19
(16¢) — (19
28,40, (6,566 12,72
(6,744 (3,239  9,98¢
9,41C 262,69¢ 17,21
2,63: 1,36  1,53¢
(16,749  11,36¢  (8,84%)
(26,915 (1,629 53C
(361)  3,40° (4,687
(8,786 209,10  40,21¢
(7,969 (2,100 (4,159
112 24C  2,16¢
(7,857 (1,860 (1,999

(30,839 — —
46,000 (230,000 (48,15¢)
(1,035) — —

16¢ — 19
— @379 (289

— 19,614 —
2,231 76€  1,22¢
16,53: (211,999 (47,19
(111) (4,756 (8,969
30,378 30,26 25,50

$ 30,26« $ 25,50¢ $ 16,53¢

20,63(
2,617

14,49:; 4,46¢

31

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. COMPANY BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

We are the largest recreational boat retailer énhited States. We engage primarily in the rei@lié, brokerag
and service of new and used boats, motors, traiteasine parts, and accessories and offer slipstordge
accommodations in certain locations. In additior,arrange related boat financing, insurance, atehded service
contracts. As of September 30, 2010, we operatedigh 56 retail locations in 19 states, consistihglabama,
Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Floridzeorgia, Kansas, Maryland, Minnesota, MissouewNersey,
New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhodar&l, Tennessee, and Tex

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Sea Rawt@oWhaler, Meridian, Cabo, and Hatteras recrratiboats
and yachts, all of which are manufactured by BruokWorporation (“Brunswick”). Sales of new Brunskiboats
accounted for approximately 41% of our revenuésical 2010. Brunswick is the world’s largest mamtfiger of
marine products and marine engines. We believeepresented in excess of 7% of all Brunswick masades,
including approximately 46% of its Sea Ray boa¢satiuring our 2010 fiscal year.

We have dealership agreements with Sea Ray, Bv¥taier, Cabo, Hatteras, Meridian, and Mercury Meyia
subsidiaries or divisions of Brunswick. We also éaealer agreements with Azimut Yachts. These aggats allow
us to purchase, stock, sell, and service these faetvers’boats and products. These agreements also allbovuse
these manufacturers’ names, trade symbols, anideitieal properties in our operations.

We are a party to a multi-year dealer agreemeitit Bitinswick covering Sea Ray products that appaiatas
the exclusive dealer of Sea Ray boats in our gebiranarkets. We are a party to a multi-year deadgeement with
Hatteras Yachts that gives us the exclusive riglsetl Hatteras Yachts throughout the states aidddexcluding the
Florida panhandle), New Jersey, New York, and TeW&s are also the exclusive dealer for Cabo Yattitaighout
the states of Florida, New Jersey, and New Yor&ugh a multi-year dealer agreement. We are alsexblisive
dealer for Italy-based Azimut-Benetti Group’s protlline, Azimut Yachts, for the Northeast Unite@tgs from
Maryland to Maine and for the state of Florida tigb a multi-year dealer agreement. We believe nam&vick
brands offer a migration for our existing custorbase or fill a void in our product offerings, argtardingly, do not
compete with the business generated from our qiteeninent brands.

As is typical in the industry, we deal with manutaers, other than Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Hatt€also, an
Azimut Yachts, under renewable annual dealer ageatsneach of which gives us the right to sella#simakes and
models of boats within a given geographic regiony Ahange or termination of these agreements,eagineements
discussed above, for any reason, or changes inetitia@, regulatory, or marketing practices, inchgirebate or
incentive programs, could adversely affect our ltesaf operations. Although there are a limited temof
manufacturers of the type of boats and productsweasell, we believe that adequate alternativecssuwould be
available to replace any manufacturer other thanF&®y as a product source. These alternative soorag not be
available at the time of any interruption, and ralédive products may not be available at comparegstas, which
could affect operating results adversely.

General economic conditions and consumer spendgitigrps can negatively impact our operating results
Unfavorable local, regional, national, or globabeemic developments or uncertainties regardingréuéconomic
prospects could reduce consumer spending in thkatsawve serve and adversely affect our businesmdguic
conditions in areas in which we operate dealersipiagicularly Florida in which we generated 43%%} and 54%
of our revenue during fiscal 2008, 2009, and 20&€pectively, can have a major impact on our oerat Local
influences, such as corporate downsizing and mjlit@se closings, also could adversely affect @arations in
certain markets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionarydpey levels generally decline, at times resulfimg
disproportionately large reductions in the saltugfiry goods. Consumer spending on luxury goods day decline
as a result of lower consumer confidence levelenéf/prevailing economic conditions are favorati#hough we
have expanded our operations during periods ohatatgor modestly declining industry trends, thelicat nature of
the recreational boating industry or the lack afuistry growth may adversely affect our business,
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

financial condition, and results of operations. Ameyiod of adverse economic conditions or low comsuconfidenc
has a negative effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factors ey
affected our business in fiscal 2007 and continuedkness in consumer spending resulting from satista
weakness in the financial markets and deteriorazanomic conditions had a very substantial negatffect on our
business in fiscal 2008, 2009, and 2010. Theseitions caused us to defer our acquisition progréaay new store
openings, reduce our inventory purchases, engaigeantory reduction efforts, close some of ouaitdbcations,
reduce our headcount, and amend and replace dlit faeility. We cannot predict the length or setyeof these
unfavorable economic or financial conditions or ¢éx¢ent to which they will continue to adverselfeaf our
operating results nor can we predict the effectdgsrof the measures we have taken to addressithieranent or
whether additional measures will be necessary.

In order to provide comparability between periodsspnted, certain amounts have been reclassified thie
previously reported consolidated financial statetsiém conform to the consolidated financial statetypgesentation
of the current period. The consolidated finandatesments include our accounts and the accourdsragubsidiaries,
all of which are wholly owned. All significant inteompany transactions and accounts have been aliegin

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with amgial maturity of three months or less to be ceghivalents

Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received from our wegdnh accordance with FASB Accounting Standards
Codification 605-50, “Revenue Recognition, Custofayments and Incentives” (“ASC 605-50"), previgusl
referred to as Emerging Issues Task Force Issu@Xa&6, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Riesgfor
Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor.” AR5-50 requires us to classify interest assistasoeived from
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costratated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstasse against ol
interest expense incurred with our lenders. PuitsiaeASC 605-50, amounts received by us under otoT
assistance programs from our manufacturers arechatfainst related advertising expenses.

Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paid to aegthie inventory, net of vendor consideration antpase
discounts, the cost of equipment added, reconditipoosts, and transportation costs relating tamicty inventory
for sale. We state new boat, motor, and traileeimories at the lower of cost, determined on aifipadentification
basis, or market. We state used boat, motor, aildrtinventories, including trade-ins, at the lowécost,
determined on a specifidentification basis, or market. We state parts arckssories at the lower of cost, deterrr
on an average cost basis, or market. We utilizeh@torical experience, the aging of the inventrand our
consideration of current market trends as the Hasidetermining lower of cost or market valuatafowance. As of
September 30, 2009 and 2010, our lower of costarket valuation allowance was $17.7 million and3&willion,
respectively. If events occur and market conditicoimsnge, causing the fair value to fall below cagyalue, the
lower of cost or market valuation allowance couldrease.

Property and Equipment

We record property and equipment at cost, net cliaclated depreciation, and depreciate property and
equipment over their estimated useful lives ushrgdtraight-line method. We capitalize and amotgasehold
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improvements over the lesser of the life of theséear the estimated useful life of the asset. Udieks for purposes
of computing depreciation are as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvemen 5-40
Machinery and equipme! 3-10
Furniture and fixture 5-10
Vehicles 35

We remove the cost of property and equipment sofétired and the related accumulated deprecidtmmn the
accounts at the time of disposition and include r@sylting gain or loss in the consolidated statgsef operations.
We charge maintenance, repairs, and minor replagesn@ operations as incurred, and we capitalizkaanortize
major replacements and improvements over theiulseés.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We account for goodwill and identifiable intangilalesets in accordance with FASB Accounting Stargdard
Cadification 350, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Oth¢fASC 350"), previously referred to as StatemehFinancial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Othaahgible Assets.” Under this standard, we as$ess t
impairment of goodwill and identifiable intangildssets at least annually and whenever events ngeban
circumstances indicate that the carrying value nmatyoe recoverable. The first step in the assessinéme
estimation of fair value. If step one indicatest thgpairment potentially exists, we perform thew®t step to
measure the amount of impairment, if any. Goodavilll identifiable intangible asset impairment exigten the
estimated fair value is less than its carrying galu

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, weried a significant decline in market valuatioiven
primarily by weakness in the marine retail industnd an overall soft economy, which hindered ouaricial
performance. Accordingly, we completed a step oradyais (as noted above) and estimated the faireval the
reporting unit as prescribed by ASC 350, whichéatitd potential impairment. As a result, we congulet fair value
analysis of indefinite lived intangible assets arstep two goodwill impairment analysis, as requlvg ASC 350.
We determined that indefinite lived intangible dsssnd goodwill were impaired and recorded a na@hcharge of
$121.1 million based on our assessment. We wereegoaired to make any current or future cash exipered as a
result of this impairment charge.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

FASB Accounting Standards Codification 360-10-42xdperty, Plant, and Equipment, Impairment or Désppo
of Long-Lived Assets” (“ASC 360-10-40"), previoudigferred to as Statement of Financial Accountitep8ards
No. 144,“Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-LidéAssets,” requires that long-lived assets, such as
property and equipment and purchased intangibleigsiuto amortization, be reviewed for impairmeihenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate tleatdlrying amount of an asset may not be recowerabl
Recoverability of the asset is measured by compaudd its carrying amount to undiscounted futureaash flows
the asset is expected to generate. If such asget®msidered to be impaired, the impairment teelsegnized is
measured as the amount by which the carrying anufithe asset exceeds its fair market value. Eséisnaf expecte
future cash flows represent our best estimate basedirrently available information and reasonanld supportable
assumptions. Any impairment recognized in accordamith ASC 360-10-40 is permanent and may not beored.
As of September 30, 2010, we had not recognizedrapgirment of long-lived assets in connection with
ASC 360-10-40 based on our reviews.
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Customer Deposits

Customer deposits primarily include amounts reativem customers toward the purchase of boats. We
recognize these deposits as revenue upon delivexgoeptance of the related boats to customers.

Insurance

We retain varying levels of risk relating to theumance policies we maintain, most significantlyrkess’
compensation insurance and employee medical benéfi are responsible for the claims and lossestied under
these programs, limited by per occurrence dedwdibhd paid claims or losses up to pre-determireedmum
exposure limits. Our third-party insurance carrigag any losses above the pre-determined expasuits.IWe
estimate our liability for incurred but not repatt®sses using our historical loss experience jugment, and
industry information.

Derivative Instruments

We account for derivative instruments in accordamitk FASB Accounting Standards Codification 815,
“Derivatives and Hedging” (“ASC 815"), previouslgferred to as Statement of Financial Accountingn@ads
No. 133,“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certéladging Activities,” Statement of Financial Accoumgt
Standards No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivatinstruments and Certain Hedging Activity, an Amiment of
SFAS 133" and Statement of Financial Accountingh8&ads No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 onJa&xie
Instruments and Hedging Activities”. Under thessndfards, all derivative instruments are recordetherbalance
sheet at their respective fair values.

We utilize certain derivative instruments, from ¢ito time, including interest rate swaps and fodaamtracts,
to manage variability in cash flows associated witkrest rates and forecasted purchases of bodtgahts from
certain of our foreign suppliers in euros. At Semter 30, 2009 and 2010, no such instruments westamaling.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, and tragdes, and parts and service operations at thettienkoat,
motor, trailer, or part is delivered to or accepbgdhe customer or service is completed. We reieegieferred
revenue from service operations and slip and séosagvices on a straight-line basis over the tdrtheocontact or
when service is completed. We recognize commisstansed from a brokerage sale at the time theecklatokerage
transaction closes. We recognize commissions edyed for placing notes with financial institut®im connection
with customer boat financing when we recognizerdiated boat sales. We recognize marketing feesedarn credit
life, accident and disability, and hull insuraneequcts sold by third-party insurance companidgb@atater of
customer acceptance of the insurance product dsmséd by contract execution or when the related fme is
recognized. Pursuant to negotiated agreementsfiwéhcial and insurance institutions, we are chdrgack for a
portion of these fees should the customer termioatefault on the related finance or insurancdraghbefore it is
outstanding for a stipulated minimal period of tiriiée base the chargeback allowance, which was at#nal to the
consolidated financial statements taken as a wamlef September 30, 2009 or 2010, on our experieitbe
repayments or defaults on the related financesuramce contracts.

We also recognize commissions earned on extendedmtg service contracts sold on behalf of thirdtpa
insurance companies at the later of customer aaoeptof the service contract terms as evidencembbiyact
execution or recognition of the related boat séle.are charged back for a portion of these comorissshould the
customer terminate or default on the service cehpeor to its scheduled maturity. We determine ¢thargeback
allowance, which was not material to the consoéiddinancial statements taken as a whole as oeS8dqr 30, 2009
or 2010, based upon our experience with repaynerdsfaults on the service contracts.
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The following table sets forth percentages of @renue generated by certain products and serfaresach of
last three years.

2008 2009 2010

New boat sale 63.5% 60.7% 54.£%
Used boat sale 20.5% 22.5% 24.(%
Maintenance and repair servic 6.6 7.5% 9.8%
Finance and insurance produ 360 2.7% 2.7%
Parts and accessori 4.4% 5% 6.4%
Brokerage service 1.4% 1.2% 2.7%
Total Revenut 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for our share-based compensation ptdliosvfng the provisions of FASB Accounting Standard
Coadification 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensdt{dASC 718"), previously referred to as Statemeht
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, “ShareeBdayment.” In accordance with ASC 718, we usdtaek-
Scholes valuation model for valuing all stock-baserhpensation and shares granted under our Emp&tpe
Purchase Plan. We measure compensation for restistbck awards and restricted stock units awtdire on the
grant date based on the number of shares expectest and the quoted market price of our commaockstWe
recognize compensation cost for all awards in egsjinet of estimated forfeitures, on a straigh-lhasis over the
requisite service period for each separately vggiortion of the award.

Advertising and Promotional Costs

We expense advertising and promotional costs asred and include them in selling, general, and
administrative expenses in the accompanying cafesteld statements of operations. Pursuant to AS€560%/e net
amounts received by us under our co-op assistagegms from our manufacturers against the relatkertising
expenses. Total advertising and promotional exeapproximated $19.3 million, $9.4 million, and%&illion, net
of related co-op assistance of approximately $7@m,8526,000, and $334,000, for the fiscal yeadedn
September 30, 2008, 2009, and 2010, respectively.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FASBounting Standards Codification 740, “Income
Taxes” (“ASC 740"), previously referred to as Staént of Financial Accounting Standards No. 108;c¢ounting fol
Income Taxes,” and Financial Accounting StandardrBdnterpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncentyiin
Income Taxes (“FIN 487).” In 2008 we adopted thewisions of FIN 48. Under ASC 740, we recognizecdefd tax
assets and liabilities for the future tax consegqasrattributable to temporary differences betwéerfinancial
statement carrying amounts of existing assetsiabdifies and their respective tax basis. We measieferred tax
assets and liabilities using enacted tax ratesa@geao apply to taxable income in the years inclvhive expect those
temporary differences to be recovered or settleel.r&¢ord valuation allowances to reduce our defetar assets to
the amount expected to be realized by consideflirayailable positive and negative evidence.

Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posaivé negative evidence regarding the realizaticheéérred
tax assets, including past operating results anadisources of taxable income. Under the provssn
ASC 740-10, we determined that our net deferrechtmet needed to be fully reserved given recentrepgr and
industry trends.

The Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistaatef 2009 (the “Act”)was signed into law in Novemt
2009. The Act allowed us to carryback the 2009petrating loss, which had a valuation allowance
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recorded against the entire amount and which we wet able to carryback under the prior tax lawe @tditional
carryback generated a tax refund of $19.2 millibme tax refund was recorded as income tax benafihd our
quarter ended December 31, 2009, the period thevAstenacted. We filed a carryback claim with titerinal
Revenue Service, and we received a $19.2 milliumekin the quarter ended March 31, 2010.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards@@ssued FASB Accounting Standards Codificatio,81
“Consolidation” (“ASC 810"), previously referred &5 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards1§a,
“Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R)” (“SEA67"). SFAS 167, addresses the effects of elitimgahe
qualifying special-purpose entity (“QSPE") concépm Statement of Financial Accounting Standards N,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finahndasets and Extinguishments of Liabilitieaid addresses cert;
key provisions of FIN 46(R), including transparemgyenterprises’ involvement with variable intereatities
(“VIES"). ASC 810 is effective for fiscal years baging after November 15, 2009 and interim periadthin those
fiscal years. We do not expect the adoption ofstamdard to have a material impact on our conastadifinancial
statements.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjectasoncentrations of credit risk, consist prindipaf cash anc
cash equivalents and accounts receivable. Contiemsaf credit risk with respect to our cash aaditequivalents
are limited primarily to amounts held with finanidiastitutions. Concentrations of credit risk amigifrom our
receivables are limited primarily to amounts dwerfrmanufacturers and financial institutions.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of our financial instrumentpragimates fair value due either to length to mator
existence of interest rates that approximate pliegainarket rates unless otherwise disclosed irgl@nsolidated
financial statements.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statesmé@ntonformity with accounting principles geneyaktcepted
in the United States requires us to make estins@atdsassumptions that affect the reported amourasssts and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets katdllities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses duenmgplorting periods. Significant estimates madeadin the
accompanying consolidated financial statementseaé¢tavaluation allowances, valuation of long-liveeskets, and
valuation of accruals. Actual results could diffieaterially from those estimates.

3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE:

Trade receivables consist primarily of receivalitem financial institutions, which provide fundirfigr custome
boat financing and amounts due from financial tntins earned from arranging financing with oustomers. We
normally collect these receivables within 30 dafythe sale. Trade receivables also include amaduesfrom
customers on the sale of boats, parts, servicestamndge. Amounts due from manufacturers represeetvables for
various manufacturer programs and parts and sewadck performed pursuant to the manufacturers’ araties.

The allowance for uncollectible receivables, whigds not material to the consolidated financialestants as of
September 30, 2009 or 2010, was based on our eyasioh of customer payment practices, past traiosekistory
with customers, and economic conditions. When aowatt becomes uncollectable, we expense it as ddtatcand
we credit payments subsequently received to thedbbatexpense account. We review the allowance for
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uncollectible receivables when an event or othangk in circumstances results in a change in tiae of the
ultimate collectability of a specific account.

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the followangeptember 30,

2009 2010

(Amounts in thousands)

Trade receivable $11,59¢ $10,41¢
Amounts due from manufacture 23,501 12,02
Other receivable 39¢€ 33€

$35,49% $22,77¢

4. INVENTORIES:

Inventories, net consisted of the following at ®ember 30,

2009 2010
(Amounts in thousands)
New boats, motors, and traile $160,30: $166,28:
Used boats, motors, and trail 39,11: 16,73
Parts, accessories, and ot 6,51¢ 5,70¢

$205,93:  $188,72:

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:

Property and equipment consisted of the followih§eptember 30,

2009 2010

(Amounts in thousands)
Land $ 40,41 $ 41,84%
Buildings and improvemen 76,41 77,49¢
Machinery and equipme! 28,00: 26,53¢
Furniture and fixture 4,98: 4,68(
Vehicles 5,715 5,16¢

155,52: 155,72¢
Less— Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (53,206 (56,02))

$102,31¢ $ 99,70¢

Depreciation and amortization expense on propertiyegjuipment totaled approximately $10.9 million,
$10.4 million, and $6.6 million for the fiscal ysagnded September 30, 2008, 2009, and 2010, respect

During fiscal 2009, we closed certain owned rdtaihtions in an effort to better match our fixedtsowith the
decline in retail business caused by the soft emdnoonditions. Accordingly, we entered into plansnarket and
sell certain locations we have exited. We assesseglans to sell certain locations with the cidddentified in
FASB Accounting Standards Codification 360, “PrapePlant, and Equipment” (“ASC 360"), previousbBferred to
as Statement of Financial Accounting StandardslMd, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Lehged
Assets,” and determined the locations should b&siflad as available for sale. As of Septembe2809 and 2010,
we have reclassified $4.8 million and $2.5 millioespectively, from property and equipment to pigteapenses ar
other current assets within the consolidated bal@heets.
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6. OTHER LONG -TERM ASSETS:

During February 2006, we became party to a joimtwes with Brunswick that acquired certain reabesgand
assets of Great American Marina for an aggregatehaise price of approximately $11.0 million, of alniwe
contributed approximately $4.0 million and Brunskveontributed approximately $7.0 million. The terofghe
agreement specify that we operate and maintaisghdce business and that Brunswick operate andtaiaithe
marina business. Simultaneously with the closihg,acquired entity became Gulfport Marina, LLC (ffpart”). We
account for our investment in Gulfport in accordamgth Financial Accounting Standards Board Accowgt
Standards Codification 323, “Investment — EquitytMel and Joint Venture” (“ASC 323"previously referred to ¢
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 18, “Theuityy Method of Accounting for Investments in Common
Stock.” Accordingly, we adjust the carrying amoohbur investment in Gulfport to recognize our ghaf earnings
or losses, based on the service business we operate

During the three months ended June 30, 2008, weried a significant decline in market valuatioiven
primarily by weakness in the marine retail industnd an overall soft economy, which adversely affigéour
financial performance. As a result of this weaknessrealized a goodwill and intangible asset impant charge.
Based on these events, we reviewed the valuationmhvestment in Gulfport in accordance with ASZ3 and
recoverability of the assets contained within thiatjventure. ASC 323 requires the recognition tifss in value of
an investment, which is other than a temporaryidecWe reviewed our investment and assets cortaiithin the
Gulfport joint venture, which consists of land, ldings, equipment, and goodwill. As a result, weedained that ou
investment in the joint venture was impaired arambrded a non-cash charge of $1.0 million basedusrassessment.
We were not required to make any current or fubagh expenditures as a result of this impairmeatgeh

7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITY:

During fiscal 2008, we entered into six interesé rawap agreements with a total notional amount of
approximately $23.2 million, which were designa#sdcash flow hedges that effectively convertedriigroof the
floating rate debt to fixed rates ranging from 4@& 4.87%. During fiscal 2008, we prepaid the tautding balance
of our long-term debt. With this prepayment, thepa/were terminated and the pretax fair marketevafithe swaps
of approximately $550,000 was reclassified fromuacglated other comprehensive income and recogiigeédcome
in the statements of operations.

During fiscal 2009 and 2010, we have not enter&alany interest rate swaps or currency hedgingisgcti

8. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS:

In June 2010, we entered into an Inventory Finanéigreement (the “Credit Facility”) with GE Commaéic
Distribution Finance Company (“GECDF”"). The Creldécility provides a floor plan financing commitmenft
$100 million and allows us to request a $50 milliocrease to this commitment under an accordiotufeasubject t
GECDF approval. The Credit Facility matures in JAQ&3 and is subject to extension for two one-peaiods,
subject to GECDF approval.

The Credit Facility has certain financial covenaagsspecified in the agreement. The covenantsdeclu
provisions that our leverage ratio not exceed 27bB0 and that our current ratio must be gredian tL.2 to 1.0. At
September 30, 2010, we were in compliance witthallcovenants under the Credit Facility. The irderate for
amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility i8 Basis points above the one-month London InterkBaifiering
Rate. There is an unused line fee of ten basigpoimthe unused portion of the Credit Facility.

Advances under the Credit Facility will be initidtby the acquisition of eligible new and used irteey or will
be re-advances against eligible new and used iopetitat have been partially paid-off. Advancesiew inventory
will mature 1,081 days from the original invoicaelaAdvances on used inventory will mature 361 days the dat:
we acquire the used inventory. Each advance igsuty a curtailment schedule, which requires that
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we pay down the balance of each advance on a pebadis starting after six months. The curtailmsaftedule
varies based on the type and value of the inventdrg collateral for the Credit Facility is all ofir personal proper
with certain limited exceptions. None of our resilage has been pledged for collateral for the Creatiility.

The Credit Facility replaces our prior $180 millioredit facility that provided for a line of crediith asset-
based borrowing availability. The prior credit fétgihad certain financial covenants as specifiethie agreement.
The interest rate for amounts outstanding undeptiog credit facility was 490 basis points abolre bne-month
LIBOR. During the quarter ended June 30, 2010, ecelerated the amortization of the prior crediilfigcloan costs
of approximately $1.0 million.

As of September 30, 2009 and 2010, our indebtedresxiated with financing our inventory and wogkin
capital needs totaled approximately $142.0 milkod $93.8 million, respectively and were in compudia with all of
the credit facility covenants. At September 30,2860d 2010, the interest rate on the outstandiog-$érm
borrowings was 5.2% and 4.0%. At September 30, 2000additional available borrowings under ourdtr&acility
were approximately $4.2 million.

As is common in our industry, we receive interestistance directly from boat manufacturers, ineigdi
Brunswick. The interest assistance programs vampagufacturer but generally include periods of fieancing or
reduced interest rate programs. The interest assistmay be paid directly to us or our lender déipgnon the
arrangements the manufacturer has established |a&sifg interest assistance received from manufarsias a
reduction of inventory cost and related cost oésas opposed to netting the assistance againsttergst expense
incurred with our lender.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds caveasely affect our ability to obtain adequate hoaéntory
and the holding costs of that inventory as welhesability and willingness of our customers tafice boat
purchases. As of September 30, 2010, we had neteongdebt. However, we rely on our Credit Facitiypurchase
our inventory of boats. The aging of our inventtimyits our borrowing capacity as defined curtailrteereduce the
allowable advance rate as our inventory ages. Guess to funds under our Credit Facility also ddpaipon the
ability of GECDF to meet its funding commitmentayticularly if it experiences shortages of capitaéxperiences
excessive volumes of borrowing requests from ottarsg a short period of time. A continuation efpdessed
economic conditions, weak consumer spending, turimadie credit markets, and lender difficultiesittbinterfere
with our ability to utilize our Credit Facility thund our operations. Any inability to utilize ouréglit Facility could
require us to seek other sources of funding toyr@paounts outstanding under the credit agreemergpdace or
supplement our credit agreement, which may notdssiple at all or under commercially reasonablmser

Similarly, decreases in the availability of creglitd increases in the cost of credit adversely affecability of
our customers to purchase boats from us and thehsrsely affect our ability to sell our produatsl impact the
profitability of our finance and insurance actigi Tight credit conditions, during fiscal 2009 awatinuing in fiscal
2010, adversely affected the ability of customerintance boat purchases, which had a negativetadfeour
operating results.
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9. INCOME TAXES:

The components of our provision for income taxassied of the following for the fiscal years ended

September 30,

Current provision (benefit
Federa
State

Total current provision (benefi

Deferred provision (benefit
Federa
State

Total deferred provision (benef
Total income tax provision (benef

2008 2009

(Amounts in thousands)

2010

$(12,770  $(10,009  $(19,24)
(82) (13¢) (344)
(12,859 (10,149 (19,589
(5,726) 1,38( —
(577) 132 —
(6,309) 1,51¢ —
$(19,167) $ (8,630 $(19,589)

Below is a reconciliation of the statutory feddradlome tax rate to our effective tax rate for tisedl years ende

September 30,

Federal tax provisio

State taxes, net of federal eff
Stock based compensati
Valuation allowanct

Other

Effective tax rate

2008 2009 2010
(35.0% (35.0% (35.0%
@4% @o0% (8.8%
0.3% 04%  0.5%
25.5% 29.5% (71.0%
1.1% (1L.O% _ (0.9%

(12.5% (10.1% (114.6%

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of tempodéfferences between the amount of assets ahdlitii@s
recognized for financial reporting purposes andhsmounts recognized for income tax purposes. &heffects of
these temporary differences representing the copmisrof deferred tax assets (liabilities) at Sepen30 were as

follows:

Current deferred tax asse
Inventories
Accrued expense
Current deferred tax asst
Valuation Allowance

Net current deferred tax ass

Long-term deferred tax asse
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stock based compensati
FIN 48 deferred tax ass
Tax loss carryforward
Other

Long-term deferred tax asse
Valuation allowanct

Net lon¢-term deferred tax asse

2009 2010
(Amounts in thousands)

$ 516¢ $ 2,69
4,09: 3,49¢
9,262 6,18¢
(9,267 (6,186

$ —  $ —

$21,39: $19,14:
6,01( 4,71z
58¢ 547
23,49¢ 17,13¢
111 10€
51,507  41,64¢
(51,597 (41,640
$ — 3 —
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Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posaivé negative evidence regarding the realizaticaetdrred
tax assets, including past operating results anadisources of taxable income. Under the provsmmASC 740, wi
determined that the entire net deferred tax asB&X") needed to be reserved given recent earnarysindustry
trends. The total valuation allowance at Septer8e2009 and 2010 was $60.9 million and $47.8 arilli
respectively. The change in valuation allowancenprily consisted of the reversal of the DTA for #@09 federal
Net Operating Loss‘NOL”), due to the change in law allowing for a Bar carryback, offset by the additional DTA
for this year’s NOL carryforward. The reductiontire valuation allowance related to the 2009 feds¥@lL DTA and
the addition to the valuation allowance due todheent year federal NOL DTA was $19.1 million &9 million
respectively. The tax loss carryfowards consist8702 million of state NOLs, which expire at varsoatervals, and
$9.9 million federal NOL generated this fiscal yedrich will expire in twenty-years.

We have adopted the provisions of FIN 48, now ui®€ 740. Under ASC 740, the impact of an uncertimin
position taken or expected to be taken on an indameeturn must be recognized in the financiakesteents at the
largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to bstained upon audit by the relevant taxing authofn uncertain
income tax position will not be recognized in tireahcial statements unless it is more likely thahof being
sustained. As of September 30, 2009 and 2010, dejparoximately $1.9 million and $1.7 million, resgively, of
gross unrecognized tax benefits, of which approiétyebl.3 million and $1.2 million, respectivelyrecognized,
would impact the effective tax rate before consitea change in valuation allowance.

The reconciliation of the total amount recordeduorecognized tax benefits at the beginning andod tide
fiscal years ended September 30, 2009 and 200fidlaws:

2009 2010

(Amounts in thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of thar $2,06¢4 $1,89¢
Increases in tax positions for prior ye 69 6C
Decreases in tax positions for prior ye (62 (57)
Lapse of statute of limitatior 1779 (159
Unrecognized tax benefits at September $1,89¢ $1,73¢

Consistent with our prior practices, we recognigeriest and penalties related to uncertain taxipasias a
component of income tax expense. As of Septemhe2@ID, interest and penalties represented apped@lyn
$663,000 of the gross unrecognized tax benefitsr&have been no significant changes to the balafriogerest and
penalties subsequent to adoption.

We are subject to tax by both federal and stat@gexuthorities. Until the respective statutesimitations
expire, we are subject to income tax audits indhisdictions in which we operate. We are no longdrject to
U.S. federal tax examinations for fiscal years ptao2008, and we are not subject to audits pdahé 2007 fiscal
year for the majority of the state jurisdictio

It is reasonably possible that a change to the amt@unt of unrecognized tax benefits could ocouthe next
12 months based on examinations by tax authoritiesexpiration of statutes of limitations, or putal settlements
of outstanding positions. It is not possible tareate a range of the possible changes at this titoeever, we do not
expect the change to be significant to the ové@hnce of unrecognized tax benefits.

10. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

In November 2005, our Board of Directors approvethare repurchase plan allowing our company torotyase
up to 1,000,000 shares of our common stock. Urideplan, we may buy back common stock from timgéne in
the open market or in privately negotiated bloclkependent upon various factors, including price aradlability of
the shares, and general market conditions. Thr&@ggttember 30, 2010, we had purchased an
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aggregate of 790,900 shares of common stock uhdeplén for an aggregate purchase price of appieiyn
$15.8 million.

In September 2009, we completed a public offerihg, 90,000 shares of common stock at a priceg@tiblic
of $7.00 per share for total gross proceeds of@agprately $20.9 million. The net proceeds of thieohg were used
to reduce our short-term borrowings and generglaate purposes.

11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION:

In accordance with ASC 718, we use the Black-Schedduation model for valuing all stock-based
compensation and shares granted under the Emp&igek Purchase Plan. We measure compensationsfoicted
stock awards and restricted stock units at famean the grant date based on the number of shgpested to vest
and the quoted market price of our common stockr&gegnize compensation cost for all awards iniegs) net of
estimated forfeitures, on a straigime basis over the requisite service period faheseparately vesting portion of |
award.

Cash received from option exercises under all shased compensation arrangements for the fiscas yealed
September 30, 2008, 2009, and 2010 was approxiyr2e? million, $766,000, and $1.2 million, respeely. Tax
benefits realized for tax deductions from optioereises for the fiscal years ended September 318 26d 2010 was
approximately $223,000 and $19,000, respectiveher& were no tax benefits realized for tax deduastfoom option
exercises for the fiscal year ended September(®.2Ve currently expect to satisfy share-baseddsvaith
registered shares available to be issued.

12. THE INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS:

During February 2007, our stockholders approvetbagsal to approve our 2007 Incentive Compensétlan
(2007 Plan”), which replaced our 1998 IncentivecktPlan (“1998 Plan”). Our 2007 Plan providestfar grant of
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restdcttock, stock units, bonus stock, dividend eqeivtd, other stock
related awards, and performance awards (collegtivalvards”), that may be settled in cash, stoclgther property.
Our 2007 Plan is designed to attract, motivataimetind reward our executives, employees, offjairectors, and
independent contractors by providing such persdtisamnual and long-term performance incentivesxjpend their
maximum efforts in the creation of stockholder ealtihe total number of shares of our common stoeakrmay be
subject to awards under the 2007 Plan is equaD@01000 shares, plus (i) any shares availables$orance and not
subject to an award under the 1998 Plan, (ii) tmalmer of shares with respect to which awards gdanteler the
2007 Plan and the 1998 Plan terminate withoutgheance of the shares or when the shares aretddrfai
repurchased; (i) with respect to awards granteden the 2007 Plan and the 1998 Plan, the numbsrases that are
not issued as a result of the award being settleddsh or otherwise not issued in connection thighexercise or
payment of the award; and (iv) the number of shtrasare surrendered or withheld in payment ofetkercise price
of any award or any tax withholding requirementsanmnection with any award granted under the 208/ &nd the
1998 Plan. The 2007 Plan terminates in February 28dd awards may be granted at any time duringféhef the
2007 Plan. The date on which awards vest are datednby the Board of Directors or the Plan Admirsitir. The
exercise prices of options are determined by ther@of Directors or the Plan Administrator and atréeast equal to
the fair market value of shares of common stockhendate of grant. The term of options under thg/2Blan may n¢
exceed ten years. The options granted have vawgsiing periods. To date, we have not settled enhader any
obligation to settle any awards in cash.
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The following table summarizes option activity fr@&@aptember 30, 2009 through September 30, 2010:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Shares Aggregate Average Remaining
Available Options Intrinsic Exercise  Contractual
for Grant Qutstanding Value Price Life
(In thousands),
Balance at September 30, 2C 1,007,87! 1,995,19- $ 517: $ 10.3i 7.C
Options grante (432,300 432,30( $ 7.9¢
Options cancelled/forfeited/expirt 139,77¢ (139,779 $ 11.3¢
Restricted stock awards issL (119,100 — —
Restricted stock awards forfeit 17,83t — —
Options exercise — (185,839 $ 4.97
Balance at September 30, 2( 614,08¢ 2,101,88. $ 3,71 $ 10.2% 6.8
Exercisable at September 30, 2( 1,193,32. $ 1,77C $ 12.3¢ 5.7

The weighted-average grant date fair value of ogtigranted during the fiscal years ended SepteB8the2008,
2009, and 2010 was $6.12, $1.75, and $5.41, regphrctThe total intrinsic value of options exemisduring the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2008, 2009, ah@l \#@s approximately $541,000, $54,000, and $969,00
respectively.

As of September 30, 2009 and 2010, there was apppataly $1.2 million and $1.1 million, respectivebf
unrecognized compensation costs related to noredexgitions that are expected to be recognizedawaighted
average period of 2.1 years and 2.1 years, respéctiThe total fair value of options vested durthg fiscal years
ended September 30, 2008, 2009, and 2010 was apgateky $2.1 million, $1.2 million, and $2.4 millg
respectively.

We continued using the Blackeholes model to estimate the fair value of optigrasited during fiscal 2010. T
expected term of options granted is derived froenaitput of the option pricing model and represémtsperiod of
time that options granted are expected to be mdatg. Volatility is based on the historical voldyi of our common
stock. The risk-free rate for periods within thenttactual term of the options is based on the Ur8asury yield
curve in effect at the time of grant.

The following are the weighted-average assumptitesl for the fiscal years ended September 30:

2008 2009 2010
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 3.4% 2.2% 2.3%
Volatility 44.2% 63.4% 85.8%
Expected life 75year 6.0year 5.0year

13. EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN:

During February 2008, our stockholders approved?®®8 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“Stock Purchase
Plan™). The Stock Purchase Plan provides for upO®,000 shares of common stock to be availablpdachase by
our regular employees who have completed at lessiyear of continuous service. In addition thereawe
52,837 shares of common stock available under 838 Employee Stock Purchase Plan which have bede ma
available for issuance under our Stock Purchase Plee Stock Purchase Plan provides for implemiamatf up to
10 annual offerings beginning on the first day at@ber starting in 2008, with each offering terntimg on
September 30 of the following year. Each annuaraffy may be divided into two six-month offering®r each
offering, the purchase price per share will beltiveer of (i) 85% of the closing price of the commstock on the firs
day of the offering or (ii) 85% of the closing peiof the common stock on the last day of the aifgrirhe
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purchase price is paid through periodic payrolludihns not to exceed 10% of the participant’s e@sduring each
offering period. However, no participant may pusianore than $25,000 worth of common stock annually

We continued using the Black-Scholes model to edtrthe fair value of options granted to purch&sees
issued pursuant to the Stock Purchase Plan. Thectagterm of options granted is derived from thipot of the
option pricing model and represents the periodnoé that options granted are expected to be owstgnVolatility
is based on the historical volatility of our commnainck. The risk-free rate for periods within tlemtractual term of
the options is based on the U.S. Treasury yieldecur effect at the time of grant.

The following are the weighted-average assumptiesl for the fiscal years ended September 30:

2008 2009 2010
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rat 2.3% 0.5% 0.2%
Volatility 75.€% 160.2% 65.4%
Expected life six month:  six month:  six month:

As of September 30, 2010, we had issued 348,3T@sloh common stock under our Stock Purchase Plan.

14. RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS:

During fiscal 2008, 2009, and 2010, we granted wested (restricted) stock awards or restrictedkstmits
(collectively, “restricted stock awards”) to certd&ey employees pursuant to the 1998 Plan or tb& Plan. The
restricted stock awards have varying vesting pstibdt generally become fully vested at eitheretheé of year four
or the end of year five, depending on the speaifiard. Certain awards granted in fiscal 2008 regegrtain levels ¢
performance by us after the grant before they ameesl. Such performance metrics must be achiev&eptember
2011, or the awards will be forfeited. The stocklentying the vested restricted stock units willdedivered upon
vesting. Certain awards granted in fiscal 2010 irega minimum level of performance of our stockcprcompared to
an index before they are earned. Such performarteas must be achieved by September 2012, orvhaeds will
be forfeited. The stock underlying the vested retetd stock units will be delivered upon vestingiring fiscal 2010,
we reversed approximately $3.9 million of stock pemsation expense, resulting from the performarniteria of
certain awards no longer being probable.

We accounted for the restricted stock awards gdatiteing fiscal 2008, 2009, and 2010 using the mnessent
and recognition provisions of ASC 718. Accordindhe fair value of the restricted stock awards éasured on the
grant date and recognized in earnings over thasiégservice period for each separately vestimgiqo of the

award.
The following table summarizes restricted stock r@wactivity from September 30, 2009 through Septendo,
2010:
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Shares Fair Value
Non-vested balance at September 30, 2 520,07( $22.6¢
Changes during the perit
Awards grantes 119,10( $ 7.0C
Awards vestel (187,16¢) $23.4¢
Awards forfeitec (17,839 $15.11
Non-vested balance at September 30, 2 434,16¢ $18.31
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As of September 30, 2010, we had approximately 8fillibn of total unrecognized compensation coitesl to
non-vested restricted stock awards. We expectcngréze that cost over a weighted-average peridd®years.

15. NET INCOME/LOSS PER SHARE:

The following is a reconciliation of the sharesdigethe denominator for calculating basic andtditunet
income/loss per share for the fiscal years endgteSder 30:

2008 2009 2010
Weighted average common shares outstanding useddulating basic

income (loss) per sha 18,391,48 18,685,42 21,998,74

Effect of dilutive options — — 599,21(
Weighted average common and common equivalent shigesl ir

calculating diluted income (loss) per sh 18,391,48 18,685,42 22,597,95

Options to purchase approximately 1,700,000, 7@&1&@ 979,000 shares of common stock were outstgradi
September 30, 2008, 2009, and 2010, respectivetywére not included in the computation of inconesg) per
share because the options’ exercise prices weatagrthan the average market price of our commuekstand
therefore, their effect would be anti-dilutive. Aedingly, there is no dilutive effect of sharesdigethe denominator
for calculating basic and diluted loss per share.

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:

Lease Commitments

We lease certain land, buildings, machinery, eqeiptmand vehicles related to our dealerships under
cancelable third-party operating leases. Certamuofleases include options for renewal periodsmoslisions for
escalation. Rental expenses, including month-totmoentals, were approximately $13.9 million, $&Rlion, and
$6.7 million for the fiscal years ended Septemli:r2®08, 2009, and 2010, respectively.

The rental payments to related parties, under taticelable and non-cancelable operating leasesgiiscal
2008, 2009, and 2010, represent rental paymentsuititings to an entity partially owned by a fornudficer of our
company. We believe the terms of the transactiercansistent with those that we would obtain froirdtparties.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@eating leases at September 30, 2010, werelas/$ol

(Amounts in thousands)

2011 $ 6,46¢
2012 5,141
2013 3,75k
2014 2,58:
2015 2,402
Thereaftel 3,727
Total $ 24,07¢

Other Commitments and Contingencies

We are party to various legal actions arising edihdinary course of business. The ultimate lighilf any,
associated with these matters was not believeed todterial at September 30, 2010. While it is easible to
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determine the actual outcome of these actions &gpfember 30, 2010, we do not believe that thegters will hav
a material adverse effect on our consolidated firdrrondition, results of operations, or cash #ow

During fiscal 2008, 2009, and 2010, we incurredsassociated with store closings of approximately
$3.0 million, $6.2 million, and $1.2 million, resgevely. These costs primarily related to the fetatinimum
operating lease payments of the closed locatiolns.sfore closings were a key component in our tetifopetter
match our fixed costs with the decline in retaisimess caused by the soft economic conditions stdre closing
costs have been included in selling, general, andrsstrative expenses in the consolidated statéaroperations
during fiscal 2008, 2009, and 2010.

In connection with our workers compensation insaeapolicies, the Company maintains a letter of itiadhe
amount of $2.5 million with our policy holder. Thedter of credit is collateralized by a certificatedeposit held by
the bank that issued the letter of credit. Theifteate of deposit is classified as cash and caglivalents in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets as oéi@bpt 30, 2010.

We are subject to federal and state environmeatallations, including rules relating to air and evatollution
and the storage and disposal of gasoline, oil,rathemicals and waste. We believe that we areimptiance with
such regulations.

17. EMPLOYEE 401(k) PROFIT SHARING PLANS:

Employees are eligible to participate in our 40 Fk)fit Sharing Plan (the “Plan”) following their
90-day introductory period starting either Apribd October 1, provided that they are 21 years ef &lpder the Plan,
we match 25% of participants’ contributions, umtmaximum of 5% of each participant’'s compensatiga.
contributed, under the Plan, or pursuant to prevgmilar plans, approximately $1.5 million, $16810and $150,0(
for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2008, 28092010, respectively.

18. PREFERRED SHARE PURCHASE RIGHTS:

During September 2001, we adopted a StockholdegsitR Plan (the “Rights Plan”) that may have tHeeafof
deterring, delaying, or preventing a change in mdhat might otherwise be in the best intere$tsur stockholders.
Under the Rights Plan, a dividend of one Prefe8kdre Purchase Right was issued for each shamofion stock
held by the stockholders of record as of the ctddmusiness on September 7, 2001. Each right esttiockholders 1
purchase, at an exercise price of $50 per shaeesttmusandth of a share of a newly created Seri&snfor
Participating Preferred Stock.

In general, subject to certain limited exceptidhs, stock purchase rights become exercisable wipensan or
group acquires 15% or more of our common stocktender offer or exchange offer for 15% or morewf commot
stock is announced or commenced. After any suchtewther stockholders may purchase additionaleshaf our
common stock at 50% of the then-current markegpridie rights will cause substantial dilution tpeason or group
that attempts to acquire us on terms not approyeslib Board of Directors. The rights should noenfiere with any
merger or other business combination approved &Bthard of Directors. The rights may be redeemedsbgt $0.01
per stock purchase right at any time before anggreor group acquires 15% or more of the outstgndammon
stock. The rights expire on August 28, 2011.

The Rights Plan adoption and Rights Distribution ison-taxable event with no impact on our finahaaults.

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:

On October 7, 2010, we entered into an Inventonaikting Agreement (the “CGI Facility”) with CGI Eince,
Inc. The CGI Facility provides a floor plan finangicommitment of $30 million and is designed tovidle financing
for our Azimut inventory needs. The CGI Facilitysheone-year term, which is typical in the
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industry for similar floor plan facilities; howevezach advance under the CGI Facility can remaistanding for
18 months. The interest rate for amounts outstgndlirder the CGI Facility is 350 basis points abitneeone month
London Inter-Bank Offering Rate.

Advances under the CGI Facility will be initiated the acquisition of eligible new and used inventor will be
re-advances against eligible new and used invetibatyhas been partially paid-off. Advances on ivexentory will
mature 550 days from the original invoice date. &uhes on used inventory will mature 366 days froendate we
acquire the used inventory. Each advance is sutgexturtailment schedule, which requires thapasw down the
balance of each advance on a periodic basis gatiar six months for used inventory and one yeanew
inventory. The curtailment schedule varies basethertype of inventory.

The collateral for the CGI Facility is our entirgifut inventory financed by the CGI Facility witkrtain
limited exceptions. None of our real estate has ipdedged for collateral for the CGI Facility. Weush maintain
compliance with various covenants, including batéasiceet related covenants of current and leveedgesy as
defined in the CGI Facility. The CGI Facility contplates that other lenders may be added by usande other
inventory not financed under the CGI Facility, deded.

20. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED):

The following table sets forth certain unaudite@udqerly financial data for each of our last eighaigers. The
information has been derived from unaudited finahsiatements that we believe reflect all adjustsiaonsisting
only of normal recurring adjustments, necessarytferfair presentation of such quarterly finanaiérmation.

December 31 March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31 March 31, June 30, September 3C

2008 2009 2009 2009 2009 2010 2010 2010
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share g

Revenue $ 100,22: $ 129,60¢ $ 151,51+ $ 207,23¢$ 100,44¢ $ 110,11¢ $ 11538!$ 124,39:
Cost of sale: 76,52 109,89 118,89¢ 194,61. 78,47¢ 85,91( 80,82¢ 94,31¢
Gross profit 23,70:% 19,71« 32,61¢ 12,627 21,97 24,20¢ 34,554 30,07¢
Selling, general, and

administrative expenst 38,86: 36,36( 38,97 45,80 29,62¢ 29,63 33,34( 31,37:
Income (loss) from operatiol (15,159 (16,64¢) (6,359 (33,179 (7,65¢) (5,425 1,214 (1,296
Interest expens 4,062 3,77¢ 3,38( 2,84¢ 1,462 1,05¢ 702 703
Income (loss) before income ta:

benefit (29,22) (20,42() (9,739 (36,029 (9,120 (6,482 51z (1,999
Income tax benef (4,887) (151) (55¢) (3,039 (19,279) (14€) — (16€)
Net income (loss $  (14340% (20,269 % (9,180 (32,989 $ 10,15: $ (6,33 $ 51z $ (1,830)
Net income (loss) per shai

Diluted $ (0.76) $ (1.09) $ (0.49 $ (1.72) $ 0.4t $ (0.29) $ 0.0z $ (0.0¢)
Weighted averag

number of share:

Diluted 18,500,79 18,512,110 18,575,33  19,148,49 22,344,68 21,982,63 22,793,21 22,139,15
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Exhibit 10.2¢

NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]” ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, AN
HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT. COMPLETE, UNREACTED COPIES OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN FILED WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AS PART OFHTS COMPANY’'S CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST.

FLOOR PLAN LOAN AGREEMENT
FOR
MARINEMAX, INC. & SUBSIDIARIES

THIS FLOOR PLAN LOAN AGREEMENT (the “ Agreement) is made as of October 7, 2010, by and among MMRVAX, INC., a
Delaware corporation, MARINEMAX EAST, INC., a Delave corporation, MARINEMAX SERVICES, INC., a Delangacorporation,
MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC, a Delaware limited liakity company, BOATING GEAR CENTER, LLC, a Delawamnited liability
company, US LIQUIDATORS, LLC, a Delaware limitedbility company, and NEWCOAST FINANCIAL SERVICESLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (each a * Borrowéiand collectively the “ Borrowery, and CGI FINANCE, INC., a Delaware corporation hayits
principal business address at 1407 Fleet Stredipi®ae, Maryland 21231 (together with its successand assigns, “ Lendéx.

WHEREAS, Borrowers have requested Lenderda lmoney to and otherwise extend credit to Borrew@ffinance the purchase of
Borrowers’ inventory of new and used luxury Azinyaichts (the “ Floor Plan Credik,

WHEREAS, Lender has required, as a conditioextending the Floor Plan Credit, that this Agreatrand certain other Credit Documents
(as defined herein) be executed and delivered byoB@rs;

WHEREAS, Lender has loaned and/or extendeditcaied/or may in the future loan and/or extendlitr® Borrowers by reason of the
request of Borrowers and in reliance upon this Agrent and the other Credit Documents;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foriego of the promises herein contained, and forogfe®d and valuable consideration, the
receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowl@dtpe parties hereto, each intending to be kegallind hereby, agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1. DEFINITIONS

1.01 Defined Terms

As used herein the following capitalized temuilt have the following meanings:

“ Advance’ shall mean an extension of Floor Plan Credit pard to the Credit Documents.
“ Advance Daté shall mean the date on which the relevant Advaseeade.




“ Affiliate " shall mean, as to any Person, (i) any other Pevduch directly, or indirectly through one or manéermediaries, controls such
Person, (ii) any other Person which directly, afiiactly through one or more intermediaries, istoafed by or is under common control with
such Person, (iii) any other Person of which suetséh owns, directly or indirectly, ten percentyd®r more of the common stock or
equivalent equity interests or (iv) such Persofffieers, managers, directors and partners. As tisee€in, the term “control” means possession,
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct caiuwse the direction of the management or policiesé&rson, whether through the ownership of
voting securities or otherwise.

“ Azimut Yachts’ shall mean a Vessel manufactured by or for AziBenetti or its Affiliate as a luxury yacht.

“ Bankruptcy Codé& means, with respect to any matter subject tddtes of the United States of America (“ United 8&), title 11, Unitec
States Code, as in effect in the United Stateaprsnded from time to time, and with respect tormagter subject to the laws of a foreign
jurisdiction, any statute or code providing for geedings in bankruptcy or insolvency under the lafithat other jurisdiction, as they may b
effect, and as amended from time to time.

“ Business Day shall mean each day (other than a Saturday od&gron which banks generally are open for busime8altimore,
Maryland.

“ Charges shall have the meaning assigned to that ter®eiation 3. 03(efOther Chargesdf this Agreement.
“ Closing Date¢ means the date of this Agreement.
“ Collateral’ shall have the meaning assigned to that terrhénSecurity Agreement.

“ Collateral Compliance Checlshall have the meaning assigned to that terrhenSecurity Agreement.

“ Credit Documents means this Agreement, the Note, the Security Agrent, the Powers of Attorney and any other doctimen or
hereafter given to Lender by any Borrower to evidear secure payment of any of the Obligations.

“ Current Ratid means the number derived by dividing the amodarrowers’ current assets by the amount of itgent liabilities, as
those amounts are determined under GAAP.

“ Default” shall mean any event or condition that constitate&vent of Default or that, with the giving of amgtice, the passage of time
both, would be an Event of Default.

“ Default Rat€’ shall mean the Interest Rate pluws percent (2%) per annum.

“ Documents of Title¢ shall have the meaning assigned to that terrhenSecurity Agreement.
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“ Enforcement Expensésneans all expenses, charges, costs, and fedsding without limitation reasonable attorneys’sesnd expenses,
including as to proceedings in any court or otleeudn and regardless whether suit is filed) of aature whatsoever paid or incurred by or on
behalf of Lender in connection with the collectimmenforcement of any of the Obligations and/or ahtghe Credit Documents, including but
not limited to all such costs of recovery, reppigservation, maintenance, and disposition of aolla@ral.

“ Event of Default shall have the meaning assigned to that ter@eation 7.01(Events of Defaultdf this Agreement.
“ Floor Plan Credit shall mean and include any and all extensionkdayder of credit hereunder to, or for the bendfiBorrowers.
“ GE” shall mean General Electric Commercial DistribatiFinance Corporation.
“ GAAP " shall mean the generally accepted accountingcipies in the United States as of the date hereof.
“HIN ” shall mean the hull identification number affixeda vessel as prescribed by 33 C.F.R. part 18anended.
“ Indebtednessshall mean, as to any Person, any indebtedness fa respect of:
(a) moneys borrowed;
(b) any amount raised by acceptance uadgmrcceptance credit facility or any dematemaisquivalent;
(c) any amount raised pursuant to ang potchase facility or the issue of bonds, notebedtures, loan stock or any similar instrument;

(d) the amount of any liability in respe€ any lease or hire purchase contract which diaunl accordance with GAAP, be treated as a
finance or capital lease;

(e) amounts received as payment for angivables sold or discounted (other than any vabés to the extent they are sold on a non-
recourse basis);

(f) any liability arising from a derivag transaction entered into in connection with getion against or benefit from fluctuation in any
rate or price (and, except for the purpos&ettion 7.01(dwhen calculating the value of any derivative tratisa, only the marked to market
value shall be taken into account);

(g) any amount raised under any othersgiation (including any forward sale or purchaseagent) having the commercial effect of a
borrowing (other than trade credit in the ordineoyrse of business);




(h) any counter-indemnity obligation @spect of a guarantee, indemnity, bond, standldpoumentary letter of credit or any other
instrument issued by a bank or financial institatior

(i) without double counting, the amouhgay liability in respect of any guarantee or imdgty for any item referred to in paragraphs (a)
to (h) above.

“ Intercreditor Agreemeritshall mean that certain Intercreditor Agreemeiigven date herewith, between GE and Lender.

“ Interest’ shall have the meaning assigned to that ter®eiction 3. 02(a)Interest)of this Agreement.

“ Interest Raté shall mean the variable rate of interest equallBOR plus 350 basis points, determined on a monthly basis, or such other
rate of interest provided for in this Agreementmwhich Borrowers and Lender agree in writing.

“ Inventory” shall mean and include the inventory, as defimetthe UCC, of new and used luxury Azimut Yachtguired or to be acquired
by Borrowers wherever located, now owned or heeedield or acquired for sale by Borrowers, inclgdduch Azimut Yachts as may from
time to time be “equipment” of Borrowers as thatrtés defined in the UCC and including any Azimwctit accepted by Borrowers as a
Trade-In Vessel, and all insurances in relatiomettteand all contracts for the acquisition of sM@ssel, together with (a) all rights of any
Borrower in any price protection payments, rebades;ounts, credits, factory holdbacks, incentiagrpents and other amounts which at any
time are due any Borrower with respect to, or inre@xtion with, any such inventory, (b) all partsgessions, accessories and replacements
of any such inventory, (c) all accounts, genertngibles, contract rights, instruments and chatipler representing proceeds of any of the
foregoing, and (d) all other proceeds (includingheit limitation, insurance and cash proceeds)mnoducts of the foregoing.

“ Late Fe€ shall have the meaning assigned to that ter®eation 3. 02(dYLate Feespf this Agreement.

“ Leverage Ratid means the number derived by dividing the amodarowers’ total debt by the amount of its tathlreholder equity,
as those amounts are determined under GAAP.

“ LIBOR " shall mean for any month, the one (1) month Lanttderbank Offered Rate as published in\W&ll Street Journads of the last
Business Day of the preceding month.

“ Lien” means any mortgage, pledge, chose, hypothecassignment, encumbrance, lien (statutory or othegitime lien, security
interest, or other agreement or arrangement okard/or nature whatsoever (including any conditisade or other title retention agreement),
and any financing lease having substantially tmeesaconomic effect.

“ LOA " shall mean length overall.

“ Loss” shall have the meaning assigned to that terrhénSecurity Agreement.
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“Material Adverse Effect shall mean a material adverse effect, taken asadewbn either (i) the ability of Borrowers to payperform an
of their respective obligations under the CreditDments or (ii) the legality, validity or enforcéiity of any of the Credit Documents.

“ Maximum Credif’ shall mean Thirty Million Dollars $30,000,000.00. Lender may, in its sole discretion without afmfigation or
requirement to do so, extend additional credit dorBwers in excess of the Maximum Credit, whichiddal credit shall be subject to the
terms and conditions of this Agreement and therafiredit Documents.

“ NADA Value” shall mean the value of a previously owned Vesasahost recently published by the National Autoiledbealers
Association.

“ Net Invoice Pricé shall mean the price payable to a Seller for as®Bwer’s acquisition of Inventory, without reduatiéor any Seller
Credits that may apply.

“ Notice of Borrowing’ shall have the meaning assigned to that terrhéSection 2. 02(aRequirements)f this Agreement.

“ Obligations’ shall mean and include the performance of theeoawnts and agreements set forth in this Agreenmehtree payment and
performance of all of all loans, Advances, PrinGipaincipal Amounts, Principal Balance, Interéstte Fees, Charges, Enforcement Expenses
Indebtedness, and other fees and charges andtiésbéind other obligations of Borrowers owed tmder, of every kind and description aris
under this Agreement or any other Credit Docum&hgther now existing or hereafter arising includivithout limitation those owed to others
and acquired by Lender (by purchase, assignmestherwise) and whether direct or indirect, primaryas guarantor or surety, absolute or
contingent, due or to become due, liquidated oiquidated, matured or unmatured, whether or natrgecby additional collateral, and all
liabilities and obligations in connection with tfieancing or purchase of Inventory, including advesto boat or boat motor manufacturers,
boat auction companies and other Sellers, andhhllities, obligations and Indebtedness arisindarrthis Agreement, the Security Agreement,
or any other Credit Document and all other instrote@nd agreements evidencing, guarantying or secany of the foregoing, and all
obligations to perform or forbear from performings and all Enforcement Expenses and other expemgkreasonable attorneys’ fees
incurred or other sums disbursed by Lender undsi&greement, any other Credit Document or anyodloeument or instrument related
thereto or related to any of the foregoing or edab the preservation, realization, enforcemedteaercise of rights, powers and remedies of
Lender under any or all of the Credit Documentsetated to any of the foregoing, including but hatited to all obligations owed under this
Agreement.

“ Organizational Documentsshall mean, as to any corporation, the articleis@orporation and bylaws of such corporation wath
amendments thereto and as in effect in the jutliediof organization of such corporation; and aarng limited liability company the articles of
organization and the operating agreement of suaield company, with all amendments thereto anad &ffect in the jurisdiction of
organization of such limited liability company.




“ Permitted Liens shall have the meaning assigned to that termeittiSn 6.02 (Liens) of this Agreement.

“ Persorf shall mean any individual, corporation, partn@pslassociation, joint stock company, trust, liditability company or
partnership, incorporated organization, joint veatiewourt or government or political subdivisionagrency.

“ Pledged Collaterdlshall have the meaning assigned to that terrhénSecurity Agreement.

“ Powers of Attorney shall have the meaning assigned to that terrhénSecurity Agreement.

“ Principal Amount shall mean the total amount of each Advance obFPlan Credit extended to Borrowers by Lender.

“ Principal Balancé shall mean the unpaid balance of the Principaloéints outstanding and unpaid as of the date of atetipn; such
Principal Balance shall be included within the megrof the term “ Principal as used in this Agreement and the other Creddubeents.

“ Principal Curtailment shall have the meaning assigned to that ter@eiction 3. 03(a]JRepayment of Advance, Proceeds Held in Tifst)
this Agreement.

“ Principal Curtailment Due Dateshall have the meaning assigned to that ter@eation 3. 03(aJRepayment of Advance, Proceeds Held
in Trust)of this Agreement.

“ Principal Reductiofi shall have the meaning assigned to that ter®eiation 3.05(a)Allocation of Principal Reduction Payment)this
Agreement.

“ Rights” shall have the meaning assigned to that ter@ection 8.05Rights and Remedies of Lender; No Waiweéthis Agreement.

“ Security Agreemeritshall mean the Pledge and Security Agreementdatteor about the date of this Agreement betweendBeers and
Lender (as amended, restated, or supplementedtiimoerto time), together with all exhibits thereto.

“ Seller” shall mean any manufacturer, builder, or othetrdiutor who sells, transfers, or assigns Inventorany Borrower.

“ Seller Credit$ shall mean the rights of Borrowers to any priceigetion payments, rebates, discounts, creditspifad¢ioldbacks, incentiy
payments and other amounts which at any time aza@aany Borrower from a Seller.

“ Termination Daté shall mean the date falling one (1) year after @osing Date unless extended by Lender in acooslaithSection 2.
04(b) (Extension of Terminatiordf this Agreement.




“ Tradeln Vessel’ shall mean a Vessel which is accepted in tradeaaguired as Inventory by any Borrower.
“ Unpaid Sums shall have the meaning assigned to that ter@dation 3. 02(c]Default Interestpf this Agreement.

“ Vessel shall mean and include any watercraft used oablgpof being used as a means of transportatiomader, together with all goods
identified to any such Vessel, together with itgiaes, spare parts, and all work in progress, rizdgefinished goods, tackle, rigging, sails,
navigation equipment, electronics, tenders, fislgjegr, accessories, apparel, furniture, and othedgand items and necessaries ordered or
delivered to or for, or incorporated into or placedany Vessel by whomever supplied, on board loores whether now or hereafter acquired,
and regardless whether affixed to any Vessel, hadpecifications and plans for any Vessel.

1.02 Uniform Commercial Code Terminless otherwise defined herein, or unless timeot otherwise requires, all terms used herein
which are defined in the Uniform Commercial Codelwf State of Maryland, Md. Code, Ann., Comm. Laxt. Aitle 9, in effect from time to
time, unless by application of that law the Unifo@ammercial Code in effect from time to time in fhesdiction where the Pledgor as to an
item of Collateral, as applicable, is located (graldifferent jurisdiction, where the Collaterallocated) (collectively, the * UCG shall have
the meanings therein stated.

ARTICLE 2. FLOOR PLAN CREDIT LOAN
2.01 Amount of Floor Plan Credit; Use of Ldamceeds

a. Floor Plan Credit.ender hereby undertakes to make available todBaars the Floor Plan Credit in a total maximum anteequal to
the Maximum Credit. The Floor Plan Credit is subjecthe terms, covenants, and conditions set farthis Agreement and in the other Credit
Documents. The obligations of repayment hereunid@i be secured by the Security Agreement and eyPthwers of Attorney. Borrowers
acknowledge that Lender is relying on the Credituents in its decision to extend credit to Borrsuender this Agreement, and would not
enter into this Agreement without the execution dalivery of these foregoing Credit Documents.

b. Use of ProceedBorrowers agree that in all cases, the procetdl Bloor Plan Credit will only be used to enaBlerrowers to
(i) refinance existing loan balances owed by onmore Borrowers to other lenders for Azimut Yaatsed by one or more Borrowers,
(ii) finance the acquisition of previously ownedidat Yachts, or (iii) acquire ownership of, or righor interests in, Inventory. Borrowers
understand and acknowledge that Lender will n@rfoe under the Floor Plan Credit any Vessel thadtisnventory. Borrowers agree that no
more than Seven Million, Five Hundred Thousand &rsll($7,500,000.00 of the Maximum Credit may be used for financihg Borrowers’
Inventory of Trade-In Vessels which are previousiyned Azimut Yachts.
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NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]” ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, AN
HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT. COMPLETE, UNREACTED COPIES OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN FILED WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AS PART OFHIS COMPANY’S CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST.

2.02 Procedure; Amounts of Advances; ConditiBrecedent

a. Requirementdn order for a Borrower to request an Advancat Borrower will deliver to Lender written notice { Notice of
Borrowing”) no later than 11:00 a.m. Baltimore, Maryland ¢imt least one (1) Business Day, and no more tfigg (30) calendar days, prior
to the date the Advance is requested to be maad Eatice of Borrowing shall be irrevocable andlsba signed by an authorized officer of a
Borrower, and (i) specify the aggregate amounhefAdvance(s) requested, (ii) specify the propdsiehnce Date, which shall be a Business
Day, (iii) include a description identifying eadkrn of Inventory being financed by such Advanceluding the HIN for each Vessel or other
serial number for all other such Inventory item(s)) specify the Net Invoice Price of such Invegtdem(s), (v) identify the location at which
such Inventory item(s) will be delivered to thatrBaver, and (vi) specify the manner in which Boreye/shall comply with the Security
Agreement as to that item of Inventory. Borrowees germitted to request no more than one (1) Adeameach Notice of Borrowing.

b. Amount of Advances

(i) For all Inventory purchases efanAzimut Yachts less than or equal to [****], tiNotice of Borrowing for each Advance
hereunder shall not specify an aggregate amoureebcg ninety percentd0% ) of the Net Invoice Price of the relevant Invegtaem.

(i) For all Inventory purchasesnafw Azimut Yachts greater than [****], the Noticé Borrowing for each Advance hereunder shall
not specify an aggregate amount exceeding eigheygfercent 85% ) of the Net Invoice Price of the relevant Invegtdem.

(i) For all Inventory purchasesgotviously owned Azimut Yachts, Borrowers’ Not@eBorrowing for each Advance hereunder
shall not specify an aggregate amount exceedirgyefzercent 80% ) of the lesser of (aa) the NADA Value of the raevinventory Item(s),
and (bb) the fair market value of the Inventoryriter such other reasonable amount as determinééiyer as the value for such Inventory
item, as would reasonably be determined as the pfisimilar goods in a sale of such goods by aufsaturer to a dealer of such goods (the “
Floor Plan Valug).

c. Representations and Warrantief &ach Advance Date. Each Notice of Borrowingwgbd hereunder shall be deemed a
representation and warranty by Borrowers that@ilditions precedent to such Advance referred ®dation 4.02 (b) through (edf this
Agreement are satisfied as of (i) the date of Suatice of Borrowing and as of (ii) the date of suddivance.

d. Making of the Advance. If the ditions set out in this Agreement have been metleeshall make the Advance available by the
Advance Date.




2.03 Method of Payment and Statements

a. Method of PaymenTo facilitate the financing of acquisition of kemtory, Borrowers acknowledge and agree that Ad¥sntade
hereunder by Lender may be evidenced through diiaftkiding but not limited to electronic drafteJasin on Lender by Borrowers by
electronic payment by wired funds through the Fald@eserve system or by drafts or checks. Borrolersby agree to reimburse Lender for
any and all electronic payments or drafts or checkdrawn.

b. Periodic StatementBorrowers acknowledge and agree that until thelarhof each Advance is repaid in full, the terrhthe
financing stated on any periodic statement seritdnder to Borrowers with respect to that Advanoeluding the Interest Rate, Late Fees,
Charges, terms of repayment, and other terms afgdido each Advance made to or on behalf of Bagrewghall, in the absence of manifest
error, be conclusive and govern Borrowers’ termegephiyment and performance as to that Advancejgedyhowever, that if any of the terms
of financing stated on any periodic statement bgritender to Borrowers contains any financing tenmsluding, but not limited to, Interest
Rate, Late Fees, Charges, or other terms of repatyihat differ from the terms contained in thisrégment, then the financing terms conta
in this Agreement shall apply.

2.04 Expiration of Floor Plan Credit; Extensif Termination Date

a. Expiration, TerminatiarSubject to the provisions herein for early teration and for extension of the term of the Flo@arPCredit,
after the Termination Date, Lender shall have mthir obligation whatsoever to make any new Advaireguding any new Advance of a
prepayment, provided, however, that the unpaidnzalaf any Advance outstanding as of the Termindiiate, and all payments required by
Borrowers in connection with any such Advance,udatg all accrued Interest, Late Fees, ChargesEafafcement Expenses thereon, if any,
shall be due and payable to Lender as prescrib&tbedule 3.03

b. Extension of TerminatiofBorrowers may request that Lender extend the rextion Date of the Floor Plan Credit by Borrowers’
written notice of extension request given to Lenaeiess than thirty (30) days prior to the TerntioraDate. Lender may by notice to
Borrowers extend the Termination Date for an adddl term of one (1) year; such an extension tgreated by Lender on no more than four
(4) occasions, unless otherwise agreed; each stehston to be granted or declined by Lender isdig and absolute discretion.

ARTICLE 3. PAYMENT TO LENDER

3.01 Repayment

Repayment Obligation8orrowers, jointly and severally, hereby prontisg@ay in full to Lender when due the amount of all
Obligations, including all Principal Amounts, toget with accrued Interest, Late Fees, Charges, rEaficent Expenses, any other fees and
expenses, and all other amounts of Obligations alligy accordance with the terms of this Agreemand the other Credit Documents.

3.02 Interest




a. Rate and Computatioimterest shall accrue on the unpaid PrincipabBe¢ of all Principal Amounts outstanding from titogime at
the Interest Rate, determined and applied on almohasis. Interest shall be calculated on thesbafsa year of three hundred sixty (360) days
applied to the actual days on which there existsrggaid Principal Balance under this Agreement.agtirued and unpaid interest on the un
Principal Balance from time to time outstanding enthis Agreement shall be included within the niegmof the term “ Interestas used
herein.

b. Interest PaymenExcept as accelerated or otherwise sooner pajaiéeinder, accrued and unpaid Interest shall beadd payable
on the due date prescribedSaction 3.04(Billing and Payment Dateds any part of the Obligations remains outstandimyunpaid.

c. Default InterestNotwithstanding the entry of any decree, orddgjuent or other judicial action under, pursuantrt@onnection witt
or otherwise concerning this Agreement, upon theigence of a Default continuing past any applieatire period or an Event of Default
(defined herein), Borrowers promise to pay to Lendéenever demanded by Lender, interest on thaidrigrincipal Balance of all Principal
Amounts outstanding from time to time and all otasrounts then and thereafter due and payable hige(hUnpaid Sums¥) at a fixed rate ¢
interest equal at all times to the Default Ratenftbe date of such Default or Event of Defaultdorlong as such Default continues past any
applicable cure period or such Event of Defaulsexiplus any Late Fees, Charges, and EnforcenxpsinSes due and payable.

d. Late Feedf Borrowers fail to make any payment of Prindjpaterest, or Charges becoming due pursuantiso®greement within
fifteen (15) days of the date due and payable,®eers shall pay to Lender a late fee equdiM® percent( 5% ) of the amount of such
payment (a “ Late Fe8. Such fifteen (15) day period shall not be comstl in any way to extend the due date of any pagiment. Except as
accelerated or otherwise sooner payable hereundpaid Late Fees shall be due and payable onrstalfiy of the following month for long .
any part of the Obligations remains outstanding @amghid.

3.03 Repayment of Advance; Proceeds of Saddd IH Trust.

a. Repayment of AdvancExcept as accelerated or otherwise sooner pgidyable hereunder, Borrowers, jointly and sewgratall
repay Lender the Principal Balance of each Advame@s amount equal to the specified percentageeofAdvance (each a “ Principal
Curtailment”) on or before the due date specified by the mcibilling statement sent by Lender for that Pipat Curtailment (the “ Principal
Curtailment Due Dat¥) in accordance with the schedule and requiremeett$orth orSchedule 3.0&ttached hereto, together with all accrued
Interest, plus any Late Fees, Charges, and EnfaceBExpenses incurred, and any other Obligatioas tlue and payable, if any.

b. Upon Transfer or Los8orrowers, jointly and severally, agree to repander the entire Principal Balance of any Advargating to
any item of Inventory, in no event later than f{&@ Business Days after the date that any Borroeegives substantially all the proceeds of a
sale or transfer of any such Inventory to any Rersothe date that any Borrower

10




receives the proceeds of an insurance claim irecsy a Loss of such an item of Inventory. Untilgaid, Borrowers shall hold the proceeds of
such sale, transfer or insurance claimtrust for the sole benefit of Lender and Borrowers shatlotherwise apply the proceeds of such sale,
transfer, or other disposition, including insurapceceeds, to any other purpose or transfer thesmmyoother entity, including not to any
Affiliate of Borrowers. All accrued and unpaid Inest, plus any Late Fees, Charges and EnforcemgmeinSes incurred related to an item of
Inventory which has been sold or transferred, dtmihvoiced by Lender in the following monthly josic billing statement, and shall be paid
by Borrowers on or before the due date specifietldnyder’s periodic billing statement. In the eveha Default continuing past any applicable
cure period or an Event of Default existing, antedfuested by Lender, Borrowers shall maintainpaisge bank account with Lender into
which all cash proceeds of sales, transfers, @ratlspositions of Inventory will be deposited.

c. Excess of Maximum Creditn the event that, at any time, the aggregateuaunaf all Principal Amounts outstanding hereunsteall
exceed the Maximum Credit, Borrowers will, withhirée (3) Business Days receipt of written requeshfLender to Borrowers, prepay the
outstanding Principal Balance of the Floor Pland@na the full amount of such excess.

d. Optional Prepaymenit any time and from time to time, Borrowers stave the right to prepay any Advance outstandimghole
or in part, without premium or penalty, upon writteotice given to Lender not later than 11:00 8aitimore, Maryland time, one (1) Busint
Day prior to each intended prepayment of any portibany Advance. To the extent that Borrowers ayegny Advance outstanding, in whole
or in part, then Borrowers shall have the righbuupelivery of a Notice of Borrowing pursuant3ection 2.0 Procedure; Amounts of
Advances; Conditions Precedg), to draw as an Advance the amount of the prepayaman Advance subject to repayment and other
provisions of thisArticle 3 ( Payment To Lender)

e. Other Charge$n addition to Principal, accrued Interest, arade Fees, Borrowers shall pay all other chargestscexpenses, and
disbursements of any type made or suffered by Lelngleeason of the making of each Advance and re@dle by Lender hereunder (¢
Charges). Advance Fees, costs of any insurance placeldengler, and reasonable fees charged by Lendenguahges incurred by Lender as
a result of a Collateral Compliance Check shalinotuded within the meaning of the term “Chargd&xtept as accelerated or otherwise so
payable hereunder, unpaid Charges shall be dupaable on the first day of each month for longua part of the Obligations remains
outstanding and unpaid

3.04 Billing and Payment Due

a. Monthly Billing Lender shall regularly issue to Borrowers, orated_ender selects in Lender’s sole discretion, thigmperiodic
statements to Borrowers for accrued Interest, Gigaagd Enforcement Expenses incurred, and for nepatyof any Principal Amounts due. If
issued on or before the third (3 Business Day of the month immediately followihg tmonth to which the periodic statement applies,
payment for all amounts set forth upon the mongdsiodic statements shall be due by the 15th ddlgyeomonth of issuance; otherwise
payment for such amounts shall be due on the 1&gHallowing issuance. Such
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monthly periodic statements may include amountsateeowing to Lender, including, but not limited Ryincipal, Interest, Advance Fees,
mandatory Principal Reductions, insurance premiantgor any other Charges or amounts or Obligatituesto Lender. Neither Lender’s
failure to issue such a monthly periodic statemeaot,the omission from a statement issued to Bogrevef an amount due from Borrowers,
shall in any way relieve Borrowers from their respibility to make payments when due of all amouwhue under the Credit Documents,
including Principal Reductions, as set forttSiaction 3.03Repayment of Advance; Proceeds of Sales Heldust)iof this Agreement. In the
absence of manifest error, the amounts owing taleeset forth on such monthly statements shalldegred conclusive, unless Borrowers
notify Lender in writing of any correction or objamn thereto within thirty (30) calendar days ofe®t thereof. If any amount due hereunder or
any other Credit Document is not paid when dueh sumounts shall bear interest from the date whenuahtil paid in full at the Default Rate.

b. Place of Paymentsll payments payable hereunder and prepaymenis s paid in lawful money of the United StatesAofierica in
immediately available funds during regular busirtessrs of Lender at Lender’s office at 1407 Fleee&, 2"dfloor, Baltimore, Maryland
21231, or at such other place as Lender may atiar@yor from time to time designate in writing torBowers.

3.05 Application of Payments

a. Allocation of Principal Reduction Pagmis. For so long as there shall be no Default contigygast applicable cure period and no
Event of Default existing, all payments of Prindipathe Floor Plan Credit made in accordance \&iglctions 3.03(ajRepayment of Advance)
3.03(b) (Upon Transfer or Loss)3.03(c)(Excess of Maximui@redit) or3.03(d) (Optional Prepayment) (each a “Principal Reductjanill be
applied directly to the Principal Balance of Flédan Credit advanced if Borrowers designate sugmpat as a “Principal Reduction” and
specify the Advance(s) by reference to the releitami(s) of Inventory (by HIN or other serial numime other description satisfactory to
Lender) for which the Principal Reduction paymenmdidd be allocated.

b. Allocation of Other Paymentall payments on account of this Agreement (inahgdprepayments) received by Lender from or to the
benefit of Borrowers that are not properly desigdads a “Principal Reduction” as set forth in Set8.05(a) (Allocation of Principal
Reduction Payments) when paid, shall be applistl tirany unpaid Enforcement Expenses, then taapgid Charges, then to accrued Inte
then due, and the balance, if any, shall be apptiedduction of the Principal Balance.

3.06 Taxes

All payments of Principal, Interest, L&tees, Charges, Enforcement Expenses, or othertsupesmade by Borrowers pursuant to this
Agreement with respect to any Floor Plan Crediees relating thereto or with respect to any ofligation shall be paid without deduction
for, and free from, any tax, imposts, levies, dutdeductions, or withholdings of any nature novatoasiny time hereafter imposed on or
measured by any governmental authority or by aryngeauthority thereof, or therein, excluding @xes imposed on or measured by Lender’s
net income, (ii) franchise taxes imposed on Letyethe jurisdiction under the laws of which
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Lender is organized or any political subdivisioaréof, and (iii) taxes imposed on Lender’s incomehe event that any Borrower is required
by applicable law to make any such withholding edukction of taxes with respect to any Floor Plaed@ror fee or other amount or Obligati
Borrowers shall pay such deduction or withholdiagie applicable taxing authority, shall promptlyrfish to Lender all receipts and other
additional amounts as may be necessary in ordethtbamount received by Lender after the requivigdholding or other payment shall equal
the amount Lender would have received had no suitth@lding or other payment been made.

3.07 Extensions

Borrowers agree that the maturity of Barers’ obligation, either for the for repaymenttioé Principal Amount of the Floor Plan Credit,
or repayment of any Advance, or any payment dueumgter, may be extended at any time or from tintene without releasing, discharging,
or affecting the liability of any other party.

3.08 Evidence of Borrowéer®bligation to Pay, Waiver of Presentment

Borrowers’ execution of this Agreement fepayment of the Principal Amount of the FloocarPCredit extended by Lender to Borrowers
from time to time hereunder as provided in thiticle 3 shall be deemed full, sufficient, and adequateenie of Borrowers’ obligation to pay
Lender. In no event will delivery of an instrumewidencing an obligation to pay Lender be considi@aaual payment neither to Lender, no
limitation of Borrowers’ obligations hereunder famounts in excess of the Maximum Credit, unlessagayment is made to Lender in
reduction of such Obligations. Either the originakny copy or facsimile or counterpart of this égment shall constitute prima facie evidence
of the Obligations to Lender in any action or daitcollection thereof or otherwise, and shall égdl and sufficient evidence of production of
any note or other instrument evidencing such ohiigeof Borrowers. Borrowers waive presentment, dechfor payment, notice of dishonor,
and protest.

ARTICLE 4. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
4.01 Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness

The obligation of Lender to make theigiadvance of Floor Plan Credit hereunder is stlifethe receipt by Lender of the following in
form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Liende

a. this Agreement duly executed and dedid by the Borrowers;
b. the Security Agreement duly executed @elivered by Borrowers;

c. certificates of the Secretary of eBohrower, attaching and certifying copies of thaBwer’s Organizational Documents and
certifying that the Borrower is registered and ¢ied to do business as a foreign legal entityaokejurisdiction in which Collateral is or is
expected to be located, and attaching copies afetbautions of its managing stockholders, dires;tarembers, or managers, or authorized
committees, as the case may be, authorizing theuére, delivery and performance of each of thed@i@ocuments to which
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that Borrower is a party and certifying the nanités &ind true signature of each officer or memidex Borrower executing the Credit
Documents to which Borrowers are a party;

d. certified copies of certificates ofoglostanding or existence, as may be available frenEecretary of State of Delaware (the
jurisdiction of incorporation or organization oktiBorrowers)

e. an opinion of legal counsel to Borrosvaddressed to Lender and in form and substatiséastory to Lender;

f. payment by Borrowers of all fees aadsonable expenses required hereunder or undettzgryCredit Document to be paid on or p
to the Closing Date in connection with the perfaector registration of the security interests orothiens granted in favor of Lender in the
Collateral pursuant to the Security Agreement;

g. certified copies of requests for imi@tion or copies (Form UCC-11), or equivalent répas of a recent date, listing all effective
financing statements that name Borrowers as delpithat are filed in each jurisdiction in whiclclked@orrower is “located” (within the
meaning of the UCC), together with copies of sutteofinancing statements or equivalent filings emapplicable laws that name Borrowers
as debtor;

h. as and to the extent required of Beers under the Security Agreement, as to each Véwssteto become an item of Inventory of
Borrowers financed with the initial Advance to bada hereunder, the Pledged Collateral, certificaté@ssurance, and such other invoices,
customs receipts, certificates, and papers as magbessary to fulfill the requirements of the Siggdgreement with respect to such Vessel,
and

i. such Powers of Attorney, and otherrapgls, consents, agreements, certificates, andndeots, as Lender shall reasonably request for
purposes of the registration and/or perfectionerider’s security interest and/or Lien in each Vietsgst is to become an item of Inventory of
Borrowers financed with the initial Advance to bada hereunder.

4.02 Conditions Precedent to Future Advances

The obligation of Lender to make any Adle@ of Floor Plan Credit after the Closing Datsubject to the satisfaction of the following
conditions:

a. shall have received a Notice of Boingarequesting an Advance in accordance with Se@i62 (Procedure; Amounts of Advances;
Conditions Precedent);

b. at the time of and immediately afteirgy effect to such Advance, no Default shall batinuing past any applicable cure period and
no Event of Default shall exist under any CreditDment;

c. all representations and warrantieBarfowers set forth in the Credit Documents shaltioe and correct in all material respects or
as of the date of such Advance, in each case bafatafter giving effect thereto;
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d. as and to the extent required of Beers under the Security Agreement, as to each Véesds to become an item of Inventory of a
Borrower financed with the Advance to be made hedeu, the Pledged Collateral, certificates of inasge, and such other invoices, customs
receipts, certificates, and papers as may be rexgewsfulfill the requirements of the Security Agment with respect to each such Vessel; and

e. Lender shall have received such Powfefdtorney, and other approvals, consents, agesesn certificates, and documents, as Lender
shall reasonably request for purposes of the magiish and/or perfection of Lender’s security ietrand/or Lien in each Vessel that is to
become an item of Inventory of a Pledgor financét the Advance to be made hereunder.

f. As a continuing condition to the Fld@lan Credit, Borrowers authorize Lender and iendgand representatives and grant to them a
license to enter upon the premises of the Borroveeraherever the Collateral may be located, fronetto time, in Lender’s sole discretion,
and without prior notice, to examine any and alll&eral for any reasonable purpose, including,rmitlimited to: verifying commissioning of
all Inventory; verifying the presence of such Intgay; verifying the condition of such Inventory;daerifying the non-use of such Inventory
other than demonstration use. Borrowers herebyeagréully cooperate with Lender in its examinateod to reimburse Lender for all costs
incurred by Lender in connection with such Inveptexaminations, any such costs and expenses inchyreéender shall be within the
meaning Lender of “Charges” as providedSiection 3.03(e] Other Charges.

4.03 Waiver of Conditions Precedent

If Lender funds any Floor Plan Crediténerder prior to the fulfillment of any of the cotidihs precedent set forth in thAsticle 4 , the
making of such Advance of Floor Plan Credit shalistitute only an extension of time for the futfigént of such condition and not a waiver
thereof, and Borrowers shall thereafter use thest bfforts to fulfill each such condition withinitty (30) days after the making of such
Advance of Floor Plan Credit.

ARTICLE 5. REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES

In addition to the representations and waieargpecified aBection 2.02(dRepresentations and Warranties as of Each Advaate) of
this Agreement, Borrowers hereby represent andamgras of (i) the Closing Date and as of (ii) #dvance Date for each Advance made
under this Agreement, to Lender as an inducemeattiend the Floor Plan Credit to Borrowers, asfei:

5.01 Incorporation

Borrowers (i) are duly incorporated or orga&uizas the case may be, and are a validly exikgsj entity under the laws of thgrisdiction
of their incorporation or organization and (ii) leaall requisite power and authority to carry orirtbesiness as now conducted.

5.02 Authorization, Valid Obligation
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The execution, delivery and performance byr8wers of the Credit Documents to which they apady are within Borrowers’ respective
corporate powers and have been duly authorizedl m¢eessary corporate action. This Agreement leas loluly executed and delivered by
Borrowers, and constitutes, and each other CreaiuBhent to which Borrowers are a party, when exatand delivered by Borrowers, will
constitute, valid and binding obligations of Borens, enforceable against them in accordance wéin tespective terms, except as may be
limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reamgation, moratorium, or similar laws affecting tenforcement of creditorsghts generall
and by general principles of equity.

5.03 No Consent; No Violatian

The execution, delivery and performance byr@®oers of this Agreement and the other Credit Doents to which Borrowers are a party
(i) will not violate any applicable law or regulati the violation of which could reasonably be expddo have a Material Adverse Effect or the
charter, bylaws or other constitutional documenrit8arowers and (ii) will not violate or result amdefault under any indenture, material
agreement or other material instrument binding orr®wvers.

5.04 No Default or Conflicting Agreements

a. No Default is continuing past any &gile cure period and no Event of Default exista/ould reasonably be expected to result from
the execution of, or the transactions contemplhatedhe Credit Documents.

b. No other event or circumstance is tam$ing which constitutes a default under any oiggeement or instrument which is binding on
Borrowers or to which its assets are subject anidiwinh each case would reasonably be expectedu® ddlaterial Adverse Effect.

5.05 Factual Information

So far as Borrowers are aware, no writéetual information furnished by or on behalf airBowers in connection with the Floor Plan
Credit contains any untrue statement of materizlda omits a material fact necessary to make thterments contained therein not materially
and adversely misleading as at the date on whilnformation was provided.

5.06 Financial Statements

Borrowers have furnished to Lender carfmiancial statements as reflectedSection 6.03Financial Statements)Such financial
statements fairly present the financial conditibthe Borrowers as of such dates and the conselidesults of operations for such periods in
conformity with GAAP consistently applied, in allaterial respects. As of the quarter ended SepteBhe2010, Borrowers are in compliance
with the Financial Covenants providedSection 6.04 Financial Covenants.

5.07_No Litigation
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No litigation, investigation or proceediof or before any arbitrators or governmental atities is pending, or judgment entered, against
or, to the best knowledge of Borrowers, threateaggnst or affecting Borrowers or any of their sdiasies which, if adversely determined,
would be reasonably expected to have a Materiakfghy Effect.

5.08 No Liens
All Collateral is free and clear of aieins other than Permitted Liens.
ARTICLE 6. COVENANTS
The Borrowers covenant and agree thaltpayment in full of all the Obligations and temmaition of this Agreement:
6.01 Notice of Litigation

Borrowers shall provide Lender with ditaif any litigation, arbitration or administratipeoceedings which are current, threatened or
pending against Borrowers and which might, if adegr determined, have a Material Adverse Effect.

6.02 Liens

Borrowers shall not permit Liens to amsecontinue on items of Collateral except thedwiing (collectively, the “ Permitted Lieri:
(i) Liens created pursuant to the Credit Documd(ii}d;iens for taxes, assessments or other goventaheharges that are not due or payabl
that are due or payable but are being diligenthlytested in good faith by appropriate proceedingsvided that such contested taxes,
assessments or other governmental charges do cegeXive hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) gregpte at any time; (iii) Liens arising
in the ordinary course of trading by operationad land not by contract and which shall be dischawghin thirty (30) days; (iv) Liens of
carriers, warehousemen, mechanics and materiainceimréd in the ordinary course of business for snotget due and payable; and (v) Liens
of GE on Collateral which are subordinate to thenLof Lender pursuant to the terms of the Inteitvedgreement.

6.03 Financial Statements

Borrowers shall furnish, within one huadrand eighty (180) days of each subsequent figaalend, audited financial statements
prepared in accordance with GAAP. Borrowers agodernish additional financial information to Lemgd&om time to time, at the reasonable
request of Lender and to promptly inform Lendeany adverse development or determination of aigalibn, claim, action or proceeding
against any Borrower that does or could have a iédtédverse Effect. Concurrently with each finas@tatement delivered hereunder,
Borrowers shall deliver a certificate to the effdwt the Borrowers are not aware of any conditioavent which constitutes a Default under
this Agreement or any other Credit Document.

6.04 Financial Covenants
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During the term of this Agreement, Boreye/taken as a whole shall maintain a Current Rpiater thari.20 to 1.00 and a Leverage
Ratio less tha@.75 to 1.00measured as of the fiscal quarter end Decembe2@®1 and each successive fiscal quarter thereafter.

6.05 Documents of Title

Borrowers shall maintain, subject to téwens of this Agreement, all original Documentdife for each Inventory item acquired by any
Borrower and shall make the same available to Lefaténspection and shall provide photocopiesébéto Lender. Each Borrower shall
provide written notice to Lender if such Borrowdatains a duplicate of any Document of Title for dteyn of Inventory.

ARTICLE 7. EVENTS OF DEFAULT
7.01 Events of Default

The occurrence of any one or more ofitlewing events shall constitute an event of déféuEvents of Default, and each an “ Event
of Default”) under this Agreement:

a. the failure by Borrowers to pay anyoamt due under a Credit Document (whether upon deat maturity, by acceleration or
otherwise, no prior demand therefore by Lenderdaicessary), unless the failure to pay is caugediministrative or technical error and
payment is made within three (3) Business Dayssadue date;

b. the Borrowers, taken as a whole, becosolvent or generally do not pay their debtthay become due, or if a petition for relief in a
bankruptcy court is filed by any Borrower, or ifygBorrower applies for, consents to, or acquiestélse appointment of a trustee, custodian,
or receiver for any Borrower or any of its assetd property, or makes a general assignment fobénefit of creditors; or in the absence of
such application, consent, or acquiescence, iistde, custodian, or receiver is appointed forBmyower or for a substantial part of the assets
and property of the Borrowers and is not dischangilin sixty (60) days; or any bankruptcy, reorgation, debt arrangement, or other
proceeding or case under any bankruptcy or insalvéaw or any dissolution or liquidation proceediagnstituted against any Borrower anc
consented to or acquiesced in by any Borrower manes unresolved for sixty (60) days; or any Borotakes any action to authorize any of
the actions described in this section;

C. any representation, warranty, cediiimn or statement made or deemed made by any\Berria any Credit Document or in any
certificate, financial statement or other docundgiivered pursuant to any Credit Document, shalerto have been incorrect in any material
respect when made or deemed made, unless the sii@uees giving rise to the misrepresentation gpalda of remedy and are remedied
within thirty (30) days of the earlier to occur(@i) Lender giving written notice thereof to Borew or (bb) any Borrower becoming aware of
the misrepresentation;

d. the material failure by any Borrowercomply with any covenant, restriction or agreenuemtained in this Agreement or any other
Credit Document (other than those referred to ictiSe 7.01(a) above), unless the failure to perfgrmapable of remedy and
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is remedied within thirty (30) days after the earrlio occur of (aa) Lender giving written noticerdof to Borrowers or (bb) any Borrower
becoming aware of the failure to comply, and predidurther that the violation of any financial coaat ofSection 6.04Financial Covenant:
by Borrowers is remedied on or before the lastafahe month following the month of the occurrewée¢he earlier of (aa) Lender giving
written notice of such violation to Borrowers objtany Borrower becoming aware of such violation;

e. the occurrence and continuance ofdafgult or event of default on the part of any Barer (including specifically, but without
limitation, defaults due to nonpayment) under #rens of any agreement, document or instrument patgo which any Borrower has incurred
any Indebtedness in excess of Five Hundred ThouBaiidrs ($500,000.00) (or its equivalent in anlgaatcurrency or currencies) which
default or event of default has passed applicalnle periods and would permit acceleration of suciebtedness;

f. the value of the assets of Borrowakeh as a whole is less than their liabilitiesiftgknto account contingent and prospective
liabilities);
g. any corporate action, legal proceeslimgother procedure or step is taken in relation t

(A) the suspension of payments, aatooium of any indebtedness, winding-up (save wlseich proceedings, procedure or step are
frivolous or vexatious and are discharged or otlewithdrawn within thirty (30) days of commencert)edissolution (save where such
proceedings, procedures or steps is frivolous ratieus and is discharged or otherwise withdrawthiwithirty (30) days of commencement),
administration or reorganization (by way of volugtarrangement, scheme of arrangement or otherwfsa)y Borrower; provided, however
that the foregoing shall not prohibit one Borroirem merging with another Borrower if Lender sHadlve been given thirty (30) days prior
notice of such merger;

(B) a composition, assignment oaagement with the creditors (or any class thereofny Borrower;
(C) an order for the winding up, axistration or dissolution is made in relation toyaBorrower;

(D) the appointment of a liquidat@geiver, administrator, administrative receiwempulsory manager or other similar officer in
respect of any Borrower or any of its assets;

(E) the shareholders, members, tire®r other officers of any Borrower requestaippointment of, or give notice of their intention
to appoint, a liquidator, trustee in bankruptcylifial custodian, compulsory manager, receiver,iathtnative receiver, administrator or similar
officer; or

(F) enforcement of any Lien overallany material part of the assets of any Borroweany analogous procedure or step is taken in
any jurisdiction; or
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h. any expropriation, attachment, seqa#et, distress or execution affects any matesakt or material assets of any Borrower and is
not discharged within 21 days; or

i. the entry of a decree or order forefeby a court having jurisdiction in the premisesespect of any Borrower in an involuntary
bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding or any othenilar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointmgeceiver, liquidator, assignee, custod
trustee, sequestrator (or other similar officidlaoy Borrower or for any substantial part of iteerty, or ordering the wind-up or liquidation
of its affairs, or the filing and pendency for thi(30) days without dismissal of a petition infitiey an involuntary case under any such
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law.

7.02 Effect of Termination

Upon the effective date of any terminatiBorrowers’ rights hereunder to finance Invent@myd to use forms, promotional material, or
any other materials provided by Lender hereundelt skase, and Lender’s obligation to make furthévances hereunder shall cease, but the
Borrowers’obligations to pay and perform hereunder will remiaifull effect until all Obligations owing to Leler under the Credit Docume
are repaid in full.

7.03 Certain Breaches.

Upon any failure of Borrowers to complittwthe financial covenants specifiedSgction 6.04(Financial Covenantg of this Agreemen
regardless of whether the failure shall constitut@efault or an Event of Default and without anguieement of prior notice or demand by
Lender or opportunity for cure, then the IntereatedRunder the Note shall be increased to the Jariake of interest equal tbe Default Rate,
determined on a monthly basis, effective on tha flay of the month following the breach of theafigial covenants and continuing until such
time that Borrowers remedy such violation of theficial covenants specified 8ection 6.04 Financial Covenantsjr all Obligations are
fully paid, whichever is first, and Lender shalvhano obligation to extend any Advances to Borr@feHowing such failure until such time
that Borrowers remedy such violation of the finahcovenants specified Bection 6.04 Financial Covenantsdr all Obligations are fully
paid, whichever is first; provided, however, tfaBorrowers timely cure any breach of the financiavenants specified &ection 6.04
( Financial Covenant$, then beginning on the first day of the monthdwing the month in which such cure is effectedhire is then no
Default continuing past any applicable cure pedad no Event of Default existing, the Interest Rate the Default Rate, shall be used to
determine the amount of interest to be chargeddnder on the then outstanding Obligations due aydlge by Borrowers and Lender’s
obligation to make Advances shall resume, subgetiié terms and conditions of this Agreement aedther Credit Documents.

7.04 Multiple Remedies; Acceleration

a. Upon any Default continuing past apgl&able cure period or upon any Event of Defaelteunder, Lender may, in its sole discre!
in addition to all of its other rights, remedieadgowers under this Agreement, by notice to thed®eers (provided that upon the occurrence
of an Event of Default resulting from a bankrupteyinsolvency
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proceeding, all Obligations shall become immedyatitle and payable without any action by Lenderpieate this Agreement, declare the t
amount of Obligations due hereunder immediatelyah payable, and exercise all of the rights anterbes of a secured party or mortgagee
under applicable laws with respect to the Colldteth Obligations, including all unpaid Principaharges, and Enforcement Expenses, shall
bear interest at the Default Rate and Lender magged to collect all Obligations due and owing tmexercise any and all of its rights at law,
in equity, in admiralty, or otherwise, includingthaut limitation in accordance with the terms détAgreement and the Credit Documents.

b. For the avoidance of doubt, Lendetl$teve no obligation to seek to realize on albay part of the Collateral. Upon and during the
continuance of any Event of Default hereunder, legrsthall be entitled to take possession of anyl@acuments of Title for any one or more
items of Inventory without taking possession oseeking to realize upon such items of Inventoryhdich such Documents of Title pertain. If
Lender shall seek to realize on the Collateralthedoroceeds realized from disposition thereofl$halto satisfy all of the Obligations to
Lender, Borrowers shall forthwith pay any deficigh@lance to Lender, which amount shall bear istdfrem the date when due until paid in
full at the Default Rate.

c. No failure on the part of Lender tdagne any of the rights hereunder shall be deemediger of such rights or of any Default or
Event of Default and no waiver of any Default oreBtof Default hereunder will be deemed to be averadbf any subsequent Default or Event
of Default.

7.05_Waivers The obligations of Borrowers under the Credit Dments will not be affected by any act, omissiothang (whether or not
known to any of them or to Lender) which, but foistprovision, would reduce, release or prejuditg @ their obligations thereunder, and
Borrowers hereby each consent to all such actsssiamis, or things without notice to Borrowers. Tihidudes:

a. any time or waiver granted to, or cosipion with, any person, or any increase or extmnef the Obligations;
b. any amendment of a Credit Documeranyrother document or security;

c. any unenforceability, illegality, inidity or non-provability of any obligation of aryerson under any Credit Document or any other
document or security;

d. any insolvency or similar proceedings;

e. any and all impairment of collaterahay interest therein, regardless of by whom peldégncluding lack of perfection or recordation
of a security interest, release of collateral withsubstitution of collateral of equal value, fadto preserve the value of collateral, or failtore
comply with applicable law in disposing of collagr

f. all other defenses based on suretyshimpairment of collateral, to the maximum extdrg same may be waived under Section 3-605
of the UCC; and
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g. all presentments, demands for perfogaaprotests and notices, including without litiita, notices of nonperformance, notice of
protest, notices of dishonor, notices of acceptasee notices of the existence, creation or inogrdf additional indebtedness.

7.06 Remedies Cumulative

Each right, power and remedy of Lendewjated for in this Agreement, in any other CredddDment or in any of the other instruments
or agreements evidencing or securing the Obligat@mow or hereafter existing at law or in equityoy statute shall be cumulative and
concurrent and shall be in addition to every otheth right, power or remedy. The exercise or begmaof the exercise by Lender of any on
more of the rights, powers or remedies providedrfahis Agreement, in any other Credit Documeninaany such other instrument or
agreement now or hereafter existing at law or witgcpr by statute or otherwise shall not precltitke simultaneous or later exercise by Lender
of all such other rights, powers or remedies, améaiure or delay on the part of Lender to exer@say such right, power or remedy shall
operate as a waiver thereof.

ARTICLE 8. GENERAL PROVISIONS
8.01 Acceptance by Lender

Lender’s extension of Floor Plan CrediBbrrowers or renewal of Floor Plan Credit to Bovers after the date hereof, shall be deemed
to be Lender’s acceptance hereof.

8.02 Continuing Agreement

This is a continuing Agreement and stethain in full force and effect from the date héneatil terminated by one of the parties as
provided inArticle 7 (Events of Defaultdpf this Agreement and until all of the Obligatidmsve been fully paid. This Agreement shall remain i
effect, notwithstanding the fact that at any tirnérom time to time there may be no Obligationsstanding, in order to secure all future
Obligations.

8.03 Attorney Fees

In the event that legal proceedings aoeidpht by Lender to enforce the terms, conditiongrovisions of this Agreement or any related
agreements or documents, or in the event of anyatied, out of court payment agreement, trial, gpleankruptcy or receivership
proceedings, Lender shall be entitled to recovanfBorrowers all expenses (including, but not ledito, reasonable attorneys’ fees, legal
expenses and reasonable costs of collection) adrein endeavoring to enforce the terms, conditmmgrovisions of this Agreement and/or
collect amounts owing Lender in accordance with kgreement, the workout thereof, and represemtati@any proceeding for the seizure of a
Vessel or any insolvency proceeding or case unagBankruptcy Code or other insolvency or receiligrsaws.

8.04 Notices
Notices to any party shall be deemedrmiveen in a writing delivered by hand or sent bgfemed facsimile, or on the first Business
Day after the date deposited with a
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recognized overnight courier, or on the third BessDay after the date deposited in the U.S. Ma#tage prepaid, return receipt requested,
addressed to the person to whom such communiciattorbe given, at the following addresses:

(a) If to Borrowers, tt  MarineMax, Inc.
18167 US Highway 19 Nort
Suite 30C
Clearwater, FL 3376
Attention: Chief Financial Office
Facsimile: (727) 5z-0123

(b) If to Lender, to: CGl Finance, Inc
1407 Fleet Street, "dfloor
Baltimore, Maryland 2123
Attn: Presiden
Facsimile: (410) 67-0843

All notices sent to Borrowers may be (but are eguired to be) sent with any periodic or billingtetment. The notice address of any party can
be changed by giving five (5) Business Day’s writtetice to the other parties.

8.05 Rights and Remedies of Lender; No Waiver

No waiver of any power, privilege, rigittremedy (hereinafter collectively referred td' &ights”) hereunder shall be effective unles
writing. The Rights of Lender or any other holdéthlos Agreement shall be irrevocable, cumulatiad aoncurrent, and not alternative or
exclusive, and may be pursued and exercised sigutaiccessively or concurrently at the sole @iton of Lender or any other holder hereof
and may be exercised as often as Lender or any lothéer hereof shall deem necessary or desirbldalelay on the part of Lender in
exercising any Rights hereunder, or under any ottstrument executed by Borrowers in connectiofhe Floor Plan Credit shall operate as
a waiver thereof, and no single or partial exeroisany such Rights (including acceptance of lagnpents by Lender) shall preclude other or
further exercise thereof, or the exercise of amgoRights. Waiver by Lender of any default by Berers shall not constitute a waiver of any
subsequent defaults, but shall be restricted tadfi@ult so waived. The validity, illegality or urferceability of any provision of this
Agreement shall not affect the validity, legalityemforceability of any of the other provisionstbis Agreement which shall remain effective.
Borrowers hereby waive all suretyship defensesuliog but not limited, to all defenses based upapairment of collateral and all suretyship
defenses described in the laws of the State of Mady

8.06 Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdictioenue.

(a) This Agreement and the other CreditiDnents shall be governed by, and construed iordance with, the laws of the State of
Maryland, USA, (excluding the laws applicable tmftiats or choice of law), except to the extenttttiee federal law of the United States may
preempt state law, and except to the extent issiign perfection may be governed by the law dfeotjurisdictions. Borrowers each
acknowledge and warrant that this Agreement
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and the other Credit Documents are to be treatedlifpurposes, including choice of law purposesth®ugh it was executed and delivered
within the geographic boundaries of the State ofyldad, even if it was, in fact, executed and deléd elsewhere. It is the express intention of
Lender and Borrowers that the laws of the Statdarfyland (but not its conflict of laws and choiddaw rules) apply to the entirety of the
transactions evidenced by the Credit Documentsptoehe extent that federal law may preempt dtateand except to the extent issues of
lien perfection may be governed by the law of ofhésdictions.

(b) Borrowers each hereby agree and cttribat any action or proceeding arising out dbrrught to enforce the provisions of this
Agreement may be brought in any appropriate couthié State of Maryland or in any other federadtate court having jurisdiction over the
subject matter, all at the sole election of Lended by the execution of this Agreement Borroweusharrevocably consent to the jurisdiction
of each such court. Borrowers each hereby irreMgagtpoint CSC, with a mailing address at 2711 @siilte Road, #400, Wilmington, DE
19808, as their agent to accept service of prdoeghem and on their behalf in any proceeding gtaypursuant to the provisions of this
Section. Service upon the said agent for Borrowkadl be of the same force and validity as if sérpersonally on Borrowers themselves.
Service of process also may be made on Borrowernsaiyng a copy of the summons and complaint oepthitial pleadings to such agent by
registered or certified mail, return receipt reqaedsat the address listed for Borrower&ettion 8.04Notices) of this Agreement.

(c) Nothing in this Section 8.06 shafeat the right of Lender to serve legal procesarip other manner permitted by law or affect any
right that Lender may otherwise have to bring aioacr proceeding relating to this Agreement @ dither Credit Documents against
Borrowers or the properties of any of them in tharts of any jurisdiction.

(d) Borrowers each hereby irrevocably andonditionally waive, to the fullest extent it ynagally and effectively do so, any objection
which it may now or hereafter have to the layingehue of any suit, action or proceeding arisingawr relating to this Agreement or any
other Credit Document in any Maryland state or falleourt. Borrowers hereby irrevocably waive,le fullest extent permitted by law, the
defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenaficeich action or proceeding in any such court.

(e) To the extent that Borrowers havlereafter may acquire any immunity from jurisdiotiaf any court or from any legal process
(whether from service or notice, attachment priojudgment, attachment in aid of execution, executir otherwise,), Borrowers each hereby
irrevocably waive such immunity in respect of theliligations under this Agreement and the othedi€2ocuments. Borrowers each waive
the extent permitted by law, any bond or suretynupach bond which might be required of Lender.

(f) Borrowers each hereby stipulate amdrant that the Floor Plan Credit loan evidence®lineis a “commercial loan” within the
meaning of Title 12 of Commercial Law Article ofetiAnnotated Code of Maryland, and that all proced#dsich loan will be used solely to
acquire or carry on a business or commercial eriserpas those terms are used therein.

8.07Presentment, Demand for Payment, Notice of Dishonpand Protest.
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BORROWERS EACH WAIVE PRESENTMENT, DEMAND FORAPMENT, NOTICE OF DISHONOR AND PROTEST.
8.08WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY, Waiver of Exemplary or Pun itive Damages.

a. EACH BORROWER AND LENDER DO HEREBY IEROCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED
BY APPLICABLE LAW WAIVE THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM OF
ANY TYPE AS TO ANY MATTER ARISING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OUT OF OR WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT, Tt
FLOOR PLAN CREDIT, OR ANY OTHER CREDIT DOCUMENT, ITS AGREED AND UNDERSTOOD THAT THIS WAIVER
CONSTITUTES A WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY OF ALL CLAIMSAGAINST ALL PARTIES TO SUCH ACTIONS OR PROCEEDING
INCLUDING CLAIMS AGAINST PARTIES WHO ARE NOT PARTIBS TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE OTHER CREDIT
DOCUMENTS.

b. Borrowers each do further agree thay shall not have a remedy of exemplary or pumitiemages against Lender in any dispute,
controversy, litigation proceeding or arbitratiamd each do waive any such remedy or claim to el@snpr punitive damages it now has or
which may arise in the future in any such disputeamtroversy with Lender.

8.09 Waivers Knowingly Made, Borrowers Représd by Counsel

Borrowers each acknowledge and stiputaéethe waivers granted in this Agreement are nkadevingly, voluntarily and intentionally
and after full consultation with counsel of its @®and constitute a material inducement for Lendextend the Floor Plan Credit. Borrowers
certify that no representative, agent or attornieyemder has represented, expressly or otherwis¢ Liender would not, in the event of
litigation, seek to enforce the waivers statechin Agreement. Borrowers and Lender further agnaea copy of this Agreement may be filed
with any court as written evidence of its knowimgluntary and bargained-for agreement between arahg the parties hereto with respect to
such waiver.

8.10 Singular or Plural; Joint and Severaligailons.

All references to singular shall also me&ral, masculine shall also mean feminine, dhsigular pronouns shall include all
signatories hereunder except for Lender. The Ofatiga of Borrowers under this Agreement are joird aeveral. Each Borrower shall be
jointly and severally liable for all the Obligati®nf all Borrowers under this Agreement. Withoutiting the generality of the foregoin
(i) whenever this Agreement imposes an Obligationhe Borrowers, the entire Obligation shall be asgd on each Borrower; (i) whenever
the Borrowers make a grant, agreement, covengrgsentation, or warranty in this Agreement, suetng agreement, covenant,
representation, or warranty shall be deemed madmbly Borrower; (iii) whenever this Agreement pdag that the Lender shall have a rigt
remedy against the Borrowers, the Lender shall kaea right or remedy against each Borrower; (i¢)dccurrence of a Default or Event of
Default as to any Borrower or the failure of anyri®aver to comply with any provision of this Agreemieshall be considered to be a Default or
Event of Default or failure to comply by all Borrevs; and (v) in the event of any

25




ambiguity or question whether, in any instance témm “Borrowers” refers to each Borrower, the aguiity or question shall be resolved in
favor of the Lender.

8.11 Independent and Unconditional Obligations

Lender may compromise or release thegatibns of any one or more of the Borrowers withtbereby compromising or releasing the
obligations of any other Borrower. Lender may reteany portion or all the Collateral for the obtigas of the Borrowers hereunder, or any of
them, without thereby releasing or discharging efiner Borrower, in whole or in part, from their fations under this Agreement or any other
Credit Document. Lender may extend the term of Algiseement or any of the Credit Documents or extaad credit to any Borrower without
thereby extending or renewing or compromising teasing the obligations of any other Borrower. Amayment received by the Lender from
any one or more of the Borrowers for or on accairhis Agreement may be applied by the Lendemtpaf the Obligations in whatever order
and manner the Lender elects. Each Borrower eXgressves all defenses of suretyship or impairmgfrtollateral.

8.12 Severability

In the event that any provision of thigréement is found to be illegal, invalid or unectable, it shall be ineffective to the extent ath
illegality, invalidity or unenforceability withoutvalidating the remaining provisions of this Agneent. In such event, to the extent any Inte
Rate, Default Rate, fee or other charge would leerael excessive, its application shall be suspeadddhere shall be charged instead the
maximum rate or other charge permissible under fawh, and any excess interest or charges actealligcted by Lender shall be credited as a
partial prepayment of Principal.

8.13 Integration; Merger

This Agreement constitutes a completelfand exclusive agreement between the Borrowetd ander, concerning the subject matter
hereof and supersedes all prior agreements andsiaddings, oral or written, regarding such subqjeatters. All prior negotiations concerning
this Agreement have been merged into this AgreenNsither this Agreement, nor any term, conditioovenant, or agreement hereof, may be
changed, waived, discharged or terminated orallyobly by an instrument in writing signed by Bomers and Lender.

8.14 Counterparts; Headings

This Agreement may be executed by onaare of the parties to this Agreement on any nurolbeeparate counterparts (including by
telecopy), and all of said counterparts taken togreshall be deemed to constitute one and the Betrament. The headings used in this
Agreement are for convenience and reference onty nat intended in any way to define or descriteestope or intent of any provision of this
Agreement.

8.15 Assignment
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Borrowers may not assign their rights abtigations under this Agreement without the prisitten consent of Lender. All rights of
Lender shall inure to the benefit of its successoid assigns, and all obligations of the Borrovedial bind the permitted successors and
assigns of the Borrowers.

8.16. Estoppel Certificate

The Borrowers will, upon not less than (&0) Business Days’ request by Lender executaaeledge, and deliver to such person a
statement in writing, certifying (a) that this Agreent is unmodified and in full force and effectidine payments required by this Agreemel
be paid by the Borrowers have been paid, and @jhén unpaid principal balance of the Note; aatrsj whether or not to the knowledge of
the signer of such certificate any party to anyhef Credit Documents is in default in the perforo®nof any covenant, agreement, or condition
contained therein and, if so, specifying each siefault of which the signer may have knowledgeeihg intended that any such statement
delivered pursuant to this section may be relieshupy the Lender and the other parties to thissaation.

INTENTIONALLY BLANK
SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement written, executed, and sealed as of the day aadfirst above

written.

WITNESS/ATTEST

/s/ Kurt Frahr

Kurt Frahn

WITNESS/ATTEST

/s/ Kurt Frahr

Kurt Frahn

WITNESS/ATTEST

/s/ Kurt Frahr

Kurt Frahn

WITNESS/ATTEST

/s/ Kurt Frahr

Kurt Frahn

BORROWERS:

MARINEMAX, INC.,
a Delaware corporatic

By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt

(SEAL)

Print Name Michael H. McLamk
Title: EVP

MARINEMAX EAST, INC.,
a Delaware corporatic

By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt

(SEAL)

Print Name Michael H. McLamkt
Title: EVP

MARINEMAX SERVICES, INC.,
a Delaware corporatic

By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt

(SEAL)

Print Name Michael H. McLamk
Title: EVP

MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt

(SEAL)

Print Name Michael H. McLamk
Title: EVP
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WITNESS/ATTEST: BOATING GEAR CENTER, LLC
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: MARINEMAX EAST, INC.,
its sole membe

/s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Kurt Frahn Print Name Michael H. McLamk

Title: EVP
WITNESS/ATTEST: US LIQUIDATORS, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability compar
/s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Kurt Frahn Print Name Michael H. McLamk

Title: EVP
WITNESS/ATTEST: NEWCOAST FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC

a Delaware limited liability compar
s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Kurt Frahn Print Name Michael H. McLamk

Title: EVP

LENDER:
WITNESS/ATTEST: CGI FINANCE, INC.,

a Delaware corporatic
/s/ John Wrigh By: /s/ Herve Bonne (SEAL)
John Wright Print Name Herve Bonne

Title: President and CE!
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NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]” ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, AN
HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT. COMPLETE, UNREACTED COPIES OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN FILED WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AS PART OFHIS COMPANY’S CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST.

Schedule 3.03
Repayment of Advance

New Inventory (less than or equal to [****])

Initial Advance is no more than 90% of Netdioe Price

Principal Curtailment Due Da Principal Curtailment Payment Amot Advance Amount Balanc

Advance Date 90% of Net Invoice Pric
[****] days after Advance Datce Pay 10% of amount of Net Invoice Pri 80% of Net Invoice Pric
550 days after Advance Date Pay entire remaining Principal Balance 0% of Net Invoice Price

(100%) of Advanct

Inventory (greater than [****])

Initial Advance is no more than 85% of Netdioe Price

Principal Curtailment Due Da Principal Curtailment Payment Amot Advance Amount Balanc
Advance Date 85% of Net Invoice Pric
[****] days after Advance Date Pay 10% of amount of Net Invoice Pri 75% of Net Invoice Pric
550 days after Advance De Pay entire remaining Principal Balar 0% of Net Invoice Pric:

(100%) of Advanct

Used Inventory
Initial Advance is no more than 80% of FlodariPValue

Principal Curtailment Due Da Principal Curtailment Payment AmoL Advance Amount Balanc

Advance Date 80% of Floor Plan Valu
[****] days after Advance Date Pay 8% of amount of Floor Plan Val 72% of Floor Plan Valu
366 days after Advance Date Pay entire remaining Principal Balance 0% of Floor Plan Value

(100%) of Advanct
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Exhibit 27.1

NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]” ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, AN
HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT. COMPLETE, UNREACTED COPIES OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN FILED WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AS PART OFHTS COMPANY’'S CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST.

FLOOR PLAN CREDIT LOAN NOTE
(Commercial)

$30,000,000.01 October 7, 201
Baltimore, Marylan

FOR VALUE RECEIVED , MARINEMAX, INC., a Delaware corporation, MARINEMAX EAST, INC., a @elare corporation,
MARINEMAX SERVICES, INC., a Delaware corporation ARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC, a Delaware limited liabtly company,
BOATING GEAR CENTER, LLC, a Delaware limited lialtyf company, US LIQUIDATORS, LLC, a Delaware limitdiability company, and
NEWCOAST FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC, a Delaware limddiability company (each “Borrower” and collectively the “ Borrowery
promise, jointly and severally, to pay to the ordE€GI FINANCE, INC., a Delaware corporation (* Lend8r from time to time as set forth
herein, the aggregate unpaid principal amount@fttivances to Borrowers made by the Lender, togethb interest on the principal balance
outstanding from time to time at the rate or rdeeafter specified, and all other sums which nepwing to the Lender by Borrowers
pursuant to this Floor Plan Credit Loan Note (thisote ”).

This Note is given effective the 7th day oft@er, 2010 (the “ Effective Dat§ pursuant to that certain Floor Plan Loan Agreatred even
date by and between Borrowers and Lender (the hlA&greement). Capitalized terms used in this Note but notigied herein shall have the
meanings defined in the Loan Agreement.

1. Principal.

1.01.Loan Amount . The Lender shall loan Borrowers an amount neixteed Thirty Million Dollars ($30,000,000.00) (th€rincipal
Amount”), subject to the terms of this Note and the Légneement. The actual unpaid balance of the Prahdmount of this Note
outstanding at any time (the “ Principal Balaficshall be the unpaid balance as of the date nfpdation and such Principal Balance shall be
included within the meaning of “ Principahs used herein.

1.02.Advances. The Lender shall make advances of the Principabént to Borrowers from time to time (each an “ Adee” and
collectively the “ Advance¥), subject to the terms of this Note and the Légneement which permit certain repayments of Adesna whole
or in part. The fact that the Principal Balancechiader may be reduced to zero from time to timd abaaffect the continuing validity of this
Note, and the Principal Balance may be increasea tipe Principal Amount of the Note from time imé before and after such reduction:
zero.

1.03.Payment of Principal . Except as may be accelerated or otherwise sqaieéror payable hereunder, payment of the entireipal
amount of each Advance under this Note shall beathaepayable by Borrowers to Lender as providetherRepayment of Advance schedule
attached hereto @&xhibit A .




1.04.Term. The term of this Note shall be subject to termorain accordance with the terms of the Loan Agregraad Borrowers
acknowledge that Lender shall have no obligatioatatever to make any Advance hereunder subsequtitg term of this Note.

2. Interest.

2.01.Rate and Computation.Interest shall accrue on the unpaid Principal Badasutstanding under this Note from time to timéhat
variable rate of interest equal to the one (1) ldiBOR plus 350 basis points, determined on a imgriasis, subject to adjustment as
provided in the Loan Agreement (the “ Interest Raténterest shall be calculated on the basis ypéar of three hundred sixty (360) days
applied to the actual days on which there existsrggraid balance under this Note. All accrued amhidchinterest under this Note shall be
included within the meaning of “ Interésas used herein.

2.02.Payment of Interest. Except as they may be accelerated or otherwisees@ayable hereunder, accrued and unpaid Int@tastany
then due applicable Late Charges (as hereinafferedl, Enforcement Expenses (as hereinafter défiaad any other sums due, if any, shall
be due and payable on the first day of each momtingl the term of this Note. Late Charges and E&orent Expenses due under this Note are
included within the meaning of “ Other Chardess used herein.

2.03.Default Interest . Notwithstanding the entry of any decree, ordeigiment or other judicial action under, pursuantrt@onnection
with or otherwise concerning this Note, upon theusgence of a Default continuing past any applieatire period or an Event of Default
(defined herein) and/or after the maturity of tNiste (whether by acceleration, declaration, extamsi otherwise), Borrowers promise to pay
to the Lender, whenever demanded by the Lendergst at a fixed rate of interest equal at all sinwethe Interest Rate pltgo percent
(2.00% ) per annum (the “ Default R&jeon the unpaid balance of the Principal Balantthis Note and all other amounts then and theeeaft
due and payable hereunder from the date of sucauliefr Event of Default for so long as such Deffaohtinues past any applicable cure
period or such Event of Default exists, or, frora thate of such maturity until payment in full oéthnpaid balance of the Principal Balance of
this Note, all accrued and unpaid interest theraad,all other amounts due and payable hereunder.

3. Late Charges. If Borrowers fail to make any payment of Prindjpaterest, or any Other Charges, becoming dusyaut to the provisions
of this Note, within fifteen (15) days of the datige and payable, Borrowers shall pay to the Leadate charge equal to five percent (5%) of
the amount of such payment. Such fifteen (15) dajod shall not be construed in any way to extéwddue date of any such payment. Late
charges are imposed for the purpose of defrayiad &mder’s expenses incident to the handling ahdeknt payments, and are in addition to,
and not in lieu of, the exercise by the Lenderrof aghts and remedies hereunder or under appidabls and any fees and expenses of any
agents or attorneys which the Lender may employupe continuance of a Default past any applicabte period or the occurrence of an
Event of Default.

4. Place of Payments; Business DayAll payments and prepayments of the unpaid baariche Principal Balance of this Note, Interest
thereon and any Other Charges payable hereundébshzaid in lawful money of the United StatesAoherica in immediately available funds
during regular business hours of the Lender at#reler’s office at 1407 Fleet Street, Baltimore,riiand 21231, or at such other place as the
Lender or any other holder of this Note may at timg or from time to time designate
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in writing to the Borrowers. Any payment not dueaBusiness Day (as defined in the Loan Agreensdat) be due on the next day which is a
Business Day.

5. Application of Payments. Payments of Principal (or any partial paymenésebf) or any other payments on account of thieNioicluding
prepayments), when paid, shall be applied fir&nforcement Expense, Late Charges, and Other Chéfgmy), then to Interest then due on
the unpaid balance of the Principal Balance of Mot and the balance, if any, shall be appliegduction of the unpaid balance of the
Principal Amount of this Note.

6. Prepayment.The Borrowers may prepay this Note in whole at @mg or in part from time to time without penalty.

7. Enforcement Expenses f this Note is forwarded to an attorney for ealiion, Borrowers shall pay to the Lender on demahexpenses,
charges, costs, and fees (including without limatateasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, ingad to proceedings in any court or other
forum and regardless whether suit is filed) of aayure whatsoever paid or incurred by or on bebfalie Lender in connection with (a) the
collection or enforcement of any of the Obligati@m&l (b) the collection or enforcement of any @& @redit Documents, including but not
limited to all such costs of recovery, repair, pr@ation, inspection, maintenance, and dispositfoany Collateral securing this Note (the “
Enforcement Expenséx

8. Default. Upon the occurrence of any one or more of the faglig events (each an “ Event of Defadltthe entire unpaid Principal Balance
hereof and all accrued and unpaid interest heriealh, &t the option of the Lender, at once becomelse due and payable without notice or
demand of any kind:

(a) Any Borrower shall fail to make (i) theymaent of any Interest hereon or Other Charges vdoenand payable or within five (5) days
thereafter or (ii) the payment of Principal wheredund payable or within three (3) days thereafter;

(b) the failure by any Borrower to pay any amiodue under any other Credit Document (whethenugemand, at maturity, by acceleration
or otherwise, no prior demand therefore by Lendéndpnecessary), unless the failure to pay is chbgeadministrative or technical error and
payment is made within three (3) Business Days$sadue date or;

(c) there is a Default that continues pastapplicable cure period or an Event of Default urtle Loan Agreement, the Security Agreer
or any other Credit Document.

9. Security. The debt evidenced by this Note is secured byabihin Pledge and Security Agreement of even luatewith between Borrowe
and Lender.

10. Rights and Remedies of Lender; No WaiverNo waiver of any power, privilege, right or remgthereinafter collectively referred to as “
Rights”) hereunder shall be effective unless in writifige Rights of the Lender or any other holder hetgwmfer this Note shall be irrevocable,
cumulative and concurrent, and not alternativexaiusive, and may be pursued and exercised sirgusarccessively or concurrently at the
sole discretion of the Lender or any other hold=ebf and may be exercised as often as the Lemaeryoother holder hereof shall deem
necessary or desirable. No delay on the part ofleeim exercising any Rights hereunder, or undgragher instrument executed by Borrowers
or any other party in connection with the transac{including the other Credit Documents) shallrape as a

3




waiver thereof, and no single or partial exercisany such Rights (including acceptance of latenpaiyts by Lender) shall preclude other or
further exercise thereof, or the exercise of amgoRights. Waiver by Lender of any default by &oyrower shall not constitute a waiver of
any subsequent defaults, but shall be restrictéldetalefault so waived. The validity, illegality onenforceability of any provision of this Note
shall not affect the validity, legality or enford@iity of any of the other provisions of this Notdich shall remain effective.

11. Jury Waiver. THE BORROWERS AND THE LENDER (BY ITS ACCEPTANCE OMHIS NOTE) HEREBY VOLUNTARILY AND
INTENTIONALLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT THEY MAY HAVE TO A TR IAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR
LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, INDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS NOTE.

12. Time of the Essencéorrowers acknowledge that TIME IS OF THE ESSENCthwespect to the payment and performance ofNbie.

13. ExtensionsAll parties to this Note, whether maker, endorseiguarantor, agree that the maturity of this Noteany payment due
hereunder, may be extended at any time or from timigne in accordance with the provisions of tleah Agreement without releasing,
discharging, or affecting the liability of such par

14. Presentment, Demand for Payment, Notice of Dishor, and Protest. EACH BORROWER, AND EACH AND EVERY PARTY TO
THIS NOTE, WHETHER BORROWER, INDORSER, OR GUARANTOWAIVES PRESENTMENT, DEMAND FOR PAYMENT,
NOTICE OF DISHONOR AND PROTES”

15. Severability. If any provision or part of any provision of thite, or the application thereof to any factsiocumstances, shall for any
reason be held invalid, illegal, or unenforceahlamy respect, such invalidity, illegality, or ufierceability shall not affect any other provisic

or the remaining part of any effective provisiofishe Note, or the application of any provisionsdwé to other facts or circumstances, and this
Note shall be construed as if such invalid, illegalunenforceable provision or part thereof hagendeen contained herein, but only to

extent of its invalidity, illegality, or unenforcheity.

16. Commercial Loan. The Borrowers hereby stipulate and warrant that@an evidenced hereby is a Commercial Loan witmé meaning
of Title 12 of Commercial Law Article of the Anndéal Code of Maryland, and that all proceeds of daah will be used solely to acquire or
carry on a business or commercial enterprise,@setterms are used therein.

17. Governing Law.This Note shall be governed and construed unddathe of the State of Maryland (excluding confliofdaws principles)
United States of America, both in interpretationd @erformance, and the Borrowers hereby irrevocabhsent and submit to the jurisdiction
and venue of any state or federal court sittinthenState of Maryland over any suit, action or gisdiproceeding brought to enforce or construe
this Note or arising out of or relating to this BoBorrowers acknowledge and warrant that this Mote be treated for all purposes, including
choice of law purposes, as though it was executddlalivered within the geographic boundaries ef$tate of Maryland, even if it was, in
fact, executed and delivered elsewhere.

18. Singular or Plural; Joint and Several Obligatiois. All references to singular shall also mean
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plural, masculine shall also mean feminine, andiathular pronouns shall include all signatoriesebader except for Lender. The Obligations
of Borrowers under this Note are joint and sevdtath Borrower shall be jointly and severally lebbr all the Obligations of all Borrowers
under this Note. Without limiting the generalitytbe foregoing, (i) whenever this Note imposes atigation on the Borrowers, the entire
Obligation shall be imposed on each Borrower;wiilenever the Borrowers make a grant, agreemengnaod, representation, or warranty in
this Note, such grant, agreement, covenant, reptatsen, or warranty shall be deemed made by eaxto®er; (iii) whenever this Note
provides that the Lender shall have a right or idyregainst the Borrowers, the Lender shall havé sight or remedy against each Borrower;
(iv) the occurrence of a Default or Event of Defad to any Borrower or the failure of any Borrowe@comply with any provision of this Note
shall be considered to be a Default or Event oDkfor failure to comply by all Borrowers; and (a)the event of any ambiguity or question
whether, in any instance, the term “Borrowers” refl® each Borrower, the ambiguity or questionidhakesolved in favor of the Lender.

19. Independent and Unconditional Obligations Lender may compromise or release the obligatidrasy one or more of the Borrowers
without thereby compromising or releasing the ddtiiogns of any other Borrower. Lender may releasepamtion or all the Collateral for the
obligations of the Borrowers hereunder, or anyheft, without thereby releasing or discharging amgioBorrower, in whole or in part, from
their obligations under this Note or any other @rBsbcument. Lender may extend the term of thiseNmtany of the Credit Documents or
extend new credit to any Borrower without therekteading or renewing or compromising or releasimg abligations of any other Borrower.
Any payment received by the Lender from any onmore of the Borrowers for or on account of this@&otay be applied by the Lender to any
of the Obligations in whatever order and mannet_ eder elects.

INTENTIONALLY BLANK
SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, intending to be legallyunal hereby, the Borrowers have caused this Ndte texecuted and delivered in their
name under seal and on their behalf by their dutii@rized officer or member as of the day and fiestrwritten above, with the intention that
this Note constitutes an instrument under seal.

WITNESS/ATTEST: MARINEMAX, INC.,
a Delaware corporatic
/s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Kurt Frahn Print Name Michael H. McLamk
Title: EVP
WITNESS/ATTEST: MARINEMAX EAST, INC.,
a Delaware corporatic
/s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Kurt Frahn Print Name Michael H. McLamk
Title: EVP
WITNESS/ATTEST: MARINEMAX SERVICES, INC.,
a Delaware corporatic
s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Kurt Frahn Print Name Michael H. McLamk
Title: EVP
WITNESS/ATTEST MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability compar
s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)

Kurt Frahn

Print Name Michael H. McLamk
Title: EVP




WITNESS/ATTEST:

/s/ Kurt Frahr

Kurt Frahn

WITNESS/ATTEST

/s/ Kurt Frahr

Kurt Frahn

WITNESS/ATTEST

/s/ Kurt Frahr

Kurt Frahn

BOATING GEAR CENTER, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability compar

By:

By:

MARINEMAX EAST, INC.,
its sole membe

/s/ Michael H. McLamt

(SEAL)

Print Name Michael H. McLamkt

Title:

EVP

US LIQUIDATORS, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability compar

By:

/s/ Michael H. McLamt

(SEAL)

Print Name Michael H. McLamk

Title:

NEWCOAST FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC
a Delaware limited liability compar

By:

EVP

/s/ Michael H. McLamt

(SEAL)

Print Name Michael H. McLamk

Title:

EVP




NOTE: PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT INDICATED BY[****]” ARE SUBJECT TO A CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST, AN
HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM THIS EXHIBIT. COMPLETE, UNREACTED COPIES OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN FILED WITH
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AS PART OFHIS COMPANY’S CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUEST.

EXHIBIT A TO FLOOR PLAN CREDIT LOAN NOTE
REPAYMENT OF ADVANCE

New Inventory (less than or equal to [****])

Initial Advance is no more than 90% of Netdioe Price

Principal Curtailment Due Da Principal Curtailment Payment Amot Advance Amount Balanc
Advance Date 90% of Net Invoice Pric
[****] days after Advance Date Pay 10% of amount of Net Invoice Pri 80% of Net Invoice Pric
550 days after Advance De Pay entire remaining Principal Balar 0% of Net Invoice Pric

(100%) of Advanct

Inventory (greater than [****])

Initial Advance is no more than 85% of Netdioe Price

Principal Curtailment Due Da Principal Curtailment Payment AmoL Advance Amount Balanc

Advance Date 85% of Net Invoice Pric
[****] days after Advance Datce Pay 10% of amount of Net Invoice Pri 75% of Net Invoice Pric
550 days after Advance Date Pay entire remaining Principal Balance 0% of Net Invoice Price

(100%) of Advanct

Used Inventory
Initial Advance is no more than 80% of FlodariPValue

Principal Curtailment Due Da Principal Curtailment Payment AmoL Advance Amount Balanc
Advance Date 80% of Floor Plan Valu
[****] days after Advance Datce Pay 8% of amount of Floor Plan Val 72% of Floor Plan Valu
366 days after Advance De Pay entire remaining Principal Balar 0% of Floor Plan Valu

(100%) of Advance



Exhibit 10.2¢

PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS PLEDGE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT , dated as of October 7, 2010 (this “ Agreenigns made by and among
MARINEMAX, INC., a Delaware corporation, MARINEMAXAST, INC., a Delaware corporation, MARINEMAX SERVES, INC., a
Delaware corporation, MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC, adlaware limited liability company, BOATING GEAR CHNR, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, US LIQUIDATORSE].C, a Delaware limited liability company, and NES®@AST FINANCIAL
SERVICES, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compafgach a “Borrower” and collectively, the “ Borrosgég), and CGl FINANCE, INC., a
Delaware corporation having its principal businaddress at 1407 Fleet Street, Baltimore, Marylat#B2 (together with its successors and
assigns, “ Lendef).

A. Borrowers and Lender are parties Edaer Plan Loan Agreement dated as of even dawwitr (the “ Loan Agreemeri}, providing
for the availability of a floor plan revolving crigdacility up to the maximum amount of $30,000,00® (the “ Floor Plan Credt) to Borrower:
upon the terms and conditions set forth therein.

B. As a condition to Lender extending Bheor Plan Credit to Borrowers, each Borrower shale agreed, by executing and delivering
this Agreement, to secure the payment and perfocenamfull of each Borrower’s obligations under thean Agreement. Lender is relying on
this Agreement in its decision to extend crediBtorowers under the Loan Agreement, and would ntgranto the Loan Agreement without
the execution and delivery of this Agreement byheaorrower.

C. Borrowers will obtain benefits as aukt of the Lender extending the Floor Plan Creali#éach Borrower, which benefits are hereby
acknowledged, and, accordingly, Borrowers desimexgcute and deliver this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing, and for otgeod and valuable consideration, the receipt affecgncy of
which are hereby acknowledged, Borrowers and Leridethemselves, their successors and assignshyhegree as follows:

ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS

1.1 Defined TermsIn addition to the terms defined elsewhere is thgreement, the following terms shall have the mregs set forth below:

“ Builder’s Certification” means and includes the certificate of facts afdbaf a vessel described in 46 C.F.R. § 67.9%umcessor section of
similar import.

“ Business Day shall have the meaning given in Article 1 of tbean Agreement.

“ Certificate of Deletiori means and includes a written confirmation of $herender of the certificate of documentation &fccumented
Vessel approved for purposes of the public registiyre nation of documentation.
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“ Certificate of Origin” means and includes a record created by a manuéaar importer as the manufacturer’'s or impost@roof of identify
of a Vessel, and shall include a manufacturer'sifezte of origin, a manufacturer’s statement dfim, or an importer’s certificate of origin or
an importer’s statement of origin, but excludegpasate Builder’s Certification.

“ Collateral” shall mean and include (i) all Inventory acquireith the proceeds of Floor Plan Credit of Borrosvaow or hereafter held or
received by, in transit to, or in the possessiooamtrol of Borrowers or Lender, or any third pay) all Pledged Collateral with respect to
such Inventory of Borrowers, and (iii) any subgtans or replacements thereof and any productgpamckeds thereof (including without
limitation, insurance proceeds).

“ Collateral Accounts shall have the meaning assigned to that ter®eiation 5.4(Collateral Accountspf this Agreement.

“ Collateral Compliance Checkshall have the meaning assigned to that ter®dation 4.4(b)of this Agreement.

“ Default” shall mean any event or condition that constgwga Event of Default or that, with the giving ofyanotice, the passage of time, or
both, would be an Event of Default.

“ Documents of Titlé means and includes each and every Builder’s fi@tion, Certificate of Deletion, Certificate ofriQin, certificate of
number, certificate of title, notice of securityerest, certificate of registry, bill of sale, pave# attorney to convey rights, and any other
document, instrument, or writing evidencing thentggof Borrowers or any Affiliate of theirs in ar any Vessel acquired or to be acquired by
an Advance or other proceeds of the Floor PlaniCred

“ Documented Vessélmeans and includes each and every Vessel registerder the laws of a nation in a public regiatehe port of registry
of the Vessel or in a central office and shallurig, but not be limited to, a Vessel documentealasssel of the United States pursuant to 46
U.S.C. chapter 121, as amended.

“ Event of Default’ shall have the meaning assigned to that ter®eiation 5.1( Events of Default of this Agreement.
“ GE ” shall mean General Electric Commercial DistribatFinance Corporation.

“ Intercreditor Agreemerit shall mean that certain Intercreditor Agreemeiigven date herewith, between GE and Lender.

Inventory” shall have the meaning given in Article 1 of thean Agreement.

“ Laws " means the collective reference to each and a#|@rdinances, statutes, rules, regulations, sydgunctions, rule of common law,
judicial interpretation, writs, or decrees of aration or government, and state or other politicdldivision thereof and any entity exercis
executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or adistrative functions of or pertaining to governmhand any department, agency, or
instrumentality thereof, including but not limitéal environmental laws, anti-terrorism laws, andhilb@ions on the use and carriage of illegal
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controlled substances, together with general maeilaw as recognized among maritime nations.

“Lien " means any mortgage, pledge, chose, hypothecatgsignment, encumbrance, lien (statutory or othegyitime lien, security interest,
or other agreement or arrangement of any kind turaavhatsoever (including any conditional salether title retention agreement), and any
financing lease having substantially the same emineffect.

“Loss” shall have the meaning assigned to that ter@dation 4.6(Insurance, Proceeds of LosH)this Agreement.
“ Permitted Liens' shall have the meaning given in Section 6.02fs) of the Loan Agreement.

“ Pledged Collaterdl means and includes each and every Document [&f fbit each and every Vessel or other item of Inegnacquired or to
be acquired all or in part by an Advance or othecpeds of the Floor Plan Credit, and any subkgiitator replacements thereof and any
products and proceeds thereof (including withauithtion, insurance proceeds).

“ Powers of Attorney shall have the meaning assigned to that ter@dation 2.4(ePowers of Attorney)f this Agreement.

“ Preferred Mortgagé means and includes (i) a mortgage that is a predlemortgage on a vessel of the United Statesrutl&).S.C. § 31322
and (ii) a mortgage, hypothecation, or similar geathat is established as a security on a foreégsel if the mortgage, hypothecation, or
similar charge was executed under the laws ofdheidn country under whose laws the ownership efviissel is documented and has been
registered under those laws in a public registéheaport of registry of the vessel or at a centffite.

“ Secured Obligationsshall have the meaning assigned to that ter@eiation 2.2(Security for Secured Obligationg) this Agreement.

1.2 Uniform Commercial Code Term&nless otherwise defined herein, or unless timectd otherwise requires, all terms used hereirciwhi
are defined in the Uniform Commercial Code of th&t&of Maryland, Md. Code, Ann., Comm. Law Arttl&i9, in effect from time to time,
unless by application of that law the Uniform Comaied Code in effect from time to time in the judistion where any of the Borrowers as to
an item of Collateral, as applicable, is locatenti(d a different jurisdiction, where the Collateimlocated) (collectively, the * UCQ shall
have the meanings therein stated.

1.3 Capitalized TermsAll capitalized terms used but not defined hesdiall have the meanings given to them in the Logreement.

ARTICLE Il
CREATION OF SECURITY INTEREST

2.1 Pledge and Grant of Security IntereBbrrowers hereby pledge, assign and deliver todee and grant to Lender a Lien upon and security
interest in all of its right, title and interestamnd to the Collateral.




2.2 Security for Secured Obligationhis Agreement and the Collateral secure thedfind prompt payment to Lender, at any time and from
time to time as and when due (whether at the staggdrity, by acceleration or otherwise), of alilities and obligations of Borrowers,
whether now existing or hereafter incurred, createdrising and whether direct or indirect, absslort contingent, due or to become due, ut
arising out of or in connection with the Loan Agreent and/or this Agreement, including, without kiation, all principal of and interest on the
Floor Plan Credit, all fees, expenses, indemnéigs$ other amounts payable by Borrowers under tlaa lAgreement (including interest
accruing after the filing of a petition or commenmnt of a case by or with respect to Borrowers isgelelief under any applicable federal and
state laws pertaining to bankruptcy, reorganizatwrangement, moratorium, readjustment of delgsptltion, liquidation or other debtor
relief, or similar of another jurisdiction, specéilly including, without limitation, the Bankrupteyode and any fraudulent transfer and
fraudulent conveyance laws, whether or not therclair such interest is allowed in such proceediag)] (a) all such liabilities and obligations
that, but for the operation of the automatic stagler Section 362(a) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Codejmilar laws of another jurisdiction, would
become due, and (b) all fees, costs and expengablpay such Borrower und8ection 6.1(Indemnity and Expenseaid all other
Obligations of such Borrower (the liabilities anloligations of Borrowers described in ti8sction 2.2, collectively, the “ Secured Obligations

"),

2.3 Security Interests Absolut@ll rights of Lender and security interests hereéer, and all obligations of Borrowers hereundealihe
absolute and unconditional and, without limiting tpenerality of the foregoing, shall not be reldaskéscharged or otherwise affected by:

(i) any extension, renewal, settlemeampromise or waiver in respect of any Secured @bbg, or any other document evidencing or
securing such Secured Obligation, by operatiomwfdr otherwise;

(i) any increase in the amount of angBed Obligation, or any modification or amendmansupplement to the Loan Agreement, or
any other document evidencing or securing any Selc@bligation;

(iii) any non-perfection or invalidity @iy direct or indirect security for any Securedi@iion;

(iv) any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorgation or other similar proceeding affecting anymwer or its assets or any resulting
disallowance, release or discharge of all or anyiquo of the Secured Obligations;

(v) the existence of any claim, set-afbther right which Borrowers may have at any tagainst Lender or any other corporation or
person, whether in connection herewith or any ateel transactions; providedhat nothing herein shall prevent the asserticemg such clain
by separate suit or compulsory counterclaim;

(vi) any invalidity or unenforceabilitglating to or against Borrowers, for any reasorgrof Secured Obligation, or any provision of
applicable law or regulation purporting to prohithie payment by Borrowers of the Secured Obligation
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(vii) any failure by Lender (a) to file enforce a claim against any Borrower (in a baptay or other proceeding), (b) to give notice of
the existence, creation or incurring by any Borrmwafeany new or additional indebtedness or oblmatinder or with respect to the Secured
Obligations, (c) to commence any action againstBoryower, (d) to disclose to any Borrower any $aghich Lender may now or hereafter
know with regard to any Borrower or (e) to proceeth due diligence in the collection, protectionrealization upon any collateral securing
the Secured Obligations; or

(viii) any other act or omission to actdelay of any kind by any Borrower or Lender oy ather corporation or person or any other
circumstance whatsoever which might, but for thevimions of this clause, constitute a legal or tplé discharge of any Borrower’s
obligations hereunder.

2.4 Perfection of Security Interests

(a) Information, Registration of Chargg€;C Financing Statementdo later than the date of any Advance pursuartieéd_ban
Agreement, or as soon thereafter as Borrowers andér shall agree, each Borrower shall deliveraider, or its designee, such details
concerning each item of Borrower’s Inventory ttgahiVessel comprising Collateral being acquiredh wie proceeds of such Advance, as
Lender may, in its sole discretion require, inchgdfor each such Vessel, its description, HIN, dpations, equipment lists, commissioning
statements, invoice value, and such other infolonads Lender may desire. (i) Borrowers acknowlgtigethe UCC applies to the security
interests and Liens granted by each Borrower taleem the Collateral and each Borrower shall, véven necessary, duly register such
security interests and Liens as charges within sood and at such Borrower’s sole cost, as appatgtd comply with the UCC with respect to
perfection of the security interests and Lien intsCollateral granted herein, even if further pemtiags also may be necessary to make the
charge valid or perfected and first priority acdongdto the law of the country in which the Collatkis located; (ii) with respect to any
Collateral located in other countries, to the ektbat Lender may reasonably require, Borrowerd sbaperate with Lender to enable Lender
to timely obtain registration of Lender’s secuiityerest and Lien as necessary to make the sarntearal perfected and first priority according
to the laws of any country in which Collateral Velssmay be located; and (i) Lender is authoritedomplete and file one or more UCC
financing statements or other forms and any doctsneasrtificates, or other papers necessary ancbpppte to perfect its security interest and
Lien in such Collateral as Lender may, in its stikeretion, deem appropriate.

(b)_Pledged CollateraNo later than the date of any Advance pursuatited oan Agreement, or as soon thereafter as Benoand
Lender shall agree, each Borrower shall delivdreioder, or its designee, all such Pledged Collaterapreviously delivered to Lender,
including all Documents of Title as to each Vesswhprising Collateral that is an item of such Bereo's Inventory being acquired with the
proceeds of such Advance, together with all subleroinvoices, customs receipts, certificates, ahdrgpapers as to each such Vessel as Lt
may, in its sole discretion, deem appropriate,gdéld by Lender as a pledge and security for #yengnt and performance of the Secured
Obligations hereunder.

(c) Certificates of TitleNo later than the date any Vessel that is an @gé@ollateral
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becomes covered by a certificate of title effectimeler Section 9-303 of the UCC or other laws of state or other jurisdiction as evidence of
ownership or a security interest or other Lien t8gh a vessel is acquired by any Borrower, (isBorrower shall execute and deliver to
Lender for filing in the appropriate office suchpdipation with respect to such certificate of tile identifies Lender as holder of a first priority
perfected security interest or Lien upon the Veaséer applicable Laws, including rights of forestioe upon default, and (ii) if Lender shall
Lender’s sole discretion, require, such Borrowesllstxecute and deliver a form of limited powerattorney sufficient in Lendes’discretion tc
permit Lender to prepare, execute, deliver, arddii behalf of such Borrower, and in such Borrosseeme, in the appropriate office an
application for such a certificate of title as ttyd/essel held as an item of Collateral, so idgimg such Borrower as owner and Lender as
holder of a first priority perfected security irgst or Lien upon the Vessel under applicable Laws.

(d) Preferred MortgagéNo later than the date any Vessel that is Caolidiis documented as a Documented Vessel is achbyr@&ny
Borrower, unless Borrower shall at that time obgid deliver to Lender a Certificate of Deletion $ach vessel, (i) such Borrower shall
execute and deliver to Lender for filing in the egyriate office a Preferred Mortgage in favor ohter covering that Vessel, which shall be
executed under the laws of the nation under wrese the ownership of the Vessel is or will be doentad so as to confer upon Lender all
attendant rights conferred by applicable laws fisgpriority preferred mortgage Lien upon the ¥elsunder applicable Laws, including rights
of foreclosure upon default, and (i) if Lender kha Lender’s sole discretion, require, such Baver shall execute and deliver a form of
limited power of attorney sufficient in Lendsrdiscretion to permit Lender to prepare, exealgéyer, and file on behalf of such Borrower, i
in such Borrower’s name, in the appropriate offsxgch application for documentation of the Vessel a Preferred Mortgage in favor of
Lender covering the Vessel held as an item of @ald, identifying such Borrower as owner and Leraieholder of a first priority preferred
mortgage Lien upon the Vessel under applicable Laws

(e) Powers of AttorneyAs further security each Borrower hereby grargeder a limited power of attorney, which shall leemied
coupled with an interest and irrevocable, to preparecute, deliver and file on behalf of such Baer, and in such Borrower’s name, in the
appropriate office an application for documentatidany Vessel comprising Collateral held as amité such Borrower’s Inventory and a
form of Preferred Mortgage in favor of Lender camgrthat VVessel, to be executed, delivered, ard fiinder the laws of the nation under
whose laws the ownership of the Vessel is or vdldocumented so as to confer upon Lender all ateniyhts conferred by applicable Laws
as a first priority Lien upon the Vessel under agtlle Laws, including rights of foreclosure upafallt. To confirm the foregoing and as
further security in favor of Lender, each Borrowbell upon Lender’'s demand from time to time exeautd deliver to Lender a limited power
of attorney substantially in the form attached teeses_Exhibit A. The limited powers of attorney referred to irstBection 2.4(Perfection of
Security Interests)each with such terms and conditions and in saagi find with such formalities as Lender may frometito time reasonab
require, may be referred to collectively as theotvers of Attorney”




2.5 Additional SecurityThis Agreement and the security interests and Ligasted hereunder or provided for herein are ditiwh to and not
in any way prejudiced by or prejudicial to any atkecurity or guarantee now or subsequently helddmder.

ARTICLE 1l
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Each Borrower hereby represents and warrants, @stbé Closing Date and as of (ii) the date afteand every Advance made under the Loan
Agreement, to Lender as an inducement to exteanhfimg for the acquisition of each Borrower’s Intgey, as follows:

3.1 Certain Representations and Warranties in lAggerement The representations and warranties made by eaaiowBer in the Loan
Agreement are true and correct as applied to altd®eers for purposes of this Agreement.

3.2 Ownership of CollateralEach Borrower owns, or has valid rights as aeless licensee with respect to, all Collateral pugd to be
pledged by it hereunder, free and clear of any 4. ixcept for the Liens granted to Lender pursuatitis Agreement and the other Credit
Documents and any Permitted Liens. No securityeagest, financing statement, registered charge,gage, or other public notice with
respect to all or any part of the Collateral isfitmor of record in any government or public offiand each Borrower has not filed or conse
to the filing of any such statement or notice, gt¢§ UCC financing statements naming Lender &siissl party, and (ii) as may be otherwise
permitted by this Agreement and the other Creditiboents.

3.3 BorrowersInformation. Schedule llists, as to each Borrower, (i) its exact legal pafii) the jurisdiction of its incorporation or
organization, its federal tax identification numiiérapplicable), and (if applicable) its organimaial identification number, and (iii) the addr:
of its chief executive office.

3.4 Authorization; ConsentThe execution, delivery and performance by eastid®ver of this Agreement require no action byroraspect of,
or filing with, any governmental authority and does contravene, or constitute (with or without tieing of notice or lapse of time or both) a
default under, any provision of applicable law baoy material agreement, judgment, injunctioneordiecree or other material instrument
binding upon or affecting each Borrower.

3.5 No Restrictions There are no statutory or regulatory restrictjgmshibitions or limitations on each Borrower’slai to grant to Lender a
Lien upon and security interest in the Collateraispiant to this Agreement or (except for the piiowis of the federal Anti-Assignment Act and
Anti-Claims Act, as amended, which each Borrowerrars shall have no Material Adverse Effect ondean's rights hereunder) on the
exercise by Lender of its rights and remedies heteu(including any foreclosure upon or collectarthe Collateral), and there are no
contractual restrictions on any Borrower’s abiltyto grant such Lien and security interest.

3.6 Security Interests; FilingsAs to each Vessel that is held as CollateratiferSecured Obligations, this Agreement togeth#ér:wi

(i) as to each Collateral Vessel ownecdagh Borrower and not documented nor subject
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to a certificate of title, the filing, with respeict each Borrower, of duly completed and execut&€CUinancing statements naming each
Borrower as debtor, Lender as secured party, ascritdng the Collateral, in each of the jurisdicsioset forth with respect to each Borrowe!
Schedule Il hereto;

(ii) as to each Collateral Vessel thatdsered by a duly issued and effective certifie#tttle within the meaning of Section 9-102 oéth
UCC, the notation of Lender’s security interestéire on the applicable certificate of title, and

(iii) as to each Collateral Vessel tleaaiDocumented Vessel, a Preferred Mortgage dobyrded and registered as a first priority
Preferred Mortgage Lien in favor of Lender on thecDmented Vessel, with all attendant rights coefitbry the laws of the nation under wh
laws the ownership of the Vessel is documentedhaistheen registered, at all times shall constitutalid and perfected security interest in
and Lien upon the Collateral in favor of Lendehgtthan original Documents of Title not deliveted_ender’s possession) to the extent a
security interest and Lien therein can be perfebteduch registration, filing or possession ungmliaable laws, superior and prior to the ric
of all other Persons therein (except for Permittieshs).

ARTICLE IV
COVENANTS

Borrowers agree that so long as any Secured Olgigegmains unpaid:

4.1 Use and Disposition of Collatergbo long as no Default shall be continuing pagtapplicable cure period and no Event of Defaudtllsh
exist, Borrowers may, in any lawful manner not insigtent with the provisions of this Agreement &émelother Credit Documents, use, control
and manage the Collateral in the operation of theginesses, and receive and use the income, reegruprofits arising therefrom and the
proceeds thereof, in the same manner and withaime ffect as if this Agreement had not been madeided, however, that Borrowers will
not sell, exchange, or otherwise dispose of, gaagitoption with respect to, or mortgage, pledgangany Lien with respect to, or otherwise
encumber any of the Collateral or any interestdimerexcept for: (i) sales of Inventory in the oraly course of any Borrower’s business; (ii)
the security interest and Lien created in favocerider hereunder; and (iii) the Permitted Liens.

4.2 Change of Name, Locations, etdo Borrower will (i) change its name, identity @srporate structure, (ii) change its chief examitffice
from the location thereof listed @&chedule I, or (iii) change the jurisdiction of its incorpain or organization from the jurisdiction listed o
Schedule I(whether by merger or otherwise), unless in easle sach a Borrower has (A) given twenty (20) dayr written notice to Lend
of its intention to do so, together with informaticegarding any such new location and such otHerrimation in connection with such propo:
action as Lender may reasonably request, and (Bjeded to Lender ten (10) days prior to any suearge or removal such documents,
instruments and financing statements as may bereghy Lender, all in form and substance satisigcto Lender, paid all necessary filing
and recording fees and taxes, and taken all otttems reasonably requested by Lender,
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in order to perfect and maintain the Lien upon s@curity interest in the Collateral.

4.3 Transfers, Course of Busined€sach Borrower shall at all times operate its bess with respect to the Collateral in accordanite w
applicable Laws in all jurisdictions in which thel@teral is located and in which each Borrowerdigsts its business with respect to the
Collateral where not to do so would have a Matekilerse Effect and shall not at any time use (otih@n demonstration use), charter, rent,
sell, transfer, consign, license, encumber or ettser dispose of Collateral, except for sales oehtery in the ordinary course of any
Borrower’s business.

4.4 Records; Inspection, Collateral Compliance ®hec

(a) Each Borrower will keep and maintairits own cost and expense satisfactory and campeords of the Collateral, and will furnish
to Lender from time to time such statements, sclesdand reports (including, without limitation, acats receivable aging schedules) with
regard to the Collateral as Lender may reasona&gyest. Within the first ten (10) days of each rmpeach Borrower shall furnish Lender an
itemization of Borrower’'s complete Inventory of \dets comprising Collateral, identified in detaitiiding each such Vessel's HIN, and
specifying the location of each such Vessel.

(b) Each Borrower shall, once every tH@anonths and at such other times as may be mahgorequested and upon reasonable notice,
make the Collateral available to Lender for insfpec{each such inspection a “ Collateral Complia@beck”). In the course of such inspect
each Borrower shall provide Lender with originapias of all Documents of Title for any Vessel coisinig Collateral as Lender may
reasonably request and each Borrower shall prdweseler access to each Vessel comprising Collateedch Borrower’s Inventory so that
Lender may identify the HIN for each such VesselkclEBorrower shall provide Lender with photograph¥essels comprising Collateral held
in Inventory as reasonably required. Lender’s reabte fees charged and expenses incurred for eacbvery Collateral Compliance Check
shall be part of the Secured Obligations and payeblLender by Borrowers within ten (10) Businesy®of demand.

(c) Each Borrower shall, from time to ¢irat such times as may be reasonably requestedbandeasonable notice, permit Lender to
visit its offices or the premises upon which anyll&eral may be located, inspect its books andndxand make copies and memoranda
thereof, discuss its finances and affairs witloffgcers, employees and independent accountantsakedany other actions reasonably neces
for the protection of the interests of Lender ia @ollateral.

4.5 Maintenance of CollateraEach Borrower will, in accordance with sound bess practices, maintain all Collateral held lyribn its
behalf in good saleable and seaworthy condition.

4.6 Insurance, Proceeds of Lo$sach Borrower shall at all times bear all riskaxfs, damage to or destruction of Collateral. Haatrower
shall keep all tangible Collateral insured forfith replacement value against all insurable rigksare usually insured against by companies
owning similar assets and operating similar busieeso the Borrower under policies copies of wisicall be delivered to Lender and issuet
insurers satisfactory to Lender. All Vessels




comprising Collateral held by each Borrower shalfily insured under policies of all risk marimesurance, both hull and machinery and
protection and indemnity, or equivalent propersualty and liability insurance satisfactory to denin its sole discretion. Lender shall be
named as additional insured (without obligationgogmium) and loss payee as its interests may apfiebender’s request a mortgagee
endorsement to such insurance in favor of Lendalt be obtained. Policies shall be subject to catwen or change only upon thirty (30) days
(ten (10) days for nopayment of premium) written notice to Lender. la #vent of a total loss or a constructive totas losany Vessel held
Collateral (a “ Los$), Borrowers shall notify Lender without delay aBdrrowers shall cause the insurer to promptly témLender in the
form received, with all necessary endorsementgratteeds of such insurance or Borrowers shall ptiymemit to Lender all such proceeds
which any Borrower may receive. Lender, at its &g shall either apply any proceeds of insurahogay receive toward payment of
outstanding Obligations or pay such proceeds toBamyower. If any Borrower fails to obtain suchumnance as required herein, Lender may,
but shall not be obligated to, procure such insteaand the cost thereof shall be a part of thegatitins and payable to Lender by Borrowers
within ten (10) Business Days of demand. Notwithdtag any thing in this Agreement to the contraing relative rights of Lender and GE v
regard to proceeds of insurance shall be deternpnesliant to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreeine

4.7 Collateral in Possession of Third ParBxcept for third party carriers, engaged by Baets in the ordinary course of business for trart:
of Collateral, without limiting the generality oy other provision of this Agreement, each Borroagrees that it shall not permit any
Collateral to be in the possession of any baileegivouseman, agent, processor or other third paggy time unless (i) such bailee or other
Person shall have been notified of the securigrast created by this Agreement (or, if requiredesrapplicable law in order to perfect
Lender’s security interest in such Collateral, shaliee or other Person shall have acknowledgéemaler in writing that it is holding such
Collateral for the benefit of Lender and subjecstch security interest and to the instructionsesfder) and each Borrower shall have
exercised its reasonable best efforts to obtaim fsach bailee or other Person, at each Borrowel&scost and expense, the written
acknowledgement described above (if not alreadyired by applicable law to perfect Lender’s seguiriterest) and agreement to waive and
release any Lien (whether arising by operatioraef br otherwise) it may have with respect to suoliateral, such agreement to be in form
substance reasonably satisfactory to Lender os(ih bailee is a dealer and the Collateral inwblgdnventory held for sale at retail in the
ordinary course of bailee’s business.

4.8 Protection of Security Interest; Further Assoes. Each Borrower will, at its expense and in sucmnes and form as Lender may require,
execute, deliver, file and record any financindesteent, application for certificate of title, aggation for documentation, preferred ship
mortgage, specific assignment or other paper drlday other action that may be necessary or dsjrar that Lender may request, in order
to create, preserve, perfect or validate the sgcimtierests granted hereby or to enable Lendexéuocise and enforce its rights hereunder with
respect to any of the Collateral.

4.9 Irrevocable Power of Attorney; Signatory Autization. Each Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints Lended (i¢s officers, agents and/or
employees) as its attorney-in-fact and coupled waitlinterest for the purpose of carrying out armgpming all of such Borrower'’s
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obligations under the Credit Documents at any émg Borrower shall fail to promptly do so upon Lend demand, including to perfect the
security interest or Lien in Collateral grantedamor of Lender and register the charge on thea@adal granted in favor of Lender, and to
protect the Collateral, obtain insurance, pay taassessments, Liens, fees, charges or encumbyramncesrder and pay for repairs on the
Collateral, and to do the same for and in the naframy Borrower, with all amounts expended by Lerfdethose purposes to be Advances of
Floor Plan Credit with Interest to accrue therepnd eepayable to Lender and secured by the Collatsatated in Loan Agreement, from date
of expenditure until paid in full. Notwithstanditige foregoing, the powers granted to Lender in 8@stion 4.%hall only be exercised by
Lender after and during the continuation of a Difpast any applicable cure period or the existerfa@n Event of Default.

4.10 Documents of TitleBorrowers shall maintain, subject to the termthaf Agreement, all original Documents of Title Bach Inventory
item acquired by any Borrower and shall make tmeesavailable to Lender for inspection and shall/jote photocopies thereof to Lender. E
Borrower shall provide written notice to Lendesifch Borrower obtains a duplicate of any Documétitte for any Inventory Item.

ARTICLE V
EVENTS OF DEFAULT; GENERAL AUTHORITY; REMEDIES

5.1 Events of DefaultThe occurrence of any one or more of the follgwwents shall constitute an event of default (éids of Default, and
each an “ Event of Defaulj under this Agreement:

a. the material failure by any Borrower to gdyrwith any covenant, restriction or agreementtamed in this Agreement unless the failure
to perform is capable of remedy and is remedietliwitirty (30) days after the earlier to occur(@®) Lender giving written notice thereof to
Borrowers, or (bb) any Borrower becoming awareuafsfailure to comply;

b. the continuance of any Default past anylieaiple cure period or the occurrence of any Ewéidefault on the part of any Borrower
(including specifically, but without limitation, fult due to non-payment) under the terms of therLAgreement or any other Credit
Document;

c. the Borrowers, taken as a whole, beconmiaat or generally do not pay their debts as thegome due, or if a petition for relief in a
bankruptcy court is filed by any Borrower, or ifyaBorrower applies for, consents to, or acquiestelse appointment of a trustee, custodian,
or receiver for any Borrower or any of its assets property, or makes a general assignment fobénefit of creditors; or in the absence of
such application, consent, or acquiescence, iistde, custodian, or receiver is appointed forBaryower or for a substantial part of the assets
and property of the Borrowers and is not dischargiiin sixty (60) days; or any bankruptcy, reorgaion, debt arrangement, or other
proceeding or case under any bankruptcy or inselvé&aw or any dissolution or liquidation proceediagnstituted against any Borrower anc
consented to or acquiesced in by any Borrowermanes unresolved for sixty (60) days; or any Boreotakes any action to authorize any of
the actions described in this section; or
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d. any representation, warranty, certificatiorstatement made or deemed made by any Borrowaani Credit Document or in any
certificate, financial statement or other docundgiivered pursuant to any Credit Document, shalerto have been incorrect in any material
respect when made or deemed made, unless the sii@ures giving rise to the misrepresentation gralda of remedy and are remedied
within thirty (30) days of the earlier to occur(@ai) Lender giving written notice thereof to Borew or (bb) any Borrower becoming aware of
the misrepresentation;

e. the material failure by any Borrower to @ynwith any covenant, restriction or agreementtamed in this Agreement or any other Cr
Document (other than those referred t&action 7. 01(apf the Loan Agreement), unless the failure to penfes capable of remedy and is
remedied within thirty (30) days after the earti@ioccur of (aa) Lender giving written notice thefreo Borrowers or (bb) any Borrower
becoming aware of the failure to comply, and predidurther that the violation of any financial caaat ofSection 6.04( Financial
Covenantg of the Loan Agreement by Borrowers is remediedohefore the last day of the month following thenth of the occurrence of
the earlier of (aa) Lender giving written noticesofch violation to Borrowers or (bb) any Borrowecbming aware of such violation;

f. the occurrence and continuance of any defawevent of default on the part of any Borrowiecluding specifically, but without
limitation, defaults due to non-payment) undertérens of any agreement, document or instrumentupatsto which any Borrower has
incurred any Indebtedness in excess of Five Hun@ihedisand Dollar§$500,000.0Q (or its equivalent in any other currency or cogies)
which default or event of default has passed agplecure periods and would permit acceleratiosush Indebtedness;

g. the value of the assets of Borrowers tasea whole is less than their liabilities (takingpiaccount contingent and prospective liabiliti
h. any corporate action, legal proceedingstioer procedure or step is taken in relation to:

(A) the suspension of payments, a moi@toiof any indebtedness, winding-up (save wheré guoceedings, procedure or step are
frivolous or vexatious and are discharged or otlisrwithdrawn within thirty (30) days of commencet)edissolution (save where such
proceedings, procedures or steps is frivolous ratieus and is discharged or otherwise withdrawthiwithirty (30) days of commencement),
administration or reorganization (by way of volugtarrangement, scheme of arrangement or otherwfsa)y Borrower; provided, however
that the foregoing shall not prohibit one Borroirem merging with another Borrower if Lender sHadlve been given thirty (30) days prior
notice of such merger;

(B) a composition, assignment or arrang@mith the creditors (or any class thereof) of Borrower;
(C) an order for the winding up, admirdsion or dissolution is made in relation to anyriBaver;

(D) the appointment of a liquidator, reee, administrator, administrative receiver, conigptay manager or other similar officer in resy
of any Borrower or any of its assets;

(E) the shareholders, directors or otfecers of any Borrower request the appointmenbofgive notice of their intention to appoint, a
liguidator, trustee in bankruptcy, judicial custaaj compulsory manager, receiver, administratieeiver, administrator or similar
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officer; or

(F) enforcement of any Lien over all ayanaterial part of the assets of any Borrowegror analogous procedure or step is taken in any
jurisdiction; or

i. any expropriation, attachment, sequestnatilistress or execution affects any asset or as$@iny Borrower and is not discharged within
21 days; or

j- the entry of a decree or order for religfebcourt having jurisdiction in the premises iggect of any Borrower in an involuntary
bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding or any othenilar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointageceiver, liquidator, assignee, custod
trustee, sequestrator (or other similar officidlany Borrower or for any substantial part of itegerty, or ordering the wind-up or liquidation
of its affairs, or the filing and pendency for ti{30) days without dismissal of a petition infitey an involuntary case under any such
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law.

5.2 General Authority Each Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints Leratet any officer or agent thereof, with full powésabstitution, as
his true and lawful attorney-in-fact, in the nanfieach such Borrower or its own name, for the sske and benefit of Lender, but at each
Borrower’s expense, at any time during the contirveaof a Default past any applicable cure periotherexistence of an Event of Default, to
take any and all appropriate action and to exeauyeand all documents and instruments which maygeessary or desirable to carry out the
terms of this Agreement and, without limiting tleedgoing, each Borrower hereby gives Lender thegn@md right on its behalf, without
notice to or further assent by each Borrower tohaofollowing during the continuance of a Defawdspany applicable cure period or the
existence of an Event of Default:

(i) to receive, take, endorse, assignaeitver any and all checks, notes, drafts, aceeg®s documents and other negotiable and
nonnegotiable instruments taken or received by &achower as, or in connection with, the Collateral

(i) to demand, sue for, collect, receqral give acquittance for any and all monies due decome due upon or in connection with the
Collateral;

(iif) to commence, settle, compromisenpound, prosecute, defend or adjust any claim, aciion or proceeding with respect to, or in
connection with, the Collateral;

(iv) to sell, transfer, assign or othessvdeal in or with the Collateral or any part tioéras fully and effectually as if Lender were the
absolute owner thereof; and

(v) to do, at its option, but at the expe of Borrowers, at any time or from time to tirakk acts and things which Lender deems nece
to protect or preserve the Collateral and to realigon the Collateral.

5.3 Rights and Remediedf a Default shall continue past any applicahleecperiod or an Event of Default shall exist, Lenshall be entitled
to exercise in a commercially reasonable mannegspect of the Collateral all of its rights, powarsl remedies provided for herein or
otherwise available to it under any other Creditment, by law, in equity or otherwise, includingreghts and remedies of a secured party
under the UCC, and shall be entitled in particubar,
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without limitation of the foregoing, to exerciseetfollowing rights, which Borrowers agree to be coencially reasonable:

(a) To notify any or all obligors as toyaCollateral of the Lien and security interesfamor of Lender created hereby and to direct all
such Persons to make payments of all amounts @uedh or thereunder directly to Lender or to aroantdesignated by Lender; and in such
instance and from and after such notice, all anwantl proceeds received by any Borrower in resgesnty Collateral shall be received in t1
for the benefit of Lender hereunder, shall be sgapexl from the other funds of Borrowers and shalldsthwith deposited into such account or
paid over or delivered to Lender in the same fosns@received (with any necessary endorsementsigrenents), to be held as Collateral and
applied to the Secured Obligations as providedihgre

(b) To take possession of, receive, esglassign and deliver, in its own name or in e of Borrowers, all checks, notes, drafts and
other instruments relating to any Collateral, inlihg receiving, opening and properly disposinglbfrail addressed to any Borrower
concerning Collateral; to verify with contract pastthe validity, amount or any other matter relgtio any Collateral, in its own name or in the
name of any Borrower; to accelerate any indebteslaesther obligation constituting Collateral thady be accelerated in accordance with its
terms; to take or bring all actions and suits demexessary or appropriate to effect collectiortstarenforce payment of any Collateral; to
settle, compromise or release in whole or in paytamounts owing on Collateral; and to extend iime tof payment of any and all amounts
owing under any Collateral and to make allowancesadjustments with respect thereto, all in theesamanner and to the same extent as
Borrowers might have done;

(c) To transfer to or register in its reaor the name of any of its agents or nomineesralhy part of the Collateral, without notice to
Borrowers and with or without disclosing that su@tilateral is subject to the Lien and security iegt created hereunder;

(d) To require Borrowers to, and Borrosveereby agree that they will at their expenseugah request of Lender forthwith, assembl
or any part of the Collateral as directed by Leratat make it available to Lender at a place desighlay Lender;

(e) To enter and remain upon the premo$@&orrowers and take possession of all or any @fathe Collateral, with or without prior
notice or judicial process; to use the materiasyises, books and records of Borrowers for theppse of liquidating or collecting the
Collateral, whether by foreclosure, auction or ottige; and to remove the same to the premises mdéreor any designated agent for such
as Lender may desire, in order to effectively atlter liquidate the Collateral; and

(f) To sell, resell, assign and delivarits sole discretion, in accordance with the U@®ther applicable law, all or any of the Collafe
in one or more parcels, at public or private saleny of Lender’s offices or elsewhere, for cagion credit or for future delivery, at such time
or times and at such price or prices and upon stledr terms as Lender may deem satisfactory. Ifoditlge Collateral is sold by Lender upon
credit or for future delivery, Lender shall notlizble for the failure of the purchaser to purchaseay for the same and, in the event of any
such failure, Lender may resell such Collaterahdrevent shall Borrowers be credited with any

14




part of the proceeds of sale of any Collaterallamd to the extent cash payment in respect thér@ofictually been received by Lender. Each
purchaser at any such sale shall hold the progeityabsolutely, free from any claim or right ofatéoever kind, including any equity or right
of redemption of Borrowers, and each Borrower hgeetpressly waives all rights of redemption, stawpjpraisal, and all rights to require
Lender to marshal any assets in favor of Borrowel@ny other party or against or in payment of angll of the Secured Obligations, that it
has or may have under any rule of law or statute existing or hereafter adopted. No demand, present, protest, advertisement or notice of
any kind (except any notice required by law, asnrefd to below), all of which are hereby expreseijved by each Borrower, shall be required
in connection with any sale or other dispositiorany part of the Collateral. If any notice of aposed sale or other disposition of any part of
the Collateral shall be required under applica@ve, ILender shall give the applicable Borrower astden (10) days’ prior notice of the time
and place of any public sale and of the time afteich any private sale or other disposition is ¢oniade, which notice each Borrower agrees is
commercially reasonable. Lender shall not be oldigjgo make any sale of Collateral if it shall ditime not to do so, regardless of the fact
notice of sale may have been given. Lender mayouitnotice or publication, adjourn any public owvpte sale or cause the same to be
adjourned from time to time by announcement atithe and place fixed for sale, and such sale mapowt further notice, be made at the ti
and place to which the same was so adjourned. Eaoh public sale and, to the extent permitted Ipfieable law, upon each private sale,
Lender may purchase all or any of the Collateraidpsold, free from any equity, right of redemptimnother claim or demand, and may make
payment therefor by endorsement and applicatioth@ui recourse) of the Secured Obligations in tifoash as a credit on account of the
purchase price for such Collateral.

(g9) For the avoidance of doubt, Lendeldiave no obligation to seek to realize on alany part of the Collateral. If a Default shall
continue past any applicable cure period or an EeEDefault shall exist, Lender shall be entittedake possession of any or all Document
Title for any one or more items of Inventory withidaking possession of or seeking to realize upmh stems of Inventory to which such
Documents of Title pertain. If Lender shall seekdalize on the Collateral and the proceeds rehfizen disposition thereof shall fail to satit
all of the Obligations to Lender, Borrowers shalitfiwith pay any deficiency balance to Lender, whacnount shall bear interest from the date
when due until paid in full at the Default Rate.

(h) No failure on the part of Lender tdace any of the rights hereunder shall be deeanediver of such rights or of any Default or
Event of Default and no waiver of any Default oreBtof Default hereunder will be deemed to be argradf any subsequent Default or Event
of Default.

5.4 Application of Proceeds

(a) All proceeds collected by Lender upoly sale, other disposition of or realization upoy of the Collateral, together with all other
moneys received by Lender hereunder, shall beegpphk follows:

(i) first, to payment of the expensé such sale or other realization, including oeable compensation to Lender and its agents and
counsel, and all expenses, liabilities and
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advances incurred or made by Lender, its agentsamasel in connection therewith or in connectidgtihthe care, safekeeping or otherwise of
any or all of the Collateral, and any other unreinsied expenses for which Lender is to be reimbupsesuant t&Section 6.1(Indemnity and
Expenses;

(ii) second, after payment in fulltbe amounts specified tlause (i)above, to payment of the Secured Obligations; and

(i) finally, after payment in fudif the amounts specified atauses (i)Jand(ii) above, any surplus then remaining shall be paid to
Borrowers, or any of them, or their successorsseigas, or to whomsoever may be lawfully entitedeceive the same or as a court of
competent jurisdiction may direct.

(b) Borrowers shall remain liable to #heent of any deficiency between the amount opalceeds realized upon sale or other dispos
of the Collateral pursuant to this Agreement. Upay sale of any Collateral hereunder by Lender {ladreby virtue of the power of sale her
granted, pursuant to judicial proceeding, or othise)y the receipt of Lender or the officer makihg sale shall be a sufficient discharge to the
purchaser or purchasers of the Collateral so smid,such purchaser or purchasers shall not beabdtigo see to the application of any part of
the purchase money paid over to Lender or suchesffir be answerable in any way for the misapptioathereof.

5.5 Collateral AccountsUpon any Default continuing past any applicahleeqeriod or upon any Event of Default, Lendelldteve the right
to cause to be established and maintained, atiitsipal office or such other location or locaticesit may establish from time to time in its
discretion, one or more accounts (collectively,dlli@teral Accounts) for the collection of cash proceeds of the Colite8uch proceeds, wh
deposited, shall continue to constitute Collatéyathe Secured Obligations and shall not constipgyment thereof until applied as herein
provided. Lender shall have sole dominion and @bmiver all funds deposited in any Collateral Aceand such funds may be withdrawn
therefrom only by Lender. Upon any Default contiupast any applicable cure period or upon any Eeebefault, Lender shall have the
right to apply amounts held in the Collateral Acetsuin payment of the Secured Obligations in themea provided for irBection 5.4
(Application of Proceeds)

5.6 Waivers Each Borrower, to the greatest extent not proddbiby applicable law, hereby (i) agrees that it mot invoke, claim or assert the
benefit of any rule of law or statute now or heterin effect, or take or omit to take any othetiag that would or could reasonably be
expected to have the effect of delaying, impedingreventing the exercise of any rights and renselie¢espect of the Collateral, the absolute
sale of any of the Collateral or the possessioretifedoy any purchaser at any sale thereof, andesaive benefit of all such laws and further
agrees that it will not hinder, delay or impede ¢iecution of any power granted hereunder to Lermérthat it will permit the execution of
every such power as though no such laws were @tgffii) waives all rights that it has or may haweler any rule of law or statute now
existing or hereafter adopted to require Lendendéoshal any Collateral or other assets in favamyf Borrower or any other party or against or
in payment of any or all of the Secured Obligatiardd (iii) waives all rights that it has or maywbkainder any rule of law or statute now
existing or hereafter adopted, to the extent tineesaay be lawfully waived, to demand, presentment,
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protest, advertisement or notice of any kind (execepices expressly provided for herein).

5.7 BorrowersClaims Against SellersNo Borrower shall assert against Lender any claimefense any Borrower may have against any
Seller, whether for breach of warranty, misreprést@m, failure to ship, lack of authority, or othwse, including without limitation claims or
defenses based upon charge backs, credit memaseseprice protection payments or returns. Any sl@ims or defenses or other claims or
defenses any Borrower might have against a Seikdl sot affect such Borrower’s liabilities or odpitions to Lender.

ARTICLE VI
MISCELLANEOUS

6.1 Indemnity and Expense8orrowers jointly and severally agree:

(a) To indemnify and hold harmless Leraigal each of its respective directors, officerspleyees, agents and affiliates from and against
any and all claims, damages, demands, lossesatiblig, judgments and liabilities (including, withdimitation, reasonable attorneyges an
expenses) in any way arising out of or in connectidth this Agreement and the transactions contatedlhereby, except to the extent the
same shall arise as a result of the gross negkgenwillful misconduct of the party seeking toibdemnified; and

(b) To pay and reimburse Lender upon dehfar all reasonable costs and expenses (inclydiiigout limitation, reasonable attorneys’
fees and expenses) that Lender may incur in coiomegith (i) the custody, use or preservation ofthe sale of, collection from or other
realization upon, any of the Collateral, includihg reasonable expenses of retaking, holding, prepfor sale or lease, selling or otherwise
disposing of or realizing on the Collateral, (hetexercise or enforcement of any rights or renseglianted hereunder (including, without
limitation, underArticle V ) or otherwise available to it (whether at lawgnuity or otherwise), or (iii) the failure by anpBower to perform
or observe any of the provisions hereof, includimghout limitation, reasonable attorneys’ feegideexpenses and reasonable costs of
collection, seizure of Collateral, preservatiorCafllateral, and disposition of Collateral in endesdvg to enforce the terms, conditions or
provisions of this Agreement and/or collect amowmting Lender in accordance with this Agreemerg, workout thereof, and representation
of Lender in any proceeding for the seizure of a3é&t or any insolvency proceeding or case undeBamkruptcy Code or any similar
bankruptcy, insolvency, or receivership laws of attyer jurisdiction. The provisions of th&ection 6.1shall survive the execution and deliv
of this Agreement, the repayment of any of the 8at®bligations, the termination of the commitmamser the Loan Agreement and the
termination of this Agreement or any other CrediicDment.

6.2 No Waiver. Lender’s failure at any time or times hereaftergquire strict performance by any Borrower of ahthe provisions of this
Agreement shall not waive, affect or diminish aight of Lender at any time or times hereafter tmead strict performance therewith and v
respect to any other provision of this Agreement any waiver of any Default or Event of Defaulatimot waive or affect any other Default
or Event of Default, whether prior or subsequerteto, and whether of the same or a different tifme of the provisions of this Agreement
shall be deemed to have been waived by any actawrledge of Lender, its agents,
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officers or employees except by an instrument iiting signed by an officer of Lender and directedbrrowers specifying such waiver.

6.3 Remedies CumulativEach right, power and remedy of Lender providedridhis Agreement, in any other Credit Documeninoany of
the other instruments or agreements evidencingairig the Obligations or now or hereafter exgst law or in equity or by statute shall be
cumulative and concurrent and shall be in additioaevery other such right, power or remedy. The@se or beginning of the exercise by
Lender of any one or more of the rights, powergearedies provided for in this Agreement, in anyeot@redit Document or in any such other
instrument or agreement now or hereafter existtigva or in equity or by statute or otherwise smait preclude the simultaneous or later
exercise by Lender of all such other rights, povegnremedies, and no failure or delay on the pllrieader to exercise any such right, powe
remedy shall operate as a waiver thereof.

6.4 PreFiling and Filing of Financing StatementBy execution of this Agreement, Borrowers (a)resgly authorize Lender to prepare and
or cause to be filed such Uniform Commercial Cadarfcing statements (including attached schedaldsbits, and addenda) as Lender may
deem reasonably necessary to perfect the secotétsests and liens granted herein and (b) herelfy aamd confirm that Lender was and is
authorized to file all such Uniform Commercial Cddencing statements (including attached schedeldsibits, and addenda) prior to the
execution and delivery of this Agreement, and hgretifies any such filings.

6.5 Continuing Security Interest; Term; Successois Assigns; Assignment; Termination and Release/i&l . This Agreement shall creatt
continuing security interest in the Collateral ahall secure the payment and performance of ah@fSecured Obligations as the same may
arise and be outstanding at any time and from tortene from and after the date hereof, and shjate(ain in full force and effect until all of
the Secured Obligations have been paid and fimkdigharged in full, (ii) be binding upon and enfeaible against each Borrower and its
successors and assigns (_providadwever, that no Borrower may sell, assign or transfer @inys rights, interests, duties or obligations
hereunder without the prior written consent of Lendand (iii) inure to the benefit of and be enable by Lender and its successors and
assigns. Upon any sale or other disposition byBmyower of any Collateral in a transaction explepgrmitted hereunder or under or
pursuant to the Loan Agreement or any other appléc&redit Document, the Lien and security intepestaited by this Agreement in and upon
such Collateral shall be automatically released,atrsuch time as all the Secured Obligations Ihaesn paid and finally discharged in full, this
Agreement and the Lien and security interest ccelaéeeby shall terminate; and in connection with sunch release or termination, Lender, at
the request and expense of the applicable Borromitrexecute and deliver to Borrowers such docute@md instruments evidencing such
release or termination as Borrowers may reasonablyest and will assign, transfer and deliver tar®weers, without recourse and without
representation or warranty, such of the Collatasainay then be in the possession of Lender (theicase of any partial release of Collateral,
such of the Collateral so being released as may ive possession).

6.6 Notice. Except as otherwise provided herein, notice tord@ers or to Lender shall be given or deliverethie manner set forth in
Section 8.04Notices)of the Loan Agreement.
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6.7 Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction, Venue.

(a) This Agreement and the other Credit Doauisishall be governed by, and construed in accosdasith, the laws of the State of
Maryland, USA, (excluding the laws applicable taflicts or choice of law), except to the extenttttiee federal law of the United States may
preempt state law, and except to the extent issiign perfection may be governed by the law dfeotjurisdictions. Each Borrower
acknowledges and warrants that this Agreementlamdther Credit Documents are to be treated fgrualboses, including choice of law
purposes, as though it was executed and deliveitbthwthe geographic boundaries of the State ofyldand, even if it was, in fact, executed
and delivered elsewhere. It is the express intardgfd_ender and each Borrower that the laws ofState of Maryland (but not its conflict of
laws and choice of law rules) apply to the entirgftyhe transactions evidenced by the Credit Documexcept to the extent that federal law
may preempt state law and except to the extengssstilien perfection may be governed by the lawtbér jurisdictions.

(b) Each Borrower hereby agrees and conskatsahy action or proceeding arising out of or giduto enforce the provisions of this
Agreement may be brought in any appropriate coutthié State of Maryland or in any other federadtate court having jurisdiction over the
subject matter, all at the sole election of Lended by the execution of this Agreement each Boerawevocably consents to the jurisdiction
of each such court. Each Borrower hereby irrevgcappoints CSC, with a mailing address at 2711 @gille Road, #400, Wilmington,
Delaware 19808, as its agent to accept serviceoakegs for it and on its behalf in any proceediraught pursuant to the provisions of this
Section. Service upon the said agent for each B@rshall be of the same force and validity agif/ed personally on each Borrower itself.
Service of process may be made on each Borrowardiyng a copy of the summons and complaint or oihigial pleadings to such agent by
registered or certified mail, return receipt redadsat the address listed for ObligorsSiection 8.04Notices)of the Loan Agreement.

(c) Nothing in thisSection 6.7shall affect the right of Lender to serve legalqa®s in any other manner permitted by law or affiegtright
that Lender may otherwise have to bring an actigoroceeding relating to this Agreement or the oteedit Documents against each
Borrower or its properties in the courts of anygdiction.

(d) Each Borrower hereby irrevocably and umitionally waives, to the fullest extent it may &y and effectively do so, any objection
which it may now or hereafter have to the layingyefiue of any suit, action or proceeding arisinga$wr relating to this Agreement or any
other Credit Document in any Maryland state or fableourt. Each Borrower hereby irrevocably waiveghe fullest extent permitted by law,
the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maamer of such action or proceeding in any such court

(e) To the extent that each Borrower has oedfeer may acquire any immunity from jurisdictiohany court or from any legal process
(whether from service or notice, attachment pricjudgment, attachment in aid of execution, executir otherwise), each Borrower hereby
irrevocably waives such immunity in respect ofaldigations under this Agreement and the other i€2ocuments. Each Borrower further
waives, to the extent permitted by law, any bondwety upon such bond which might be requiredesfder.
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6.8 WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY, Waiver of Exemplary or Pun itive Damages.

a. EACH BORROWER AND LENDER HEREBY DO IRREVOGAY AND UNCONDITIONALLY TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED
BY APPLICABLE LAW WAIVE THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM OF
ANY TYPE AS TO ANY MATTER ARISING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OUT OF OR WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT, Tt
FLOOR PLAN CREDIT, OR ANY OTHER CREDIT DOCUMENTST IS AGREED AND UNDERSTOOD THAT THIS WAIVER
CONSTITUTES A WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY OF ALL CLAIMSAGAINST ALL PARTIES TO SUCH ACTIONS OR PROCEEDING
INCLUDING CLAIMS AGAINST PARTIES WHO ARE NOT PARTIB TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE OTHER CREDIT
DOCUMENTS.

b. Each Borrower does further agree thatatlsiot have a remedy of exemplary or punitive dgesaagainst Lender in any dispute,
controversy, litigation proceeding or arbitrati@md does waive any such remedy or claim to exemplapunitive damages it now has or
which may arise in the future in any such disputeamtroversy with Lender.

6.9 Waivers Knowingly Made, Obligors Representedioyinsel Each Borrower acknowledges and stipulates tleatvivers granted in this
Agreement are made knowingly, voluntarily and itt@mally and after full consultation with counsélits choice and constitute a material
inducement for Lender to extend the Floor Plan €ré&ach Borrower certifies that no representatagent or attorney of Lender has
represented, expressly or otherwise, that Lendetdvaot, in the event of litigation, seek to entbe waivers stated in this Agreement. Each
Borrower and Lender further agree that a copy isf Algreement may be filed with any court as writestidence of its knowing, voluntary and
bargained-for agreement between and among thepdmtireto with respect to such waiver.

6.10 Survival All representations and warranties of each Borroavet all obligations of each Borrower containeceireshall survive the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and eactidd of Borrowing and each Advance of Floor Plapdi.

6.11 Singular or Plural; Joint and Several ObligatiAll references to singular shall also mean plurasculine shall also mean feminine, and
all singular pronouns shall include all signatotieseunder except for Lender. The Secured Obligatid Borrowers under this Agreement are
joint and several. Each Borrower shall be jointhg &everally liable for all the Secured Obligatiofigll Borrowers under this Agreeme
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing) \whenever this Agreement imposes a Secured Qliligan the Borrowers, the entire
Secured Obligation shall be imposed on each Bonrofiiewhenever the Borrowers make a grant, agegicovenant, representation, or
warranty in this Agreement, such grant, agreenevenant, representation, or warranty shall be @gemmade by each Borrower;

(iii) whenever this Agreement provides that the denshall have a right or remedy against the Boerawthe Lender shall have such right or
remedy against each Borrower; (iv) the occurrerice@efault or Event of Default as to any Borrowetthe failure of any Borrower to comply
with any provision of this Agreement shall be cdesed to be a Default or Event of Default or faltm comply by all Borrowers; and (v) in
event of any ambiguity or question whether, in Brsfance, the term “Borrowers” refers to each Baen the ambiguity or
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guestion shall be resolved in favor of the Lender.

6.12 Independent and Unconditional Obligatiohender may compromise or release the obligatidrasy one or more of the Borrowers
without thereby compromising or releasing the dadtiigns of any other Borrower. Lender may releagepamtion or all the Collateral for the
obligations of the Borrowers hereunder, or anyheft, without thereby releasing or discharging amgioBorrower, in whole or in part, from
their obligations under this Agreement or any otBexdit Document. Lender may extend the term of A&greement or any of the Credit
Documents or extend new credit to any Borrower auitithereby extending or renewing or compromisingeteasing the obligations of any
other Borrower. Any payment received by the Lerfdam any one or more of the Borrowers for or oncaott of this Agreement may be
applied by the Lender to any of the Obligationsvimatever order and manner the Lender elects.

6.13 Severabilityln the event that any provision of this Agreemerfound to be illegal, invalid or unenforceablestitall be ineffective to the
extent of such illegality, invalidity or unenfordgkty without invalidating the remaining provisisrof this Agreement.

6.14 Integration; Mergefhis Agreement constitutes a complete, final ardustve agreement between each Borrower and Leaiererning
the subject matter hereof and supersedes all pgiements and understandings, oral or writtemrdégg such subject matters. All prior
negotiations concerning this Agreement have beelg@dento this Agreement. Neither this Agreement, any term, condition, covenant, or
agreement hereof, may be changed, waived, discthargerminated orally, but only by an instrumemtiriting signed by the party against
whom enforcement of the change, waiver, discharggsrmination is sought.

6.15 Counterparts; Headingehis Agreement may be executed by one or moreeopé#rties to this Agreement on any number of sépara
counterparts (including by telecopy), and all dflssounterparts taken together shall be deemedrtstitute one and the same instrument. The
headings used in this Agreement are for conveniandereference only, and not intended in any wajefine or describe the scope or intent of
any provision of this Agreement.

6.16 AssignmeniNo Borrower may assign its rights and obligationder this Agreement without the prior written camtsef Lender. All rights
of Lender shall inure to the benefit of its successand assigns, and all obligations of each Bograkall bind the permitted successors and
assigns of such Borrower.

6.17 Conflict of Terms The terms of this Agreement and the terms olthen Agreement shall be construed and interpreteke full extent
possible to give effect to all such terms. In tkierg of any conflict between the terms of this Agment and the Loan Agreement, the terms of
the Loan Agreement shall control.

6.18 Waivers In the event Lender seeks to take possessionyobmall of each Borrower’s properties or otheseds by court process or other
method available under the law after and duringcthr@inuance of a Default past any applicable peréod or the existence of an Event of
Default, such Borrower irrevocably waives any band any surety or security relating thereto requing any statute, court rule or otherwis
an incident to such possession, and waives any mtttfoa possession prior to the commencement ofsaityor action to recover
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with respect thereto. Each Borrower expressly wabaledefenses of suretyship or impairment of ¢etk.

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , this Agreement has been executed under sealthe dhy and year first above written by the duitharized
officers of the parties hereto.

BORROWERS:
WITNESS/ATTEST MARINEMAX, INC.,

a Delaware corporatic
/s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Kurt Frahn Print Name Michael H. McLamk

Title: EVP
WITNESS/ATTEST MARINEMAX EAST, INC.,

a Delaware corporatic
/s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Kurt Frahn Print Name Michael H. McLamk

Title: EVP
WITNESS/ATTEST MARINEMAX SERVICES, INC.,

a Delaware corporatic
/s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Kurt Frahn Print Name Michael H. McLamk

Title: EVP
WITNESS/ATTEST MARINEMAX NORTHEAST, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability compar
/s/ Kurt Frahr By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Kurt Frahn Print Name Michael H. McLamk

Title: EVP
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WITNESS/ATTEST:

/s/ Kurt Frahr

Kurt Frahn

WITNESS/ATTEST:

/s/ Kurt Frahr

Kurt Frahn

WITNESS/ATTEST:

/s/ Kurt Frahr

Kurt Frahn

WITNESS/ATTEST:

/s/ John Wrigh

John Wright

BOATING GEAR CENTER, LLC
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: MARINEMAX EAST, INC.,
its sole membe

By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Print Name Michael H. McLamkt
Title: EVP

US LIQUIDATORS, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)
Print Name Michael H. McLamk
Title: EVP

NEWCOAST FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC
a Delaware limited liability compar

By: /s/ Michael H. McLamt (SEAL)

Print Name Michael H. McLamk
Title: EVP

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO AS OF THE DATE FIRST ABOVE W RITTEN:

LENDER:

CGI FINANCE, INC.,
a Delaware corporatic

By: /s/ Herve Bonne (SEAL)
Print Name Herve Bonne
Title: President and CE!
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MarineMax, Inc.

Federal Tax ID no.: 59-3496957
Organizational ID no.: 2849981 8100
Chief Executive Office Address:

18167 US Highway 19 North, Suite 300
Clearwater, Florida 33764

MarineMax East, Inc.

Federal Tax ID no.: 94-3382331
Organizational ID no.: 3332179 8100
Chief Executive Office Address:

18167 US Highway 19 North, Suite 300
Clearwater, Florida 33764

MarineMax Services, Inc.

Federal Tax ID no.: 74-2979572
Organizational ID no.: 3331764 8100
Chief Executive Office Address:

18167 US Highway 19 North, Suite 300
Clearwater, Florida 33764

MarineMax Northeast, LLC

Federal Tax ID no.: 26-0668571
Organizational ID no.: 4402087 8100
Chief Executive Office Address:

18167 US Highway 19 North, Suite 300
Clearwater, Florida 33764

Boating Gear Center, LLC

Federal Tax ID no.: 20-2113374
Organizational ID no.: 3908460 8100
Chief Executive Office Address:

18167 US Highway 19 North, Suite 300
Clearwater, Florida 33764

SCHEDULE |
BORROWER INFORMATION
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US Liquidators, LLC

Federal Tax ID no.: 20-5817473
Organizational ID no.: 4242668 8100
Chief Executive Office Address:

18167 US Highway 19 North, Suite 300
Clearwater, Florida 33764

Newcoast Financial Services, LLC

Federal Tax ID no.: 59-3529057
Organizational ID no.: 2920730 8100
Chief Executive Office Address:

18167 US Highway 19 North, Suite 300
Clearwater, Florida 33764
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SCHEDULE I
JURISDICTIONS FOR UCC FILINGS

Legal Name: MarineMax, Inc.

Filing Location: Delaware

Legal Name: MarineMax East, Inc.

Filing Location: Delaware

Legal Name: MarineMax Services, Inc.

Filing Location: Delaware

Legal Name: MarineMax Northeast, LLC

Filing Location: Delaware

Legal Name: Boating Gear Center, LLC
Filing Location: Delaware

Legal Name: US Liquidators, LLC

Filing Location: Delaware

Legal Name: Newcoast Financial Services, LLC

Filing Location: Delaware
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EXHIBIT A
LIMITED POWER OF ATTORNEY
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Exhibit 21
List of Subsidiaries

MarineMax, Inc.

MarineMax East, Inc.

MarineMax Services, Inc.

MarineMax Northeast, LLC

Boating Gear Center, LLC

US Liquidators, LLC

Newcoast Financial Services, LLC




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Certified Publié.ccounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdllewing Registration Statements:

1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-153@@8faining to the 2008 shelf registration of
MarineMax, Inc. and the related Prospectus,

2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-141@&rjaining to the 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan
of MarineMax, Inc.,

3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-833&2}aining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Plan of
MarineMax, Inc.,

4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-633@rdaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Plan and the
1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of MarineMax, &l

5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1563&8lining to the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Pla
of MarineMax, Inc.;

of our reports dated December 2, 2010, with resfoettte consolidated financial statements of Maviag, Inc. and
the effectiveness of internal control over finahoggoorting of MarineMax, Inc., included in this Anal Report
(Form 10-K) of MarineMax Inc. for the year endeg&enber 30, 2010.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Tampa, Florida
December 2, 201



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

[, William H. McGill Jr., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Maiax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioretny untrue statement of a material fact or eondtate a
material fact necessary to make the statements,rmatight of the circumstances under which suetieshents were
made, not misleading with respect to the perioceoed by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememig,other financial information included in théport, fairly
present in all material respects the financial o results of operations, and cash flows ofridgistrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchangdr@i#s 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cbotrer
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actédul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant hade:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedioites
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabieformation relating to the registrant, inclog its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during theriod in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiiah
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopréeide reasonable assurance regarding the rétjabfl
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally
accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisin
report our conclusions about the effectiveness@fdisclosure controls and procedures as of thettice
period covered by this report based on such eviaehyaand

d) Disclosed in this annual report any change érdgistrant’s internal control over financial refoy that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fisgedrter that has materially affected, or is reabgnlikely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comtwger financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal
control over financial reporting, to the registrarguditors and the audit committee of the regdtsaboard of
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfioms):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant’s ability to regqutbcess,
summarize, and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmific
role in the registrant’s internal control over fircéal reporting.

/s/ WiLLiam H. McGiLL, R.

William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: December 2, 20:



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

[, Michael H. McLamb, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Maiax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioretny untrue statement of a material fact or eondtate a
material fact necessary to make the statements,rmatight of the circumstances under which suetieshents were
made, not misleading with respect to the perioceoed by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememig,other financial information included in théport, fairly
present in all material respects the financial o results of operations, and cash flows ofridgistrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrh responsible for establishing and maintainingldgire
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchangdr@i#s 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cbotrer
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actédul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant hade:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedioites
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatriabieformation relating to the registrant, inclog its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to ustbgre within those entities, particularly during theriod in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiiah
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopréeide reasonable assurance regarding the rétjabfl
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally
accepted accounting principles;

c¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenteisin
report our conclusions about the effectiveness@fdisclosure controls and procedures as of thettice
period covered by this report based on such eviaehyaand

d) Disclosed in this annual report any change érdgistrant’s internal control over financial refoy that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fisgedrter that has materially affected, or is reabgnlikely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comtwger financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal
control over financial reporting, to the registrarguditors and the audit committee of the regdtsaboard of
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfioms):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the registrant’s ability to regqutbcess,
summarize, and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmific
role in the registrant’s internal control over fircéal reporting.

/s/ MicHAEL H. McLAwmB
Michael H. McLamb

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: December 2, 20:



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTS OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fMarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year edde
September 30, 2010, as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R§pg
William H. McGill Jr., Chief Executive Officer ohie Company, certify, to my best knowledge and bgtiersuant to
18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906eoBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExageAc!
of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition
and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ WiLLiIaAM H. McGILL JRr.

William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

Date: December 2, 20:



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTS OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fMarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year edde
September 30, 2010, as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R§pg
Michael H. McLamb, Chief Financial Officer of theo@pany, certify, to my best knowledge and beliefspant to
18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906eoBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(3) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExaeAct
of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780(d)); and

(4) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition
and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ MicHAEL H. McLAwmB

Michael H. McLamb
Chief Financial Officer

Date: December 2, 20:



